
NOTICE OF REGULAR 
ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION MEETING 

 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION OF 
THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS, WILL MEET IN REGULAR 
SESSION OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AS FOLLOWS:   

 

DATE:  Thursday, February 13, 2014 

TIME:  4:00 p.m. 

PLACE: Rosenberg Civic Center 
  3825 Highway 36 South 
  Rosenberg, Texas 77471 

PURPOSE: Regular Rosenberg Development Corporation Meeting 

 Call to order. 

 Statement of rules pertaining to audience comments. 

 Comments from the audience. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Consideration of and action on the Regular Rosenberg Development Corporation Meeting 
minutes for January 9, 2014, and Special Workshop Meeting Minutes for January 18, 2014. 
(Kanak/Supak) 
 

B. Consideration of and action on the monthly Rosenberg Development Corporation Financial 
Reports for the period ending January 31, 2014. (Vasut) 
 

C. Consideration of and action on a report from the Communications Director regarding the 
previous month’s communications activities and contacts. (Fritz) 
 

D. Consideration of and action on a Funding Agreement with the Coastal Prairie Chapter of the 
Texas Master Naturalists. (Kanak) 
 

E. Consideration of and action on a Service Contract with the Central Fort Bend Chamber 
regarding the Rosenberg Development Corporation’s Business Appreciation Reception. 
(Kanak) 

 
F. Consideration of and action on Resolution No. RDC-87, a Resolution of Board of Directors of 

the Rosenberg Development Corporation amending the Fiscal Year 2013-14 Annual Budget 
in the amount of $44,539.00 for the Seatex/State Highway 36 Drainage Project. (Kanak)  

 

AGENDA 

1. Hear and discuss presentation by Fuller Realty on Declaration of Covenants Conditions and 
Restrictions and Grant of Easements for Rosenberg Business Park. (Kanak) 
 

2. Hear and discuss presentation by Imperial Performing Arts (IPA) on status of Performance 
Agreement. (Kanak) 

 
3. Consideration of and action on the proposed parks improvement request to update the 

basketball and tennis courts in area parks. (McCarthy) 
 

 



 
4. Consideration of and action on the proposed parks improvement request to lease equipment 

necessary to relocate donated trees. (McCarthy) 
 

5. Consideration of and action on amended Declaration of Covenants Conditions and 
Restrictions for Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd. (Kanak) 

 
6. Consider motion to adjourn to Executive Session. 

7. Hold Executive Session for deliberations regarding the potential purchase, exchange, lease, 
or value of real property pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 551.072; and, for 
deliberations regarding economic development negotiations as authorized by Texas 
Government Code Section 551.087. 
 

8. Adjourn Executive Session, reconvene Regular Session, and take action as a result of 

Executive Session. 

9. Consideration of and action on a report from the Interim Economic Development Director 
regarding the previous month’s economic development activities and contacts. (Kanak) 
 

10. Consideration of and action on Resolution No. RDC-86, a Resolution of the Board of 
Directors of the Rosenberg Development Corporation approving the funding arrangement 
between the City of Rosenberg and the Rosenberg Development Corporation for 
infrastructure improvements to the Rosenberg Development Park. (Kanak) 

 
11. Consideration of and action on requests for future agenda items. 

 
12. Announcements. 

 
13. Adjournment. 

 
DATED AND POSTED this the ______ day of ______________________, 2014, at _____ m. by  
 
_________________________________________________. 

 
 

Attest: 

 

_____________________________________________  
Linda Cernosek, City Secretary 
City of Rosenberg 

 

Approved for posting: 

 

_____________________________________________ 
Rachelle Kanak, Interim Economic Development Director 

 

Reasonable accommodation for the disabled attending this meeting will be available; persons 
with disabilities in need of special assistance at the meeting should contact the City Secretary at 
(832) 595-3340.   



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

A Minute Review and Consideration 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on the Regular Rosenberg Development Corporation Meeting 
Minutes for January 9, 2014, and Special Workshop Meeting Minutes for January 18, 2014. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
Kaye Supak 
Executive Assistant 

 
1) Draft Regular Meeting Minutes –  

January 9, 2014 
2) Draft Special Workshop Meeting Minutes – 

January 18, 2014 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Attached please find a draft copy of the Regular Meeting Minutes for January 9, 2014, and the 
Special Workshop Meeting for January 18, 2014, for your review and consideration. Staff 
recommends approval.  

 



 

PAGE 1 of 3 * REGULAR ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION MEETING MINUTES * 
January 09, 2014 

ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
 
On this the 9th day of January 2014, the Rosenberg Development Corporation (RDC) of the City of Rosenberg, Fort 
Bend County, Texas, met in a Regular Session, at the Rosenberg Civic Center located at 3825 Highway 36 South, 
Rosenberg, Texas 77471.  
 
 
DIRECTORS PRESENT 
Bill Knesek   President  
Allen Scopel   Vice President 
Laurie Cook   Secretary 
Ted Garcia   Treasurer 
Vincent Morales   Director 
Dwayne Grigar   Director 
Jimmie Peña   Director 
 
CITY OF ROSENBERG STAFF PRESENT 
Matt Fielder   Economic Development Director 
Rachelle Kanak   Assistant Economic Development Director 
Kaye Supak   Executive Assistant 
 
GUEST 
Lisa McCay, Vice President, Buxton Company 
 
CALL TO ORDER. 
President Knesek called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. 
 
STATEMENT OF RULES PERTAINING TO AUDIENCE COMMENTS.  
Kaye Supak, Executive Assistant, read the statement of rules pertaining to audience comments. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE AUDIENCE. 
There were no comments from the audience. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON THE REGULAR ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
MEETING MINUTES FOR DECEMBER 12, 2013.  
 

 

B.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON THE MONTHLY ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
FINANCIAL REPORTS FOR THE PERIOD ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2013. 
 

 

C.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A REPORT FROM THE COMMUNICATIONS DIRECTOR REGARDING 
THE PREVIOUS MONTH’S COMMUNICATIONS ACTIVITIES AND CONTACTS.  
 

 

D.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A FUNDING AGREEMENT WITH THE COASTAL PRAIRIE CHAPTER 
OF THE TEXAS MASTER NATURALISTS.  
 

 

Key discussion: 
 Director Garcia requested that Consent Agenda Item D be placed on the regular Agenda as Item 

1A. 
 
Action:  Director Scopel moved and Director Garcia seconded to approve Consent Agenda Items A, B, 
and C. The motion carried by a unanimous vote those present. 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

1A.   CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A FUNDING AGREEMENT WITH THE COASTAL PRAIRIE CHAPTER 
OF THE TEXAS MASTER NATURALISTS.  



 

PAGE 2 of 3 * REGULAR ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION MEETING MINUTES * 
January 09, 2014 

 
Key discussion points: 

 General discussion was held regarding the obligations of the Coastal Prairie Chapter of the 
Texas Master Naturalists (Chapter) relative to those projects that may not be completed in 
accordance with the Funding Agreement. 

 Staff was directed to coordinate with the Chapter and to amend the Funding Agreement to 
require written permission from the RDC should the Chapter be unable to undertake or 
complete a proposed improvement project. 

 Staff was directed to return the amended Funding Agreement to the next regular Board 
Meeting for consideration. 

 
No action was taken. 
 

1.  HEAR AND DISCUSS A RETAIL RECRUITMENT SERVICES FROM THE BUXTON GROUP, AND TAKE ACTION 
AS NECESSARY. 
 
Key discussion points: 

 Lisa McCay, Vice President of Buxton Company, was in attendance to present certain marketing 
and messaging information and strategies proposed to be advantageous to RDC’s recruitment 
efforts for retail and other businesses. 

 
No action was taken. 
 

2.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON THE PROPOSED DECLARATION OF COVENANTS CONDITIONS AND 
RESTRICTIONS AND GRANT OF EASEMENTS FOR ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK. 

 
Key discussion points: 

 The Board held lengthy discussion regarding the lack of detail and definition of standards 
proposed within the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for the Rosenberg 
Business Park (Business Park). 

 Staff was directed to request that the developer of the Business Park attend the next regular 
Board Meeting in order to specific and clarify his intentions regarding the Business Park’s 
standards. 
 

No action was taken. 
 

3.  CONSIDER MOTION TO ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
Action: Director Morales moved, and Director Cook seconded that the Board be adjourned into 
Executive Session at 4:35 p.m. The motion carried by a unanimous vote of those present. 
 

4.  HOLD EXECUTIVE SESSION FOR DELIBERATIONS REGARDING ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT NEGOTIATIONS 
AS AUTHORIZED BY TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 551.087 AND FOR DELIBERATIONS 
REGARDING THE POTENTIAL PURCHASE, EXCHANGE, LEASE, OR VALUE OF REAL PROPERTY 
PURSUANT TO TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 551.072.   
Executive Session was held for deliberations regarding economic development negotiations as 
authorized by Texas Government Code Section 551.087 and for deliberations regarding the potential 
purchase, exchange, lease, or value of real property pursuant to Texas Government Code Section 
551.072. 
 

5.  ADJOURN EXECUTIVE SESSION, RECONVENE REGULAR SESSION, AND TAKE ACTION AS A RESULT OF 
EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
Executive Session was adjourned, and the Board reconvened into Regular Session at 4:55 p.m. 
 
No action was necessary or taken as a result of Executive Session. 
 

6.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A REPORT FROM THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 
REGARDING THE PREVIOUS MONTH’S ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES AND CONTACTS.  
 
Key discussion points: 

 Mr. Fielder provided an overview of the monthly report. 
 General discussion was held regarding landscaping and sidewalk dining in downtown Rosenberg. 



 

PAGE 3 of 3 * REGULAR ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION MEETING MINUTES * 
January 09, 2014 

 
No action was taken. 

 
7.  CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS. 

 
Staff was directed to include the following items on a future RDC Board Meeting Agenda: 

 Buxton marketing and messaging strategies (workshop set for January 18, 2014). 
 Coastal Prairie Chapter of the Texas Master Naturalists Amended Funding Agreement. 
 Rosenberg Business Park Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions. 
 Update regarding Imperial Arts activities. 

 
8.  ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

 Matt Fielder will shortly be leaving the City of Rosenberg for a City Manager’s position with the 
Town of Pantego, Texas. 

 President Knesek quoted Governing Magazine regarding the potential of increased sales tax 
revenue through the well-maintained and attractive image of a city. 

 
9.  ADJOURNMENT. 

There being no further business for the Board of Directors, the meeting was adjourned at 5:15 p.m. 
 

 
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Kaye Supak, Executive Assistant 
City of Rosenberg 

  
  
 
 ___________________________________ 

Bill Knesek, President 
Rosenberg Development Corporation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RDC Minute Attachments: 

1. RDC Reference Book Replacement Pages (2013-2014 Budget) 
2. Rosenberg Insider – January/February 2014 
3. RDC Financial Reports for the Period Ended December 31, 2013 

 

















































 

PAGE 1 of 3 * REGULAR ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES * 
January 18, 2014 

ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
On this the 18th day of January 2014, the Rosenberg Development Corporation (RDC) of the City of Rosenberg, Fort 
Bend County, Texas, met in a Special Session, at the Rosenberg Civic Center located at 3825 Highway 36 South, 
Rosenberg, Texas 77471.  
 
DIRECTORS PRESENT 
Bill Knesek   President  
Allen Scopel   Vice President 
Ted Garcia   Treasurer 
Dwayne Grigar   Director 
Jimmie Peña   Director 
 
DIRECTORS ABSENT 
Laurie Cook   Secretary 
Vincent M. Morales, Jr.  Director 
 
CITY OF ROSENBERG STAFF PRESENT 
Matt Fielder   Economic Development Director 
Rachelle Kanak   Assistant Economic Development Director 
 
GUEST 
Dr. Lauren Edwards, Sam Houston State University 
 
CALL TO ORDER. 
Director Knesek called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   HOLD STRATEGIC PLANNING WORKSHOP. 
 
Key discussion points: 

 Overview of Strategic Planning Process by Dr. Lauren Edwards. 
 Discussion about a vision statement.  It was agreed a vision statement was unnecessary. 
 Discussion regarding benefits of strategic planning process, elements of a strategic plan, the 

benefits of the planning process, and the barriers to completing and implementing the plan.   
 Discussion as to what the vision is for Rosenberg for the next five years. 
 Discussion as to what role RDC will play in the development of Rosenberg the next five years. 
 Discussion of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and strengths of the organization.  
 Review of SWOT analysis and goal development.  Discussion centered on five areas of emphasis: 

Quality of Life, Communication, Image, Business Related Infrastructure Needs, and Business 
Development and Retention. 

 Strategies were identified to work toward the goals outlined. 
 Discussion regarding prioritizing goals.  It was agreed this would be a topic for an upcoming 

RDC meeting once the plan is complete. 
 Discussion regarding a monthly update via the Director’s Report on one area of emphasis.  

 
No action was taken. 
 

2. ADJOURNMENT. 
There being no further business for the Board of Directors, the meeting was adjourned at 3:30 p.m. 
 

 
 

___________________________________ 
Rachelle Kanak, Interim Economic 
Development Director 
City of Rosenberg 

  
  
 
 ___________________________________ 

Bill Knesek, President 
Rosenberg Development Corporation 



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

B Rosenberg Development Corporation Financial Reports 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on the monthly Rosenberg Development Corporation Financial Reports 
for the period ending January 31, 2014. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Financial Reports 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Attached please find a copy of the January 2014 RDC Financial Reports for your review and 
consideration. Staff recommends approval.  
  
 
 
 



























    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

C Communications Director’s Report 
 

ITEM/MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a report from the Communications Director regarding the 
previous month’s communications activities and contacts.   

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 

 
Angela Fritz 
Communications Director 
 

 
1) Activities Report – January 2014 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This item has been included to provide the Board with an update on the Communications Director’s 
activities in the previous month, as they relate to economic development. 

  
 
 
 



1 

 
City of Rosenberg  
Communications Director 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT Activities Report  
January 1 – January 31, 2014 

 
 

 
Communications Director economic development-related activities  
 

 Preparation of upcoming monthly City newsletter and RDC section  
 February/March topic – Partnership with Texas Master Naturalists at Seabourne Creek 

Nature Park 
 Possible Upcoming Topics: 

 H-GAC Livable Centers project  
 Development update 
 H-GAC Subregional Plan findings 
 Insurance Service Office (ISO) survey and direct affect on local business 

insurance premiums 
 Prepare and distribute press releases: Image/Keep Rosenberg Beautiful holiday contest winners; FISH-

tastic Children’s Fishing Tournament; February Beautification awards; construction closures; etc. 
 Provide support for Economic Development during staff transition 
 Assume responsibility for oversight of City technology department 
 Participate in City management staff strategic planning process and needs assessment 
 Review and update City website – ongoing 
 Coordinate Municipal Channel information updates – ongoing 
 Coordinate and manage implementation of video recording and streaming for City Council meetings – 

ongoing 
 Coordinate and assist with ad and copy submissions for upcoming publications – April Texas Highways 

ad (cultural district); Central Fort Bend Chamber Directory (cultural district); Greater Houston 
Convention and Visitors Bureau guide (cultural district) 

 Overall media relations and messaging for City – ongoing 
 



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

D Funding Agreement Coastal Prairie Chapter of Texas Master Naturalists 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on a Funding Agreement with the Coastal Prairie Chapter of the Texas 
Master Naturalists. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Texas Master Naturalists Coastal Prairie 

Chapter Agreement 2014 – Redline 
2) Texas Master Naturalists Coastal Prairie 

Chapter Agreement 2014 – Clean (with 
Exhibits) 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Representatives of the Coastal Prairie Chapter of the Texas Master Naturalists (Naturalists) 
presented a proposal for funding for their 2014 activities at the December 12, 2013 meeting. The 
Board directed staff to submit a Funding Agreement (Agreement) at the December meeting to 
include the plan. Upon review of the Agreement, the RDC Board requested that a statement be 
added to indicate that the Naturalists shall seek written permission from RDC should the group be 
unable to undertake or complete certain proposed improvements as specified within the 
Agreement. You will find a redlined copy of the Agreement indicating said revision.  
 
The attached Funding Agreement would authorize the expenditure of the $50,000 for the specific 
items listed in Exhibit “A” to the proposed Funding Agreement.  Staff recommends approval of 
the Funding Agreement as revised. 
  
 
 
 



    FUNDING AGREEMENT 

 

This AGREEMENT is entered into by and between the Rosenberg Development 
Corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “RDC”), an economic development 
corporation organized pursuant to Chapters 501 and 505 of the Texas Local 
Government Code, and Texas Master Naturalists, Coastal Prairie Chapter, Inc., 
hereinafter referred to as the “Chapter”, a not-for-profit corporation 
incorporated under Texas law in 2005. 

WHEREAS, the RDC agrees to contribute up to the sum of $50,000 to the Chapter 
to be used for proposed improvements to Seabourne Creek Park, a municipal park 
located at 3287 Highway 36 South, Rosenberg, Texas, which improvements are 
part of a larger plan described below under “Obligations of the Chapter”, Section 
2.a., of the Agreement,   and 

WHEREAS, the RDC has established policies to adopt such reasonable projects, as 
are permitted by law and are required or suitable for amateur sports, athletic, 
entertainment, tourist, convention, and public park purposes and events; and  

WHEREAS, the Chapter has agreed, in exchange and as consideration for the 
agreement and funding provided herein, to satisfy and comply with certain terms 
and conditions;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual benefits and 
obligations set forth herein, including the recitals set forth above, the RDC and 
the Chapter agree as follows: 

 

1.  Obligations of the RDC 
 
- The RDC shall make a payment of $50,000 to the Chapter upon approval 

of this agreement and satisfaction of the conditions stated below.  In 
addition, the RDC hereby extends its approval that any funds not 
expended in the previous year may be utilized for the projects described 



in Exhibit “A” for the term of this agreement.  Such funds may not be 
used for administrative purposes. 
 

2. Obligations of the Chapter 
 

a.  The Chapter shall utilize all funds provided by the RDC  solely for the 
purpose of making improvements to Seabourne Creek Park as 
described under “Proposed Improvements and Approximate Costs” in 
the Memorandum to RDC  in Exhibit “A”, and  for the purpose of 
making improvements described  in “Objectives-CPTMN” in the 
Agreement between Rosenberg Parks and Recreation Department, 
and Texas Master Naturalists, Coastal Prairie Chapter, Inc. dated 
October 28, 2009, hereinafter referred to as the ”RPRD Agreement,”  
a copy of which is attached hereto as “Exhibit B”. 
 

b. The Chapter shall ensure that permission for any improvements made 
to Seabourne Creek Park have been approved in advance by the City 
of Rosenberg City Council and have been coordinated with the City of 
Rosenberg Parks and Recreation Department.  In addition, the 
Chapter shall ensure that any necessary permits have been obtained 
prior to construction. 
 

c. Chapter members shall prioritize the Proposed Improvements 
specified in Exhibit “A” and shall use their best good-faith efforts to 
complete them procuring goods and services for the Park which 
represent the best values available. However it is hereby 
acknowledged that the Approximate Costs listed in the Memorandum 
are estimates and it is agreed that the Chapter shall not be 
obligatedobtain written permission from the RDC if it is unable to 
undertake or complete each and everythe Proposed Improvement 
specified therein. Such permission shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.  As provided for under the RPRD Agreement, the Chapter 
shall bear no financial obligation or liability pursuant to the 
implementation or completion of projects and activities.   

Formatted: Don't adjust space between Latin
and Asian text, Don't adjust space between
Asian text and numbers

Formatted: Font: 11 pt, Not Bold



 
d. The Chapter may utilize up to ten percent (10%) of the funds for 

administrative purposes.  Such purposes may include acquiring any 
necessary insurance coverage for work performed in accordance with 
this agreement. 

 
e. It is agreed that this Agreement shall terminate on March 31, 2015,   

upon which date any funds which might remain unspent from the 
Funding shall be returned by the Chapter to the RDC; provided, 
however, that the RDC may forego this requirement by providing 
written notice to the Chapter of its intention to waive this 
requirement with any conditions attached therewith.   
 

f.  Within thirty one days of the earlier date of (i) March 31, 2015, or (ii) 
the date at which all funds provided by the RDC are expended, the 
Chapter shall provide an accounting to the RDC providing full and 
complete details of the use of the funding utilizing the reporting form 
attached  hereto as “Exhibit C”. 

 
g. The Chapter shall provide an accounting of the unspent funds from 

Fiscal Year 2013-14 as of March 31, 2014 prior to receiving the 
$50,000 allocated in this agreement utilizing the reporting form in 
Exhibit “C”. 
 

3. Any notice provided or permitted to be given under this Agreement must 
be in writing and may be served by (i) depositing the same in the United 
States mail, or (ii) facsimile, provided a copy of such notice is sent within 
one day thereafter by writing deposited in the United States mail.  The 
initial addresses for the purpose of notice under this Agreement shall be as 
follows: 
 
 
 
 



If to RDC:      Rosenberg Development Corporation 
    Post Office Box 32 
    2110 Fourth Street 
    Rosenberg, Texas 77471 
    Attn:  Executive Director 
 
If to Chapter:  Texas Master Naturalists, Coastal Prairie Chapter 
    1402 Band Road, Suite 100 
    Rosenberg, Texas 77471 
    Attn:  President 
 

4.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, this Agreement shall be 
subject to change, amendment, or modification only in writing with the 
signatures and mutual consent of the parties hereto. 

IN TESTIMONY OF WHICH, THIS AGREEMENT has been executed by the parties on 
this_____day  of_________________2014. 

 

ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

By:___________________________________ 
President 
  

Attest: 

By:___________________________________ 
City Secretary  
 

TEXAS MASTER NATURALISTS, COASTAL PRAIRIE CHAPTER, INC 

By:  __________________________________ 
       President 
      













To:       Rosenberg Development Corporation 
From:  Coastal Prairie Chapter, Texas Master Naturalists   
Re:        2014 Improvements to Seabourne Creek Nature Park 
Date:    December 3, 2013 
 
 
In 2013, the largest share of the Grant Proceeds were spent on restoring the Wetlands impoundment, 
with the balance spent on a variety of other projects at the Park. 
 
2014 proposed improvements and estimated costs: 

  
Seabourne Lake– Additional fish structure, aquatic vegetation for erosion control 
and improved water quality, fish stocking, replace concrete rip-rap with natural 
rock 
 

$4,000 

Covered Picnic Tables—Family Picnic Area 
 

$10,000 

New Wetlands Demo Garden and aquatic vegetation 
 

$3,000 

Signage  - additional interpretive signs 
 

$6,500 

Paths and trails  
 

$5,000 

Floating Dock—Wetlands Pond 
 

$8,000 

Prairie restoration and bird sanctuary 
 

$3,000 

Outreach projects 
 

$3,000 

Prairie Heritage Festival 
 

$5,000 

Administrative and Miscellaneous $2,500 
  
TOTAL $50,000 
  
 

 

tiffanyy
Typewritten Text
                          EXHIBIT "A"









EXHIBIT "C"

City of Rosenberg - RDC Grant
Seabourne Creek Park Project

Coastal Prairie Chapter - Texas Master Naturalists
Funding Proceeds - Check Register

Butterfly Entry Prairie Outreach Seabourne
Date Check # Payee Amount Balance Description Garden Portal Restoration Program Signage Lake Trees Admin

Beg Bal CPTMN - Grant 50,000.00                      $50,000.00

 

YTD     Total Spending - Grant III -                                 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
$0.00

    Balance Available For Seaborne Project $50,000.00

Total Spending Grant III -                                 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00

    Balance Available For Seaborne Project $50,000.00



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

E Business Appreciation Reception Agreement - Central Fort Bend 
Chamber 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on a Service Contract with the Central Fort Bend Chamber regarding the 
Rosenberg Development Corporation’s Business Appreciation Reception. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Rosenberg Development Corporation and 

Central Fort Bend Chamber Service 
Contract for Business Appreciation 
Reception 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Central Fort Bend Chamber (CFBC) contracts with the Rosenberg Development Corporation 
to plan and execute the RDC’s Business Appreciation Reception.  The Service Contract 
(Contract) between the CFBC and RDC is included for review. Staff recommends approval of the 
Contract. 
  
 
 
 



4120 Avenue H, Rosenberg, TX  77471 
Phone: 281-342-5464  Fax:  281-342-2990 
www.CFBCA.org 
 
 

SERVICE CONTRACT 
 

 

Central Fort Bend Chamber  Page 1 of 2 
Service Contract for Rosenberg Development Corporation 
 

 

 

The basic mission of chambers of commerce of the 21st century is to support the community 
and to create and promote a climate where business can operate in a productive and profitable 
manner. 

The Central Fort Bend Chamber (The Chamber) is a pro-business association organized in or 
about 1910 to focus attention and initiate private sector action on the major issues affecting the 
economic well-being and quality of life in this area.  As it is a private, not-for-profit 501(c)(6) 
association supported largely by its members, membership investments and contributions 
through fundraising activities and events provide the resources for Chamber programs.  The 
Chamber is not a branch of the city, is not a governmental entity, and receives no direct 
government funding. 

Service Description 

The Rosenberg Development Corporation (RDC), on behalf of the City of Rosenberg, requires 
the planning, organization, and completion of a Business Appreciation Reception (event) for the 
purpose of educating businesses located in Rosenberg, Texas about the resources available in 
and around the city.  The event will occur on a date agreed to by both parties. 

The Chamber will perform the following services as requested by the RDC: 

 The event will be held on July 29, 2014, unless otherwise agreed by both parties. 
 The midday (11:00am to 2:00pm) event will be conceptualized, including timing, format 

and arrangement, and produced 
 Invitations will be designed, produced and mailed (maximum 1500) 
 Promotional and marketing materials will be designed, produced and distributed via The 

Chamber's existing e-blast systems, distributed at Chamber events and 500 copies to 
RDC 

 Advertisement(s) will be designed and published in the FOCUS on Friday weekly e-
blast, on The Chamber's website www.CFBCA.org, Absolutely Brazos Magazine, and in 
The Fort Bend Herald (local daily newspaper) 

 Restaurants and caterers will be procured for 7-10 "Tasting Stations" 
 Beverage Station will be made available 
 15-20 vendors (such as educational institutions, business services organizations, City 

and County departments, Governmental entities, etc.) will be secured with four booths 
reserved for the Rosenberg Development Corporation (RDC) 

 Table linens will be provided for vendor tables, food stations and guest tables 
 Door prizes will be obtained, to include one "Grand Prize" ("Must be present to win") 
 Nametags will be distributed 
 Post-event report including survey results and attendance figures will be presented to 

the Board of the RDC 



 

Central Fort Bend Chamber  Page 2 of 2 
Service Contract for Rosenberg Development Corporation 
 

The RDC will provide the following to The Chamber: 

 Timely review and approval as needed of promotional and marketing materials designed 
by The Chamber 

 Mailing list of businesses, dignitaries, organizations that will be targeted for attendance 
(approx. 1500) 

 Promotion of the event on City of Rosenberg website(s) with Chamber logo 
 Use and set-up of the Rosenberg Civic Center beginning at 7:30am and ending at 

4:00pm the day of the event. 
 Use of audio-visual equipment and staff services at the Rosenberg Civic & Convention 

Center during days/times outlined in above bulleted item 
 Payment of $6,500.00 
 Expense allowance up to $2,800.00 (invoices to be submitted to RDC for direct 

payment) 

 

ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

By  ___________________________________ 
Rachelle Kanak, Assistant Economic Development Director 
 
Date  _________________________________ 
 
 
CENTRAL FORT BEND CHAMBER 
 
By  ___________________________________ 
Shanta Kuhl, President/CEO 
 
Date  _________________________________ 
 



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

F Resolution No. RDC-87 - Seatex Drainage Project 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on Resolution No. RDC-87, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 
Rosenberg Development Corporation amending the Fiscal Year 2013-14 Annual Budget in the amount 
of $44,539.00 for the Seatex/State Highway 36 Drainage Project.  

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Resolution No. RDC-87 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

While constructing the State Highway 36 Drainage Project (also known as the Seatex Drainage 
Project), the contractor encountered a previously unknown telecommunications cable located 
in the right-of-way of the highway between the pavement and the railroad.  The Contractor has 
completed the portion of the pipe constructed under the railroad and the highway, and only has 
the connection between the two lines remaining.  In order to accommodate the 
telecommunications line, it will be necessary to hand dig the remaining section.  The change 
order included with this item would accomplish this.  The change order is in the amount of 
$44,538.81.  
 
At the November 14, 2013 RDC Board meeting, the Board voted to approve the change order in 
the amount indicated. The proposed Resolution authorizes a budget amendment to 
accommodate for the change order.  
 
Staff recommends approval. 
  
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. RDC-87 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AMENDING THE 
FISCAL YEAR 2013-14 ANNUAL BUDGET IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$44,539.00 FOR THE SEATEX/STATE HIGHWAY 36 DRAINAGE 
PROJECT. 
 

*  *  *  *  * 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE ROSENBERG 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION: 
 

Section 1. The Rosenberg Development Corporation (RDC) does hereby 

approve the amendment of its Fiscal Year 2013-14 Annual Budget by allocating 

$44,539.00 from Unrestricted Fund Balance to the RDC Projects Fund for the 

Seatex/Highway 36 Drainage Project, and further authorizing the expenditure of said 

funds for the aforementioned project.   

PASSED, APPROVED, AND RESOLVED on this ______day of ____________  

2014.     

ATTEST:      Rosenberg Development Corporation 
 
 
 
              
Linda Cernosek, City Secretary    Bill Knesek, President 
 



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

1 Fuller Realty-Rosenberg Business Park Presentation 

ITEM/MOTION 

Hear and discuss presentation by Fuller Realty on Declaration of Covenants Conditions and Restrictions 
and Grant of Easements for Rosenberg Business Park. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Declaration of Covenants Conditions and 

Restrictions and Grant of Easements for 
Rosenberg Business Park  

2) Rosenberg Business Park Development 
Agreement – 03-01-13 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Section 2 of the Rosenberg Business Park Development Agreement calls for the City Council to 
approve the deed restrictions for the Rosenberg Business Park. The developer has drafted the 
attached deed restrictions. Bill Smith with Fuller Realty will make a presentation to the RDC Board 
regarding the proposed Declaration of Covenants Conditions and Restrictions.  

  
 
 
 



 

DECLARATION OF COVENANTS CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS 
AND GRANT OF EASEMENTS 

FOR ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK 
  
 THE STATE OF TEXAS §  
     § KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: 
 COUNTY OF FORT BEND § 
 
 WHEREAS, Rosenberg Business Park, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership (“Declarant”), with its principal 
office at 1800 Augusta Drive, 4th Floor, Houston, Texas 77057, is the owner of that certain 184 acre tract of land, 
more or less, in Fort  Bend County, Texas, and defined herein below as the “Property”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Declarantdesires to create and carry out a general and uniform plan for the improvement, 
development, maintenance, use and continuation of a business park to be known as ROSENBERG BUSINESS 
PARK, on the Property, for the mutual benefit of the successors in title to Declarant; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in order to create and carry out a uniform plan for the improvement, development, 
maintenance, sale, and use of the Property, the reservations, restrictions, covenants, conditions, easements, liens and 
charges set out herein are hereby created and established, which shall, run with the land and be binding on all parties 
having any right, title or interest in and to all or any portion of the Property, and their respective heirs, legal 
representatives, successors and assigns. 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

Definitions. 
 
1.1 “Annual Maintenance Charge” shall mean the assessment made and levied against each Owner and such 

Owner’s Parcel or Parcels by the Association in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration. 
 
1.2 “Articles of Incorporation” shall mean the Articles of Incorporation of the Association. 
 
1.3 “Association” shall mean the ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK PROPERTY OWNER’S ASSOCIATION, 

a Texas non-profit corporation presently or hereafter incorporated by or on behalf of Declarant, and the 
successors and assigns of such corporation. 

 
1.4 “Board” or “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Association, whether such Board 

be appointed by Declarant or elected in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration. 
  
1.5 “By-laws” shall mean the By-laws of the Association. 
 
1.6 “City” shall mean the City of Rosenberg, Texas.  

 
1.7 “Control Period” shall mean the period commencing on the date this Declaration is recorded in the Official 

Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas and ending on the earlier to occur of (i) the 
date Declarant no longer owns any Parcel or (ii) the date Declarant records a document in the Official 
Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas which references this Declaration and states 
that the Declarant declares this Control Period under this Declaration to be terminated (Declarant having 
the right to make such declaration and record such document at any time). 

 
1.8 “Declarant” shall mean and refer to Rosenberg Business Park, Ltd., a Texas limited partnership, and its 

successors and assigns, if such successors or assigns are designated in writing by Rosenberg Business Park, 
Ltd., as a successor or assign of the rights of Rosenberg Business Park, Ltd., as set forth herein.  Following 
the end of the Control Period, the term Declarant shall mean and refer to the Board. 

 
1.9 “Declaration” shall mean this instrument and any amendment hereto. 
 
1.10 “Detention Area” and shall mean the off-site Detention Area and all improvements thereon. 
 



 

 

- 2 - 

1.11 “Hazardous Substance” shall mean any hazardous or toxic substance or contaminated material including 
but not limited to asbestos, oil and petroleum products and those substances within the scope of all federal, 
state and local environmental laws and ordinances, including without limitation the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act and the 
Superfund Amendment and Reauthorization Act of 1986. 

 
1.12 “Indemnified Parties” shall mean Declarant and the Association and their predecessors, successors, assigns, 

legal representatives, beneficiaries, affiliates, agents, attorneys and employees. 
 
1.13 “Maintenance Fund” shall mean any accumulation of (i) The Annual Maintenance Charge collected by the 

Association from each Owner and such Owner’s Parcel or Parcels in accordance with the provisions of this 
Declaration, and (ii) interest, penalties, special assessments and other sums and revenues collected by the 
Association pursuant to this Declaration. 

 
1.14 “Majority of the Members” shall mean the majority of those votes entitled to be cast by the Members who 

are eligible to vote and are present or voting by legitimate proxy at a duly called meeting at which a 
quorum (as defined in the By-laws) of Members who are eligible to vote are represented. 

 
1.15 “Member” or “Members” shall mean a member or members of the Association. 
 
1.16 “Mortgage” shall mean a security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, or lien instrument granted by an Owner 

to secure the repayment of a loan made to Owner for the purpose of acquiring a Parcel and constructing 
improvements thereon, duly recorded in the Office of the County Clerk of Fort Bend County, Texas and 
creating a lien or security interest encumbering a Parcel and all improvements thereon. 

 
1.17 “Mortgagee” shall mean the beneficial owner(s) of a Mortgage. 
 
1.18 “Owner’ or “Owners” shall mean any person or persons, firm, corporation or other entity that holds, of 

record, fee title to a Parcel, but excluding those having such interests merely as security for the 
performance of an obligation or the buyer of a Parcel under an executory contract of sale. 

 
1.19 “Parcel” or “Parcels” shall mean each separate lot, tract or parcel of land within the Property. 
 
1.20 “Plans” shall mean the final construction plans and specifications (including a site plan showing the 

location of all structures and improvements and the size and location of driveways, walks, parking and 
storage facilities, fences and screening) for any building or improvement of any kind to be erected, placed, 
constructed, maintained or altered on any portion of any Parcel, together with detailed, final plans, 
specifications and descriptions of the landscaping to be installed thereon, all in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the Board, and prepared in conformity with the applicable provisions of this 
Declaration. 

 
1.21 “Private Drives” shall mean any private streets or roads constructed or to be constructed on the Property by 

Declarant. 
 

1.22 “Private Utility Lines” shall mean any private water, fire water, sanitary sewer and storm sewer lines 
constructed or to be constructed on the Property by Declarant. 

 
1.23 “Property” shall mean that certain tract or parcel of land containing approximately 184 acres of land and 

situated in Fort Bend County, Texas, such tract or parcel of land being more particularly described in 
Exhibit A attached hereto. 

 
1.24 “Public Streets” shall mean that certain 100’ ROW public street identified as Phase 1 on the Site Plan, 

together with any future public streets or drives constructed to provide access to or from the Property. 
 
1.25 “Public Utility Lines” shall mean all public power, telephone domestic water, fire water, sanitary sewer and 

storm sewer lines constructed or to be constructed on the Property by the City of Rosenberg  or other 
entities. 

 



 

 

- 3 - 

1.26 “Restrictions” shall mean the covenants, conditions, easements, reservations and stipulations that shall be 
applicable and govern the improvement, use, occupancy, and conveyance of all the Parcels as set forth in 
this instrument or any amendment thereto. 

 
1.27 “Rules and Regulations” shall mean rules adopted and/or amended from time to time by the 

Boardconcerning the management and administration of the Property for the use, benefit and enjoyment of 
the Owners. 

 
1.28 “Shared Utility Facilities” shall mean all Private Utility Lines, Public Utility Lines,the Detention Area and 

any and all drainage and stormwater systems, easements and related facilities constructed, existing, or to be 
constructed on the Property from time to time. 

 
1.29 “Site Plan” shall mean that certain plan of ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK, showing a proposed 

subdivision of the Property and the Public Streets, as the same may be amended or revised from time to 
time pursuant to the terms of this Declaration.  A copy of the preliminary Site Plan is attached hereto as 
Exhibit B. 

 
 

 
ARTICLE II 

 
Use Restrictions. 

 
2.1 No Parcel shall be used for any purposes except for the following commercial uses:  office, retail (subject 

to the further limitations herein contained), commercial processing, agricultural, research, servicing, light 
industrial, manufacturing, retail sales of products by manufacturers thereof or by manufacturer’s 
representatives, warehousing, distribution purposes, and services ancillary to such uses, or any combination 
of such uses. No land in the Property shall be used for any purpose which is offensive by reason of odor, 
fumes, dust, smoke, noise or pollution, or which is hazardous by reason of excessive danger of fire or 
explosion, or for any purpose which may become an annoyance or nuisance to any other property in the 
Property or which will be in violation of the laws, rules, regulations, or orders of the United States or the 
State of Texas or any other governmental entity. No restaurant, gasoline service station, or motel use will 
be permitted in the Property, except on such portions of the Property, if any, as the Board shall first 
approve in writing.  No portion of the Property shall be used for residential purposes.  The Declarant or the 
Board at any time may not amend these restrictions that would change the permitted uses without the 
consent from the City of Rosenberg.  If the City doesn’t respond to the Declarant or Boards request within 
30 days the request to modify the Use Restrictions would be considered approved.   

 
2.2 No building of a temporary character, office trailer or trailer home, basement, tent, shack, barn or other out-

building shall be permitted on the Property at any time without the prior written consent of the Board; 
provided, however, that any construction trailer or a temporary structure permitted under applicable laws 
may be used in connection with the construction of improvements on the Property. 

 
2.3 No signs of any kind may be erected on the Property, except for signs identifying the tenant(s) or Owner(s) 

or products of such tenant or Owner(s), of the Property or buildings thereon, and “For Sale” and “For 
Lease” signs, and same must be of a reasonable size not to exceed a maximum of thirty-two (32) square 
feet. Signs are limited to one on a building, unless multiple businesses are conducted within the building, in 
which event there may be one sign for each business occupying the interior portion of the building 
contiguous to such sign, and one on which the sole business or all such businesses, if more than one, are 
collectively identified in the open area of each Parcel, and shall not bear any flashing, blinking or moving 
lights. Without the prior written consent of the Board, no sign shall be painted on a building wall and no 
sign shall be erected on top of or extend above a building.  All signs must be approved by the Board before 
they are erected.  An Owner of a Parcel may install, construct, operate and maintain such additional signage 
as such Owner (or its lessee) may desire on such Owner’s Parcel with the written consent of the Board, 
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  The Board shall notify such Owner 
in writing of its approval or rejection of such additional signage within thirty (30) days after the Board’s 
receipt of an Owner’s written request therefor.  If the Board fails to give to the person requesting such 



 

 

- 4 - 

additional signage notification of approval or rejection within such thirty (30) day period, the Board shall 
be conclusively deemed to have given its approval with regard to the request made. 

 
2.4 No Parcel in the Property shall be used or maintained as a landfill site, dumping site, salvage yard, asphalt 

plant, junk yard or other similar use. Trash, garbage or other waste materials shall not be kept except in 
sanitary containers constructed of metal, plastic or masonry material, with sanitary lids or covers. All such 
trash containers and other equipment for the storage or disposal of such waste material shall be kept in a 
clean and sanitary condition and shall be attractively screened from view from any street or thoroughfare. 
All rubbish, trash or garbage shall be regularly removed from the Property and shall not be allowed to 
accumulate thereon. Any accumulation of trash shall be disposed of immediately by the Owner or occupant 
causing same. 

 
2.5 No Owner or occupant shall use or permit his Parcel to be used in such a manner so as to endanger the 

health or disturb the reasonable enjoyment of any other Owner or occupant. No Owner or occupant shall 
engage in any activity within the Property which has the effect of increasing premiums for any insurance 
carried by the Association or any other Owner. 

 
2.6 No Owner shall use or permit his Parcel or improvements to be used for any purpose that would 

unreasonably interfere with the use and occupancy of the Property by other Owners, or violate any 
ordinance of the City or any rule, regulation, law or ordinance of any other county, state, municipal or 
governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Property. 

 
2.7 No noxious, offensive, dangerous or unduly noisy activity shall be conducted on any Parcel, nor shall 

anything be done thereon which may be or become a nuisance to the Property or to any occupant of a 
Parcel. No grass or weeds shall be allowed to grow to a height, which is unsightly in the opinion of the 
Board. The Association shall have the right, but not the obligation, after 10 days written notice to the 
Owner of a Parcel, to remove from such Parcel accumulated trash, garbage or debris and to cut and remove 
unsightly grass and weeds and to charge the Owner for all such costs thereby incurred. Such charge shall 
bear interest from the date That demand is made by the Association until paid at the rate of eighteen percent 
(18%) per annum and shall be secured in the same manner as the Annual Maintenance Charge, as provided 
in Article 9.5 hereof, but in no event shall the interest rate exceed the maximum rate allowed by applicable 
law. 

 
2.8 No drilling, digging, quarrying or miring operation of any sort shall be permitted on the Property, except 

for simulated exercises for training. 
 
2.9 The Declarant and any Owner of a Parcel, or any portion thereof, and any Owner of any buildings or 

improvements situated thereon, and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and 
assigns, shall at all times keep their respective premises, buildings, improvements and appurtenances in a 
well-maintained, safe, clean, attractive and sanitary condition and shall comply with all applicable 
regulations of governmental agencies having jurisdiction over health, safety and pollution control. Refuse 
and waste materials shall not be permitted to accumulate on any part of the Property and shall be regularly 
collected and disposed of; provided, however, that the foregoing provision shall not be interpreted to 
prohibit the construction or operation of a designated outside waste accumulation area that is specifically 
approved by the Board and determined to be harmonious with the remainder of the Property.. Unless 
otherwise approved by the Board, all outside storage areas or facilities shall be separated from adjoining 
public streets or from other property by fencing of at least six (6) feet in height composed of galvanized 
chain link or equal material, and shall be screened from the street or other property by slats, or trees and 
shrubs. If, in the opinion of the Declarant, any such Owner or lessee is failing in this duty and 
responsibility, then Declarant may give such Owner or lessee, or both, notice of such fact, and such owner 
or lessee must, within ten (10) days of such notice, undertake the care and maintenance required to restore 
such Owner’s or lessee’s property to a safe, clean and attractive condition. Should any such Owner or 
lessee fail to fulfill this duty and responsibility after such notice, then the Declarant shall have the right and 
power to perform, or have performed, such care and maintenance, including, without limitation, the 
mowing of any vacant Parcel, and the Owner and lessee (and or both of them) of the property on which 
such work is performed by the Declarant shall be liable for the cost of any such work and shall promptly 
reimburse the Declarant for the cost thereof. If such Owner or lessee shall fail to so reimburse the Declarant 
within thirty (30) days after being billed therefore, then said cost shall be a debt of such Owner or lessee 



 

 

- 5 - 

(and both of them), payable to the Declarant, and shall be a lien against any such Owner’s and/or lessee’s 
real property in the Property, which lien shall be subordinate to any now existing or hereafter created valid 
liens securing purchase money, the cost of construction or permanent financing therefore, or any renewal or 
extension of such liens.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, variances to the provisions of this Section 2.9 
concerning the screening of outside storage areas or facilities may be granted by the Board upon written 
request of an Owner to accommodate such Owner’s particular needs with respect to its ownership and 
operation of its respective Parcel.  The Board shall notify such Owner in writing of its approval or rejection 
of such variance withinthirty (30) days after the Board’s receipt of an Owner’s written request therefor; 
provided, however, that the approval of any such requested variance shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned, or denied.  If the Board fails to give to the person requesting such variance notification of 
approval or rejection within such thirty (30) day period, the Board shall be conclusively deemed to have 
given its approval with regard to the request made. 

 
2.10 The Owner of each Parcel, or those holding under any such Owner, shall provide adequate on-site parking 

areas for employees, customers, Owners and tenants paved with concrete or other materials approved by 
Declarant; and none of their respective employees, customers, Owners or tenants shall have any right to 
park on any streets or highways adjacent to said Parcel. Paved parking areas may be constructed in any 
designated set back area between a dedicated street and a building. 

 
2.11 No Owner shall park or permit such Owner’s guests, invitees or contractors to park vehicles along or within 

any Public Street or any Private Drive within the park.  Parking within any ingress/egress easement is 
prohibited. 

 
2.12 The discharge of firearms of any kind or nature in the Property is strictly prohibited, unless approved by the 

City of Rosenberg and no hunting of wild game or birds of any species by any method is allowed therein. 
Explosive devices shall not be utilized on any Parcel except with prior written permission from the 
Declarant. 

 
2.13 For purposes of the second sentence of Section 2.1 of this Declaration (beginning with:  “No land in the 

Property shall be used for any purpose which is offensive …”), the commercially reasonable opinion of the 
Board with respect to the use and occupancy of any Parcel, and the compliance of such use with the 
restrictions contained herein, shall be binding upon the Owners of all Parcels;  provided, however, that no 
Parcel may in any event be used for any purpose which is in violation of the laws, rules, regulations, or 
orders of the United States or the State of Texas or any other government entity. 

 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

Approval ofPlans. 
 
3.1 No building, structure or improvement of any kind (including, without limitation,landscaping and fences) 

shall be erected, placed, constructed, or substantially altered on any Parcel until the Plans for such building 
or improvement have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Board (such approval not to be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed) and thereafter approved by any appropriate governmental 
agency or entity (if required). 

 
3.2 In determining whether such Plans shall be approved, the Board may take into consideration factors 

deemed appropriate by the Board. Such factors may include, without limitation, the following: 
 

(a) Compliance with this Declaration; 
 

(b) Kind and quality of the building materials or improvements and their suitability; 
 

(c) Kind and quality of the proposed landscaping; 
 

(d) Harmony, compatibility and the conformity of the design of such building or improvement 
withexisting and proposed buildings and improvements on the Property and with the design or 
overall character and aesthetics of the Property; 



 

 

- 6 - 

 
(e) Location of such building, improvements and landscaping within the Parcel on which it will be 

constructed or placed; 
 

(f) Square footage; 
 

(g) Compliance with the Design Standards (hereinafter defined),  
 

(h) Compliance with the Rules and Regulations; and 
 

(i) Compliance with the applicable laws, ordinances, rules or regulations of any county, state, 
municipal or other governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Property. 

 
3.3 The Board shall approve or disapprove the Plans in accordance with the following procedures: 
 

(a) two (2) complete sets of Plans, together with samples of materials and colors and such other 
documentation or information as may be deemed pertinent and required by the Board, shall be 
delivered by the Owner to the Board at the address of the Association; provided, however, 
until the expiration of the Control Period, such Plans shall be delivered to Declarant at the 
address set out above or such other addresses as Declarant may from time to time designate 
by written notice to the Association. The Board may require submission of additional plans, 
specifications or other information prior to approving or disapproving the proposed 
improvement. Until receipt by the Board of all required materials in connection with the 
proposed improvement, the Board may postpone review of any materials submitted for 
approval. 

 
(b) If the Plans are approved by the Board, a letter of approval, including a description of 

qualifications or required modifications, if any, shall be prepared for the countersignature of 
the Owner. Such approval shall be dated and shall not be effective for construction 
commenced more than nine (9) months after such approval. If construction is not commenced 
within nine (9) months after such approval, the Owner shall not begin construction of any 
building or improvement of any kind until the corresponding Plans have been resubmitted and 
reapproved by the Board in accordance with the provisions of this Article 3.3. 

 
(c) If the Plans are disapproved by the Board, one set of such Plans shall be returned marked 

“Disapproved’, and shall be accompanied by a statement by the Board setting forth the 
reasons for disapproval. 

 
(d) If the Board fails to indicate its approval or disapproval within thirty (30) days after receipt by 

the Board of all of the Plans, materials, documentation and information described in 
Subsection 3.3 (a) above, it will be deemed that the Board has approved such Plans. 

 
(e) The Board may from time to time (but shall not be obligated to) promulgate architectural and 

landscaping standards for the design and construction of improvements within the Property 
and for the design and installation of landscaping on the Parcels (the “Design Standards”). A 
copy of the Design Standards in effect at the time will be furnished to any Owner upon 
written request therefor. Such Design Standards shall supplement thisDeclaration and may 
make other and further provisions as to the approval and disapproval of Plans, prohibited 
materials and other matters relating to the appearance, design and quality of improvements or 
landscaping. Such Design Standards, as they may be promulgated from time to time by the 
Board, shall be incorporated in this Declaration by this reference as if set forth at length 
herein.  Any such Design Standards shall be made available to prospective 
purchasersfollowing a request for the same before closing of their Parcel.   

 
3.4 All decisions of the Board shall be final, conclusive and binding and there shall be no review of any action 

of the Board. The Board shall have the right (but not the obligation) to delegate its rights and obligations 
under this Article III to an architectural review committee composed of individuals to be selected by the 
Board, in accordance with the By-laws of the Association. 



 

 

- 7 - 

 
3.5 No approval of Plans and no publication of Design Standards shall ever be construed as representing or 

implying that such Plans, specifications or standards will, if followed, result in a properly constructed 
structure complying with all applicable legal requirements. Such approvals and standards shall in no event 
be construed as a representation, warranty or guaranty by the Board or any architectural review committee 
that any structure will be built in a good or workmanlike manner.Neither Declarant, the Association, the 
members of the Board nor the members of the architectural review committee or any of their 
representatives, shall be liable in damages to anyone submitting Plans to the Board for approval, or to any 
Owner or lessee of any part of the Property affected by this Declaration, by reason of or in connection with 
the approval or disapproval or failure to approve any Plans submitted. Every person who submits Plans to 
the Board for approval agrees, by submission of such Plans, and every Owner or lessee of any portion of 
the Property involved herein agrees, by acquiring title thereto or any interest therein, that such person, 
Owner or lessee will not bring any action or suit against the Declarant, the Association, any of the members 
of the Board, any of the members of the architectural review committee or any of their representatives, to 
recover any such damages and each, by acceptance of such conveyance, hereby waives all such claims and 
causes of action.  

 
3.6 The Board or its duly authorized representative shall have the right, but not the obligation, to inspect any 

improvements to a Parcel prior to or immediately after completion. 
 
3.7 No action or failure to act by the Board shall constitute a waiver or estoppel with respect to future action by 

the Board. 
 
3.8 The Board may authorize variances from compliance with the design, construction, signage, outside 

storage, or any other provisions of this Declaration due to circumstances warranting such variance in the 
opinion of the Board such as topography, natural obstructions, hardship, aesthetic or environmental 
considerations and the shape and configuration of the particular Parcel for which the variance is sought. 
Such variances must be evidenced in writing and shall become effective when signed by at least a majority 
of the members of the Board. The granting of a variance shall not operate to waive any of the provisions of 
thisDeclaration for any purpose except as to the particular Parcel and particular provision described therein, 
nor shall the granting of a variance affect in any way the Owner’s obligation to comply with all 
governmental laws and regulations affecting the Property. 

 
3.9 All water towers, storage tanks, exterior processing equipment, fans, skylights, cooling towers, 

communication towers and any other similar structures or equipment in the Property shall be architecturally 
compatible with the other buildings in the Property or be effectively shielded from view from any public 
street by an architecturally sound method, including, where appropriate, slatted fence, trees and shrubs 

 
3.10 Any notice to the Declarant or request for approval by the Declarant shall be made to the Declarant in 

writing, and shall be sent to the Declarant by certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, addressed as 
follows: 1800 Augusta Drive, Floor 4, Houston, Texas 77057. If any request for approval of a variance or 
exception to the restrictions provided herein, or approval of any proposed action by a Parcel Owner where a 
construction of thisDeclaration is required is made to the Declarant, the Declarant shall, within thirty (30) 
days after the request is made, give the person making the request, at such person’s address as shown in the 
request, written notification either of the approval by the Declarant, which approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, or of its rejection of the request, with specification of the reasons for such rejection. 
If the Declarant fails to give to the person requesting such approval notification of rejection within such 
thirty (30) day period, as provided for above, the Declarant shall be conclusively deemed to have given its 
disapproval with regard to the request made. Any approval or rejection given by the Declarant, and any 
written approval, rejection or other communication by the Declarant may be relied upon, as the act of the 
Declarant, by the person receiving such approval, rejection or other communication. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

 
Maintenance. Alteration and Repairs. 

 
4.1 Subject to the provisions of Article III and the approvals required therein, and subject to the Rules and 

Regulations and subject to the Design Standards each Owner shall have the right to make minor alterations, 



 

 

- 8 - 

modifications, and repairs to such Owner’s Parcel and improvements, provided that all such action is 
performed in a good and workmanlike manner, causes minimum inconvenience to other Owners and does 
not constitute a nuisance. Alterations or repairs which would change the exterior color, materials or shape 
of the improvements must be approved by the Board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any of the above 
described actions is performed without the prior approval of the Board of Plans therefor in accordance with 
Article III hereof, the Board may require (but shall be under no obligation to require) the Owner to remove 
or eliminate any paint color, decoration, or other object situated on such Owner’s improvements or Parcel 
that is visible from any street or thoroughfare or from any other Parcel, if, in the Boards sole judgment, 
such object detracts from the visual attractiveness of the Property or is inconsistent with the design or 
overall character and aesthetics of the Property. 

 
4.2 Subject to the provisions of Article 4.3 hereof, each Owner shall maintain such Owner’s Parcel, 

improvements, fences, landscaping, light standards and fixtures, sanitary, storm water, water and drainage 
lines and facilities which service only such Owner’s Parcel and improvements, including the point of the 
connection of such lines and facilities to the Shared Utility Facilities, and all other improvements in good 
working order and repair and in an attractive condition at all times. If any Owner fails to comply with the 
requirements of this Article 4.2. the Association may, but shall not be obligated to, without liability to such 
Owner or any occupant in trespass or otherwise, enter upon such Parcel, maintain or repair any of same, in 
which case such Owner shall upon demand pay the Association’s cost of same. Such indebtedness shall 
bear interest from the date that demand is made by the Association until paid at the rate of eighteen percent 
(18%) per annum and shall be secured in the same manner as the Annual Maintenance Charge, as provided 
in Article 9.5hereof, but in no event shall the interest rate exceed the maximum rate allowed by applicable 
law. 

 
4.3 It is anticipated that all Public Streets, Public Utility Lines and the Detention Area shall be maintained at all 

times by City of Rosenberg.  The Association shall maintain, repair, and replace any Private Drives and 
Private Utility Lines in good working order, condition and repair at all times.  There is hereby created a 
blanket easement in favor of the Association upon, across, over and all of the Property for the purpose of 
maintaining, repairing and replacing any Private Drives and Private Utility Lines. 

 
4.4 Notwithstanding the foregoing, in addition to the Association’s rights pursuant to Section 4.2 above, 

Declarant or the Association may at any time, following written notice to the Owners, take over 
maintenance of all or any portion of the landscaping within the Property, including any landscaping located 
within an Owner’s Parcel.  In such event, any expenses incurred by the Association shall be included in the 
Annual Maintenance Charge pursuant to Article IX below.  There is hereby created a blanket easement in 
favor of the Association upon, across, over and all of the Property for the purpose of maintaining such 
landscaping. 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

Construction. 
 

5.1 Construction of improvements must be commenced upon a Parcel by the Owner thereof within one (1) year 
after the date such Parcel is first conveyed by Declarant to an Owner (other than Declarant).  If construction 
is not started within one (i) year, owner grants Declarant the option to purchase the parcel at the exact price 
the Owner paid to Declarant. 

 
5.2 Without the prior written consent of the Board (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed), 

no building material of any kind or character shall be placed or stored upon any Parcel more than thirty (30) 
days before the construction of a structure or improvement is commenced. All materials permitted to be 
placed on a Parcel shall be placed within the property lines of the Parcel. At the completion of such 
building or improvements, any unused materials shall be removed immediately from the Parcel. After 
commencement of construction of any structure or improvement on the Parcel, the work thereon shall be 
prosecuted diligently, to the end that the structure or improvements shall not remain in a partly finished 
condition any longer than reasonably necessary for completion thereof. Unless otherwise authorized in 
writing by the Board prior to commencement of construction, the construction of any structure or 
improvement on a Parcel shall be completed within one (1) year from the date of commencement of 



 

 

- 9 - 

construction, excepting delays due to strikes, war, acts of God, or other causes beyond the control of the 
Owner and approved by the Board. 

 
5.3 Only new construction materials (except for used brick) may be used in constructing a structure or 

improvements situated on a Parcel unless otherwise approved in writing by the Board. 
 
5.4 Any exterior lighting of any improvements or Parcel shall be subject to the prior written approval of the 

Board, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed. 
 
5.5 Each building to be located on a Parcel shall be constructed with exterior materials of brick veneer, cement 

plaster, concrete block, concrete tiltwall, steel, aluminum or glass, or their equivalent. Any concrete block 
exterior surfaces shall be architecturally treated in a manner acceptable to the Declarant. Any steel or 
aluminum exterior surfaces shall be coated or painted with an enamel finish. All exterior tilt up concrete 
walls must be painted unless constructed with decorative aggregate exterior designs.  

 
5.6 Bulk storage of flammable fluids must be maintained underground, or in flashproof metal tanks, or 

protected by earthen fire walls. 
 
5.7 No effluent containing harmful bacteria, poisonous acids, oils or other harmful substances shall be 

permitted to drain or drift beyond the property lines of the Property. 
 
5.8 The minimum building lines/minimum set back lines are hereby established for the Property:  
 

1. Street Set-Back: twenty (25) feet from face of curb; first ten (10) feet of set-back shall be 
used for landscape buffer only 

2. Rear Set-Back: fifteen (15) feet,  
3. Side Set-Back: fifteen (15) feet.  

  
 Further, no buildings, nor any other improvements situated above the surface of the ground (other than 

parking, paving and landscaping), shall be within an easement on such Parcel established hereby or by the 
Site Plan without approval by the Board.   

 
5.9 The construction of any and all improvements on a Parcel shall at all times be in strict compliance with the 

Plans approved by the Board, this Declaration, the Plat and the laws and ordinances of Fort Bend County   
and the City,including without limitation, compliance with any and all requirements or ordinances with 
respect to building set-back lines. 

 
ARTICLE VI 

 
Detention Area and Storm Water Quality Facility. 

 
6.1 The Detention Area should accommodate the detention of surface water runoff as required by Fort Bend 

County and Fort Bend County Flood Control, without requiring any on-site detention on any Parcel. 
 
6.2 It is anticipated that the Detention Area shall be maintained by the City of Rosenberg. 
 
6.3 There is hereby created a blanket easement in favor of the Association upon, across, over and under all of 

the Property for the purpose of improving and maintaining any Private Utility Lines, including the drainage 
and stormwater systems appurtenant to the Detention Area.  

 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

Easements. 
 

7.1 The Declarant shall have the right, but no obligation, to amend this Declaration from time to time to create 
ingress/egress and utility easements (including Private Drives) upon, across, over and under portions of the 
Property (regardless of whether or not such portions of the Property are then owned by Declarant) for 



 

 

- 10 - 

ingress and egress, installation, replacing, repairing, operating and maintaining utilities (including without 
limitation, water, sewer, storm water, ingress/egress, telephone, electricity, gas and cable television) so the 
appropriate entity can provide such utilities as may be reasonably necessary for the construction, use, 
development and enjoyment of the Property or any portion thereof and an unlocated easement over the 
Property for such purposes is hereby reserved by Declarant; provided, however, such additional 
ingress/egress and utility easements shall not be located so as to unreasonably interfere with or impede the 
use of the surface of any Parcel or any improvements or facilities existing on any Parcel as of the date such 
additional ingress/egress and utility easements are created. Any ingress/egress and utility easements created 
pursuant to his Section 7.1shall sometimes be hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Utility Easement”. 
By virtue of the Utility Easement, it shall be expressly permissible for the Declarant, the Association and/or 
the utility entities to affix, construct, maintain, repair, replace and operate pipes, wires, conduits or other 
service lines on, across, over and under the Utility Easement, to the extent not limited hereby. 

 
7.2 It is anticipated that all Public Utility Lines shall be constructed and maintained by the City of Rosenberg.  

Any Private Utility Lines shall be constructed by Declarant or the Association and thereafter the 
Association shall maintain the Private Utility Lines in good condition and repair. 

 
7.3 Easements for the installation and maintenance of utilities and ingress/egress are hereby reserved as herein 

provided, and by amendments to this Declaration made after the date hereof. Right of use for ingress and 
egress shall be had at all times over any Utility Easement and for the installation, operation, maintenance, 
repair, replacement or removal of any utility together with the right to remove any obstruction that may be 
placed in any Utility Easement that would constitute interference with the use, maintenance, repair, 
replacement, removal, operation or installation of such utility.  No structure, planting or other 
materialsshall be placed or permitted to remain within any Utility Easement which may damage or interfere 
with the use, installation, repair, operation, replacement, removal or maintenance of such utilities. The 
easement areas of each Parcel shall be maintained by the Owner of the Parcel, except for those 
improvements for which Declarant, the Association, a public authority or utility entity is responsible. 

 
7.4 There is hereby created a blanket easement in favor of the Association upon, across, over and under all of 

the Property for ingress and egress for the purpose of maintaining the fences, walls, structures, light 
standards and fixtures, landscaping, sanitary, storm water and drainage lines and utilities facilities, and 
other improvements when an Owner or occupant has failed to do so(the Association having no obligation to 
so maintain). 

 
7.5 Declarant shall have the right, but no obligation, at its sole option and at its sole cost and expense, to 

construct a “ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK” sign (the “Business Park Sign”) in which event the 
Association shall maintain the Business Park Sign in good condition and repair.  Declarant may cause the 
Business Park Sign to contain such information regarding Declarant, or its affiliates, as Declarant shall 
desire.  In the event the Declarant does not construct a Business Park Sign on or before the expiration of the 
Control Period, the Association shall have the right (but no obligation), at its sole option and at its sole cost 
and expense, to construct a Business Park Sign, in which event the Association shall maintain the Business 
Park Sign in good condition and repair. Accordingly, there is hereby created in favor of the Declarant, and 
upon expiration of the Control Period, in favor of the Association, for the benefit of the Property, an 
easement upon, across, over and under that portion of the Property reasonably necessary for theinstallation, 
replacing, repairing and maintaining the Business Park Sign. Declarant may at any time and from time to 
time assign all or any portion of its rights under this Article 7.5 to the Association. 

 
7.6 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Owner of any Parcel shall be entitled to the 

free and unimpeded use and enjoyment of the surface of its respective Parcel to the maximum extent 
permitted by law and this Declaration and the grant, reservation or creation of any blanket easements herein 
(whether in this Article 7 or otherwise) over, above, under, or across any such Parcel, or any portion 
thereof, shall not preclude any Owner from constructing, installing, operating, or maintaining any structure 
or improvement on such Parcel so long as the same shall not materially interfere with or frustrate the 
purpose of any such blanket easement. 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

 
Management and Operation ofthe Property. 



 

 

- 11 - 

 
8.1 The common affairs of the Property shall be managed by the Association. The Association shall have the 

right, power and obligation to provide for the management, maintenance, repair, replacement, 
administration, insuring and operation of the Property. The business affairs of the Association shall be 
managed by its Board of Directors. Until the expiration of the Control Period, the Declarant shall have 
absolute, complete and exclusive control of the Association and the Board of Directors, regardless of how 
many other Owners may acquire Parcels during such period of time. The Declarant, in its sole discretion, 
may appoint a Board of Directors during the Control Period, said appointed Board to administer the 
Association’saffairs until the first annual meeting of the Members of the Association is held in accordance 
with the provisions of Article8.4 hereof and a Board of Directors is elected by the Members. The Board of 
Directors elected at the first annual meeting of Members of the Association is herein called the “First 
Elected Board”. The Board of Directors appointed by Declarant pursuant to the provisions of this 
Article 8.1 is herein referred to as the “Appointed Board”. The Declarant shall have the power, exercisable 
at any time and from time to time, to remove any Director of the Appointed Board and appoint a successor, 
as well as to appoint a successor for any position on the Appointed Board which becomes vacant.  The 
Declarant hereby appoints William G. Smith and Stephen G. Darnall as members of the “Appointed 
Board”.  The Appointed Board may engage the Declarant or any other party whether or not affiliated with 
Declarant, to perform the day to day functions of the Association and to provide for the management, 
maintenance, repair, replacement, administration insuring and operation of the Property as required herein. 

 
8.2 Each Owner, including Declarant during the period of time in which Declarant owns any Parcel, shall be a 

Member in the Association and such membership shall terminate automatically when such ownership 
ceases.  Upon the transfer of ownership of a Parcel, howsoever achieved, the new Owner thereof shall, 
concurrently with such transfer, become a Member in the Association. 
 

8.3 Until the expiration of the Control Period, Declarant shall have all voting power, and no other Member 
shall have any voting power whatsoever during such period of time; thereafter, the total voting power shall 
be the sum of votes that correspond to each 10,000 square feet of land within the Parcels, with all votes in 
the Association to be on the basis of one vote being allocated to each 10,000 square feet of land (rounded to 
the nearest 10,000 square foot if more or less) owned by such Owner in all of the Parcels. In the event that 
ownership interests in a Parcel are owned by more than one Member of the Association, such Members 
shall exercise their right to vote in such manner as they may among themselves determine, but in no event 
shall more than one vote be cast for each 10,000 square feet of land. Such Owners shall appoint one of 
them as the Member who shall be entitled to exercise the vote of that 10,000 square feet of land at any 
meeting of the Association.  Such designation shall be made in written notice to the Board. The Board shall 
be entitled to rely on any such designation until written notice revoking such designation is received by the 
Board. In the event that a Parcel is owned by more than one Member of the Association and no single 
Member is designated to vote on behalf of the Members having an ownership interest in such Parcel, then 
none of such Members shall be allowed to vote. All Members of the Association may attend meetings of 
the Association and all voting Members may exercise their vote at such meetings either in person or by 
proxy. 
 

8.4 The first annual meeting of the Members of the Association shall be held within 60 days after the 
expiration of the Control Period, when called by either the Appointed Board or Declarant, upon no less than 
ten (10) and no more than fifty (50) days prior written notice to the Members. The First Elected Board shall 
be elected at the first annual meeting of the Members of the Association. Thereafter, annual and special 
meetings of the Members of the Association shall be held at such place and time and on such dates as shall 
be specified in the By-laws. The Declarant may convene a special meeting of the Members of the 
Association at any time and from time to time prior to the first annual meeting of the Members of the 
Association for such purposes as the Declarant may deem appropriate. 
 

8.5 The initial Board of Directors shall be elected and shall meet in the manner set forth in the By-laws. 
 

8.6 In addition to its other powers conferred by law or hereunder, the Board shall be empowered to create 
procedures for resolving disputes between or among Owners, the Board and/or the Association, including 
appointment of committees to consider and recommend resolution of any such disputes. 
 



 

 

- 12 - 

8.7 Declarant or the Board may retain, hire, employ or contract for the construction, maintenance, repair, 
landscaping, insuring, administration and operation of the Property as provided for herein and as provided 
for in the By-laws. 
 

8.8 Any action, inaction or omission by the Board made or taken in good faith shall not subject the Board or 
any individual member of the Board to any liability to the Association, its Members or any other party. 
 

8.9 In accordance with the By-laws, the Board shall elect, at least annually, a President, one or more Vice 
Presidents, a secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers and assistant officers as it may designate who 
shall each serve the Association without compensation. The President shall be the chief executive officer of 
the Association. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Association. The President shall have all 
the general powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of president of an association. The 
Secretary shall keep all the minutes of all meetings of the Board and the minutes of all meetings of the 
Association, and shall be in charge of such books and papers as the Board may direct. The Secretary shall 
keep and update a complete list of Members, showing opposite each Member’s name the number of the 
Parcel owned by such Member. The Treasurer shall have responsibility for Association funds and shall be 
responsible for keeping full and accurate accounts of all receipts and disbursements in books belonging to 
the Association. The Treasurer shall also be responsible for the deposit of all monies and other valuable 
effects in the name, and to the credit of, the Association in such depositories as may from time to time be 
designated by the Board. The Appointed Board or Declarant shall appoint a President, one or more Vice 
Presidents, a Secretary and a Treasurer to serve in such capacities until the first annual meeting of the 
Members of the Association shall be held in accordance with the provisions of Article 8.4 hereof. At the 
first annual meeting of the Members of the Association, the First Elected Board shall elect a President, one 
or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers as it may designate; thereafter, the 
Board shall elect officers at least annually, in accordance with the By-laws of the Association. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

 
Maintenance Expense Charge and Maintenance Charge. 

 
9.1 Each Parcel shall be subject to an Annual Maintenance Charge in an amount to be set by the Declarant or 

Appointed Board from time to time, and thereafter shall be set by the Board. If the Board elects to establish 
a security program for the Property, each Owner shall cooperate and participate in such security program 
and the Annual Maintenance Charge shall include the security charge relating to such security program. 
The amount of the Annual Maintenance Charge for each Parcel may be increased or decreased by the 
Board from time to time, as needed to pay for the expenses of the Association. After the third full year of 
operation, if any such change increases the Annual Maintenance Charge by more than twenty percent 
(20%) of the amount of Annual Maintenance Charge prior to such change (for any reason other than the 
initial development of the improvements on the Detention Area or other Shared Utility Facilities, increases 
in taxes or insurance, the introduction of new or additional services, or a requirement of a governmental 
authority), the change must be approved by a Majority of the Members present at a duly called meeting. 
The Annual Maintenance Charge and any special assessments provided for in Article 9.4 hereof chargeable 
to a Parcel shall be based upon a fraction the numerator of which is the number of square feet of land 
comprising such Parcel and the denominator of which is the total number of square feet comprising the 
Property. 

 
9.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Declaration, until the election of the First 

Elected Board, Declarant shall not be responsible for the payment of the Annual Maintenance Charge 
chargeable with respect to all Parcels owned by Declarant.  Declarant shall, however, with respect to such 
period of time until such election, be responsible for payment to the Association of the sum, from time to 
time, equal to the expense incurred by the Association on a cash basis, less the Annual Maintenance 
Charges paid from time to time by the Owners other than Declarant.  From and after the election of the 
First Elected Board, Declarant shall not be responsible for any deficit between expenses incurred by the 
Association and the Annual Maintenance Charges paid by the Owners, but Declarant shall be responsible 
for paying the Annual Maintenance Charge with respect to the Parcels owned by Declarant thereafter from 
time to time.  
 



 

 

- 13 - 

9.3 The Annual Maintenance Charges collected by the Association shall be paid into the Maintenance Fund 
and shall be held, managed, invested and expended by the Board, at its discretion, for the benefit of the 
Property. The Board shall expend the Maintenance Fund: for the maintenance, repair, replacement, 
insuring, administration, management and operation of the Property, including without limitation, the 
ownership, maintenance, repair, replacement and operation of any common landscaping or fencing, any 
Private Drives or Private Utility Lines, as well as any costs incurred in connection with the Detention Area 
and Shared Utility Facilities, and the Business Park Sign; for the payment of taxes applicable to any 
common areas of the Property; for the maintenance of the public street lighting, public street sweeping, and 
public street maintenance within the Propertyto the extent not paid for by the City of Rosenberg, 
maintenance of entry markers, greenbelts, esplanades and landscape reserves owned as easement rights by 
the Association; for the performance of the duties of the Board and the Association as set forth herein; for 
the enforcement of this Declaration by action at law or in equity, or otherwise, and the payment of court 
costs as well as reasonable and necessary legal fees; and for all other purposes that are, in the commercially 
reasonable determination of the Board, desirable in order to maintain the character, integrity and value of 
the Property and the Parcels therein. The Board and its individual members shall not be liable to any person 
as a result of action taken by the Board with respect to the Maintenance Fund, except for willful 
misconduct or fraud. 
 

9.4 If the Board at any time (and from time to time) after expiration of the Control Period determines that the 
Annual Maintenance Charges assessed for any period are insufficient to provide for its stated purpose, then 
the Board shall have the authority to levy such special assessments as it shall deem necessary to provide for 
the same. No special assessment shall be effective until the same is approved in writing by a Majority of 
Members present at a duly called meeting. Any such special assessment shall be payable, and the payment 
thereof may be enforced, in the manner herein specified for the payment of the Annual Maintenance 
Charges. 
 

9.5 The Annual Maintenance Charge assessed against each Owner shall be due and payable, in advance, 
annually on the date determined from time to time by the Board, subject to the appropriate yearend 
adjustment based upon actual expenses incurred. Any such amount not paid and received by the fifteenth 
(15th) day after the due date thereof shall be deemed delinquent, and, without notice, shall bear interest at a 
rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum until paid, but in no event shall the interest rate exceed the 
maximum rate allowed by applicable law. The Board, at its option, may impose and collect late charges on 
delinquent payments. 

 
To secure the payment of the Annual Maintenance Charge, special assessments levied hereunder and any 
other sums due hereunder (including, without limitation, interest, late fees or delinquency charges) a 
contractual lien is hereby created, in favor of the Association, in and to each Parcel and improvements and 
assigned to the Association which lien shall be enforceable as hereinafter set forth by the Association or the 
Board on behalf of the Association. The lien described in this Article 9.5 shall be deemed subordinate to 
any Mortgage and any renewal, extension, rearrangements or refinancing thereof; provided, however, no 
foreclosure of any Mortgage shall free any Parcel, improvements or Owner from the lien described in this 
Article 9.5 securing such Annual Maintenance Charges, special assessments or any other sums due 
hereunder thereafter becoming due and payable. The collection of such Annual Maintenance Charges, 
special assessments and other sums due hereunder may, in addition to any other applicable method at law 
or inequity, be enforced by suit for a money judgment and in the event of such suit, the expense incurred in 
collecting such delinquent amounts, including interest, costs and reasonable attorney’s fees shall be 
chargeable to and be a personal obligation of the defaulting Owner. In no event shall the foreclosure of any 
Mortgage extinguish or discharge the personal obligation of the foreclosed Owner to pay Annual 
Maintenance Charges, special assessments levied hereunder or any other sums due hereunder. The voting 
right of any Owner in default in the payment of the Annual Maintenance Charge, or other charge owing 
hereunder for which an Owner is liable, shall be automatically revoked for the period during which such 
default exists. 
 
Notice of the lien referred to in this Article 9.5 may be given by the recordation in the Office of the County 
Clerk of Fort Bend County, Texas of an affidavit, duly executed, sworn to and acknowledged by an officer 
of the Association, setting forth the amount owed, the name of the Owner or Owners of the affected Parcel 
according to the books and records of the Association, and the legal description of such Parcel.  The 



 

 

- 14 - 

Association shall also provide written notice to the holder of any recorded mortgage affecting the Parcel 
upon which such lien is being noticed. 
 
Each Owner, by acceptance of a deed to such Owner’s Parcel, hereby expressly recognizes the existence of 
such lien as being prior to such Owner’s ownership of such Parcel and hereby vests in the Board the right 
and power to bring all actions against such Owner or Owners personally for the collection of such unpaid 
Annual Maintenance Charge, special assessments and other sums due hereunder as a debt, and to enforce 
the aforesaid lien by judicial all methods available for the enforcement of such liens, both by judicial and 
non-judicial foreclosure. Additionally, by acceptance of the deed to such Owner’s Parcel, each Owner 
expressly GRANTS, BARGAINS, SELLS AND CONVEYS to the President of the Association from time 
to time serving, as trustee (and to any substitute or successor trustee as hereinafter provided for) such 
Owner’s Parcel and all improvements thereon, and all rights appurtenant thereto, in trust, for the purpose of 
securing the aforesaid Annual Maintenance Charge, special assessments and other sums due hereunder 
remaining unpaid by such Owner from time to time. The trustee herein designated may be changed at any 
time by execution of an instrument in writing signed by the President of the Association and attested to by 
the Secretary of the Association and filed in the Office of the County Clerk of Fort Bend County, Texas. In 
the event of the election by the Board to foreclose the lien herein provided, for nonpayment of sums 
secured to be paid by such lien, then it shall be the duty of the trustee, or his successor, as hereinabove 
provided, at the request of the Board (which request shall be presumed) to enforce this trust and to sell such 
Parcel and all improvements thereon, and all rights appurtenant thereto, at the door of the County 
Courthouse of Fort Bend County, Texas, on the first Tuesday in any month between the hours of 10:00 a.m. 
and 4:00 p.m. to the highest bidder for cash after the trustee and The Board, respectively, shall have given 
notices of the proposed sale in the manner hereinafter set forth, or otherwise in the manner then provided 
by the Texas Foreclosure Statute hereinafter defined. Following sale, the trustee shall make due 
conveyance of the Parcel and all improvements thereon to the purchaser or purchasers, with general 
warranty of title to such purchaser or purchasers binding upon the Owner or Owners of such Parcel and all 
improvements thereon and their heirs, executors, administrators and successors. The trustee shall give 
notice of such proposed sale by posting a written notice of time, place and terms of the sale for at least 
twenty-one (21) consecutive days preceding the date of sale at the Courthouse door of Fort Bend County, 
Texas, by filing such notice with the County Clerk of Fort Bend County, Texas, at least twenty-one (21) 
consecutive days preceding the date of sale, and, in addition, the Board shall serve written notice at least 
twenty-one (21) days preceding the date of sale by certified mail on each of such Owner or Owners 
according to the records of the Association of such sale or shall otherwise cause the notice thereof to 
comply with the provisions of Section 5 1.002 of the Texas Property Code as it may be amended or 
recodified from time to time (“Texas Foreclosure Statute”). Service of such notice shall be completed upon 
deposit of the notice in the United States mail, properly addressed to such Owner or Owners at the most 
recent address as shown by the records of the Association. The affidavit of any person having knowledge of 
the facts to the effect that such service was completed shall be prima facie evidence of the fact of such 
service.  
 
At any foreclosure, judicial or non-judicial, the Association shall be entitled to bid up to the amount of the 
sum secured by its lien, together with costs and attorney’s fees, and to apply as a cash credit against its bid 
all sums due to the Association covered by the lien foreclosed. From and after any such foreclosure the 
occupants of such Parcel shall be required to pay a reasonable rent for the use of such Parcel and such 
occupancy shall constitute a tenancy-at-sufferance, and the purchaser at such foreclosure sale shall be 
entitled to the appointment of a receiver to collect such rents and further, shall be entitled to sue for 
recovery of possession of such Parcel by forcible detainer without further notice. 
 

9.6 In the event any of the utilities provided to the Parcels through the Shared Utility Facilities are provided to 
the Property as a whole and are not separately metered at each Parcel by the municipality or other provider 
of such utilities, the costs of such utilities shall be added to the Annual Maintenance Charge as provided 
above.  The amount paid by each Owner shall be subject to year-end adjustment as set forth above, based 
upon separate meters for each Parcel, if installed by the Association, or by other commercially reasonable 
and equitable methods of determination by the Association. 

 
ARTICLE X 

 



 

 

- 15 - 

Environmental Covenants 
 

Each Owner shall cause such Owner’s Parcel to be in compliance with all federal, state and local 
environmental laws and ordinances. To the full extent permitted by applicable law, each Owner shall 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties from and against any and all loss, cost, 
expense or liability (including attorneys’ fees and court costs) incurred by any Indemnified Party in 
connection with or otherwise arising out of any and all claims or proceedings (whether brought by a private 
party, governmental agency or otherwise) for bodily injury, property damage, abatement, remediation, 
environmental damage or impairment or any other injury or damage, resulting from or relating to such 
Owner (or such Owner’s agents, representatives or employees) causing or permitting any Hazardous 
Substance to be located upon, migrate into, from or through such Owner’s Parcel. 

 
ARTICLE XI 

 
Insurance. 

 
11.1 Each Owner shall throughout the term of this Declaration keep, at its own expense, all improvements on its 

Parcel insured against loss or damage by fire, windstorm, hail, explosion, damage from aircraft and 
vehicles and smoke damage, and such other risks as are from time to time included in the broad form 
“extended coverage” endorsements generally written in the Fort Bend County, Texas metropolitan area. 

 
11.2 Each Owner shall throughout the term of thisDeclaration, at its own expense, maintain general public 

liability insurance against claims for personal injury or death and property damage occasioned by accident 
occurring upon, in or about that Owner’s Parcel, such insurance to provide protection in each case of not 
less than: (i) $1,000,000 in respect of injury or death to any one person; (ii) $2,000,000 in respect of injury 
or death to any number of persons arising out of any one occurrence, and (iii) $500,000 per occurrence in 
respect of any instances of property damage. 

 
ARTICLE XII 

 
General Provisions. 

 
12.1 Declarant, the Association or any Owner shall have the right to enforce by any proceedings at law or in 

equity all restrictions, conditions, covenants, easements, liens and charges now or hereafter imposed by the 
provisions of this Declaration. Failure by Declarant, the Association or any Owner to enforce any covenant 
or restriction herein contained shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to do so thereafter. 
Similarly, failure by Declarant, the Association or any Owner to enforce any one or more covenants or 
restrictions herein contained shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right to enforce any other 
covenant or restriction. 
 

12.2 Invalidation of any one or more of these covenants or restrictions by judgment or court order shall in no 
way affect any other provision, and all such other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

12.3 The covenants and restrictions of thisDeclaration shall run with and bind the Property, and shall inure to the 
benefit of and be enforceable by the Association, Declarant, the Owner of any Parcel subject to this 
Declaration, their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns for a term of forty (40) 
years from the date thisDeclaration is recorded in Fort Bend County, Texas, after which time said 
covenants shall be automatically extended for successive periods of ten (10) years; provided, however, that 
in the event an instrument signed by the Owners owning 75% or more of the total square footage of land in 
all of the Parcels, and recorded in Real Property Records of Fort Bend County, Texas at least sixty (60) 
days before the expiration of the initial forty (40) year period or any subsequent ten (10) year period, then 
this Declaration shall terminate at the end of such forty (40) year period or such ten (10) year period, as the 
case may be.Subject to the provisions of Article 12.5 below, the covenants and restrictions or any other 
portion of thisDeclaration may be amended at any time until the expiration of the Control Period, by an 
instrument signed (i) by Declarant and (ii) the Owners of a majority of the total square footage of land 
within all of the Parcels. After the expiration of the Control Period, the covenants and restrictions or any 
other portion of this Declaration may be amended at any time by an instrument signed by the Owners 



 

 

- 16 - 

owning 75% or more of the total square footage of land in all of the Parcels. Any amendment must be 
properly recorded in Fort Bend County, Texas. In addition, the Owner of any Parcel covered by a Mortgage 
shall give the Mortgagee a written notification thirty (30) days prior to any abandonment or termination of 
this Declaration and/or any material amendment to thisDeclaration; provided, however, the failure of any 
Owner to so notify any such Mortgagee shall not affect the validity of any abandonment or termination of 
this Declaration and/or any amendment to this Declaration. 
 

12.4 Each Owner and Declarant shall comply strictly with the provisions of this Declaration. Failure to comply 
with any of the same shall be grounds for an action to recover sums due for damages, injunctive relief or 
both, maintainable by an aggrieved Owner, Declarant or the Association, as applicable, including 
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of court. 
 

12.5 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, until the expiration of the Control Period, the 
Declarant shall have and hereby reserves the right at any time, without the joinder or consent of any 
Mortgagee or any other Owner, party or entity, to amend this Declaration or the Site Plan or both by an 
instrument in writing, duly signed, acknowledged and filed of record in the Office of the County Clerk of 
Fort Bend County, Texas, so long as such amendment will not be inconsistent with the general overall plan 
for the development of the Property as provided herein and so long as any amendment or revision of this 
Declaration or the Site Planshall not create any material encroachment, material encumbrance or direct 
material burdens on any Parcel (other than the Utility Easement described in Article 7.1) or Owner without 
the written consent of the such Owner. For purposes of carrying out and implementing the provisions of 
this paragraph, each Owner (other than Declarant) appoints the Declarant such Owner’s irrevocable agent 
and attorney-in-fact coupled with an interest with authority to execute and deliver any such amendment. 
 

12.6 The Declarant may make additional restrictions by appropriate provisions in any deed or deeds hereafter 
conveying any land in the Property, without otherwise modifying the general plan outlined above, and such 
other restrictions shall inure to the benefit of the owners of any other land in the Property in the same 
manner as though they had been expressed herein. Declarant shall have the right to extend the restrictions 
and covenants hereof to any land owned or acquired by Declarant, any boundary of which lies adjacent to 
the Property (“Additional Land”) by filing an election to add the Additional Land to the Property as being 
subject to this Declaration, in the Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas. Nothing 
herein contained, however, shall be deemed to impose any restrictions on any portion of the Additional 
Land unless Declarant, as the owner of the Additional Land, hereafter elects to subject the Additional Land 
to the general plan outlined above by expressly providing for same in any Deed or other instrument 
executed by the Declarant, as the owner of the Additional Land to be made subject to these Restrictions. 
 

12.7 No delay in enforcing the provisions of this Declaration as to any breach or violation Thereof shall impair, 
damage or waive the right of any party entitled to enforce the same or obtain relief thereof against or 
recover for the continuation or repetition of such breach or violation or any similar breach or violation 
thereof at any later time or times. 
 

12.8 Declarant, as well as its agents, employees, officers, directors, partners, contractors and attorneys, shall not 
be liable to any Owner or lessee of a Parcel or any portion thereof or to any other party for any loss, claim 
or demand in connection with the breach of any provisions of thisDeclaration by any party other than 
Declarant or any of Declarant’s agents, employees or representatives. 
 

12.9 In the event any one or more persons, firms, corporations or other entities shall violate or attempt to violate 
any of the provisions of this Declaration, Declarant, the Association or each Owner of a Parcel or any 
portion thereof, may institute and prosecute any proceeding at law or in equity to abate, prevent or enjoin 
such violation or attempted violation or to recover monetary damages caused by such violation or 
attempted violation. 
 

12.10 The covenants and restrictions adopted and established for the Property by this Declaration are imposed 
upon and made applicable to the Property and shall run with the land and shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of and be enforceable by Declarant, the Association, and each Owner of a Parcel or any part 
thereof, and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 



 

 

- 17 - 

12.11 Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained in this Declaration, all actions of the Members, 
Board or any committee of the Board provided for herein may be taken by unanimous written consent 
without a meeting, or any meeting thereof may be held by means of a telephone conference or the like, to 
the full extent permitted by law. 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
 

[OPTIONAL] 
 

Consent of Mortgagees 
 

_________________(“Mortgagee”) is the owner and holder of that certain promissory note dated 
_________________, in the principal amount of $_____________(the “Note”) made by _____________ and 
payable to the order of Mortgagee, which Note is secured by that certain Deed of Trust (the “Deed of Trust”) of 
even date with the Note, granted by ________________ to ________________, Trustee, for the benefit of 
Mortgagee and covering the Property.  By joinder herein and the execution of this Declaration below, Mortgagee 
hereby: (a) consents for itself, its successors, legal representatives and assigns to the execution and recording of this 
Declaration and all of the terms and provisions contained herein and (b) agrees that, notwithstanding any foreclosure 
of any of its liens or other encumbrances affecting all or any part of the Property, whether such liens or other 
encumbrances now exist or are hereafter created, or any conveyance in lieu of such foreclosure, this Declaration and 
all rights herein described shall continue unabated and in full force and effect.  It is understood and agreed that 
nothing herein contained shall modify or diminish any obligations, covenants and agreements of _______________ 
under the Note and any instruments securing the payment of theNote. 



 

 

 IN WTINESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has duly executed this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions 
and Restrictions and Grant of Easements for ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARKeffective as of __________, 2013_. 

 
DECLARANT: 
 
ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK, LTD.,a Texas limited 
partnership 
 
By: Rosenberg Business Park GP, LLC, its general partner 
 
 
 

By:________________________________ 
 _________________, President 

 
 



 

 

 
 

STATE OF TEXAS  § 
  § 
COUNTY OF HARRIS  § 
 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this ____ day of ____________, 200_, by 
___________________, President of ______________________, Inc., a Texas _________________, 
as________________________of _____________________________, a Texas limited partnership 
 
 
     ___________________________________________ 
     Notary Public, State of Texas  
 
 
 
[Mortgagee] 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 
  § 
COUNTY OF HARRIS  § 
 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this ____ day of ___________, 200_, by 
______________, __________________ of ________________________. 
 
 
     ___________________________________________ 
     Notary Public, State of Texas 
 



 

 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Description of the Property 
 

See attached. 



 

 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

Site Plan 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  
 



 
ROSENBERG BUSINESS PARK 

Landscape Guidelines 
 
 

•             Minimum of 15% of lot to be landscaped using trees, shrubs or grass. 
•             All grassed areas to be Common Bermuda.  
•             (1) street tree for each 30 feet of lot width along business parks main road “See 
Schedule A; Street Trees for approved specimens”. 
•             Trees may be clustered or spaced linearly; they need not be placed evenly. 
•             All trees to be no less than 30 gal in size at time of planting or no less than 1.5” Cal, 
minimum 8-10 feet in height. 
•             Any exposed storage yard fencing with a direct line of site to business park main road to 
be screened with Waxleaf Ligustrums; installed plant to be no less than 15 gal, 4 – 5 feet 
minimum height planted; minimum 48” o.c. spacing. 
•             Beautification of building entrance and marquee sign highly encouraged. 
•             All Landscape Area to be irrigated 100% using permanent underground irrigation 
system. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

SCHDULE “A” 
Approved Plant Species 

 
 

1. Street Trees 
 
Scientific Name Common Name Height Spread Growth Rate Comments 
Quercus 
virginiana 

Live Oak Large 50 Slow Semi-Decidious 

Quercus 
shumardii 

Shumard Oak Large 40 Slow Fall Color 

Acer rubrum Red Maple Large 30 Medium Fall Color 
Platanus 
mexicana 

Mexican 
Sycamore 

Large 50 Fast Unique Leaf 

Taxodium 
distichum 

Bald Cypress Large 30 Fast Semi-Decidious 

Pinus taeda Loblolly Pine Large 30 Fast  Evergreen 
Quercus falcata Southeren Red 

Oak 
Large 40 Slow Fall Color 

 
 





























































    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

2 Imperial Performing Arts, Inc., Presentation 

ITEM/MOTION 

Hear and discuss presentation by Imperial Performing Arts (IPA) on status of Performance Agreement. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Rosenberg Development Corporation and 

Imperial Performing Arts Performance 
Agreement 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Imperial Performing Arts, Inc., (IPA) entered into a Performance Agreement with the Rosenberg 
Development Corporation (RDC) on March 6,, 2012.  The Agreement authorized RDC to make two 
payments to IPA in the amount of $250,000, for a total of $500,000 in consideration for IPA establishing 
a performing and cultural arts program in Historic Downtown Rosenberg.  The performing and cultural 
arts program was to be initiated with the lease and renovation of a property located at 823 Third 
Street in Rosenberg (to be completed by September 30, 2012).  IPA was also to obtain a purchase 
option for its assignee to purchase the building known as the Cole Theater (Theater) as a performing 
arts and concert facility. IPA was to lease, renovate and operate the Theater by December 31, 2014. 
Additional requirements such as number of ticketed and public events were included in the 
Agreement.  Representatives from IPA will discuss the progress of the performing and cultural arts 
program.  Ed Crowell, Jr., Executive Director, and Lupe Uresti, IPA Board President, will be present as will 
members of the IPA board. A copy of the executed Agreement is attached for your reference.  

  
 
 
 































    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

3 Proposed Parks Improvement – Basketball and Tennis Courts 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on the proposed parks improvement request to update the basketball 
and tennis courts in area parks. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 

 

1) McCarthy Memorandum – 01-30-14 
2) Ready Correspondence – 03-27-13 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Rosenberg Parks and Recreation Director Darren McCarthy will make a presentation on the proposed 
parks improvements and request action on the request.  The improvement project includes multiple 
City parks.  Please see attached supporting documentation for full details. 

  
 
 
 





 
 
      
 

PHONE: 512-461-0519 
FAX: 512-331-0316 

 
 

March 27th, 2013 
 

Paul T. Rodgers 
Parks Supervisor 
City of Rosenburg Parks and Recreation Department 
 
Attention:  Paul 
 
Proposal for: Court Resurfacing  
   
Dear Mr. Rodgers: 
 
Pursuant to our conversations and site visit to measure and examine the 
condition of your court, I have reviewed and measured the court, examined the 
site, and make the following proposal based on these observations and 
specifications identified in our visit. 
 
CourTex Construction, Inc. is a registered and certified installer of the 
California Products, Plexipave Tennis Court Surfacing Systems, SportsMasters 
Sports Surfacing Systems, and offers this proposal for the court repair and 
resurfacing: 
 
 Description of work included in proposal: 
 

Sunset Park Basketball 

• Prepare courts surface for new court surfacing by high pressure power 
washing the court surface, removing mold, loose aggregate, and 
identifying low areas; 

• Acid Etch existing slab and clean surface; 
• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to entire court surface,  
• Apply 2 coats of Green court surfacing 
• Stripe court in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 
 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

 
$4,500.00 

 
 
 



 Description of work included in proposal: 

 

Sunset Park (2 courts) Tennis 
Resurfacing 

• Prepare courts surface for new court surfacing by high pressure power 
washing the court surface, removing mold, loose aggregate, and 
identifying low areas; 

• Expansion joints will be cleared of existing wood, grass, and dirt. Will be 
replaced and sealed with back-a-rod and an industrial self leveling 
caulking compound to seal the joints from moisture; 

• CCInc. Will sand and paint exiting net post, replace crank mechanisms, 
and furnish and install 2 new nets.  

• Repair surface cracks by grinding, cleaning crack, and patching crack 
with specially formulated court crack repair compound; 

• Address low areas, if any, with Court Patch Binder; 
• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to all patches; 
• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to entire court surface, block sanding between 

each coat, to address any imperfections in surface and insure a secure 
seal and smooth surface; 

• Apply 2 coats of Green and Red court surfacing 
• Stripe tennis court in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 
 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

 
$11,500.00 

 
Description of work included in proposal: 
 

Travis Park Basketball Striping 

• Grind existing stripes to prepare surface for new striping; 
• Stripe 2 courts in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 
 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

 
$1,500.00 

 
 

Description of work included in proposal: 
 

Brazos Single BBall Striping 

• Grind existing stripes to prepare surface for new striping; 
• Stripe court in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 



 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

 
$750.00 

Description of work included in proposal: 
 

Brazos Park Tennis 

• Prepare courts surface for new court surfacing by high pressure power 
washing the court surface, removing mold, loose aggregate, and 
identifying low areas; 

• Expansion joints will be cleared of existing wood, grass, and dirt. Will be 
replaced and sealed with back-a-rod and an industrial self leveling 
caulking compound to seal the joints from moisture; 

• Repair surface cracks by grinding, cleaning crack, and patching crack 
with specially formulated court crack repair compound; 

• Address low areas, if any, with Court Patch Binder; 
• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to all patches; 
• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to entire court surface, block sanding between 

each coat, to address any imperfections in surface and insure a secure 
seal and smooth surface; 

• Apply 2 coats of Green court surfacing 
• Stripe tennis court in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 
 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

 
$5,500.00 

 
 
 
 Description of work included in proposal: 
 

Community Park BBall Pavilion 

• Prepare courts surface for new court surfacing by high pressure power 
washing the court surface, removing mold, loose aggregate, and 
identifying low areas; 

• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to entire court surface,  
• Apply 2 coats of Green court surfacing 
• Stripe court in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 
 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

$5,000.00 



Description of work included in proposal: 
 

Mario Garcia BBall Courts 

• Prepare (2) courts surface for new court surfacing by high pressure 
power washing the court surface, removing mold, loose aggregate, and 
identifying low areas; 

• Clean out expansion joints and caulk/seal with industrial strength 
caulking; 

• Apply Acrylic Resurfacer to entire court surface,  
• Apply 2 coats of Green court surfacing 
• Stripe court in standard striping; 
• Cleanup and removal of all waste. 

 
 
 
BASE BID:  Court resurfacing as specified above:                    
 

 
$9,000.00 

 
 
            

 

THE COURT SURFACE IS WARRANTEED FOR 2 YEARS EXCEPT WHERE 
CRACKS/SEAMS/BARE CONCRETE ATTRIBUTE TO THE FAILURE OF THE 
COURT SURFACE. CRACK REPIARS CAN BE REPAIRED BUT NOT 
WARRANTEED.  
BIDDER hereby declares that he has personally inspected and is familiar with 
the project site; and hereby proposes to provide all labor, materials, tools, 
appliances and facilities as required to perform, in a professional and 
workmanlike manner, all work and services for the construction and completion 
of aforementioned project.   
 
 
CCInc.’s Certificates of Insurance will be furnished upon the receipt of 
the signed contract or purchase order.  We prefer to have our agent send 
the certificates directly to the client in lieu of attaching them to the 
proposal to insure authentication of the coverage.  Our agent is John 
Cowart, State Farm Insurance, phone number (281) 362.8444. 
 
The resurfaced court might have “tool marks or squeegee lines” from the 
application procedure. This is completely normal and cannot be 100% 
avoided. 
 
Proposal is based on timely and adequate access to the project site, 
including utilization of on-site secured storage, use of existing materials 
where possible.  CCI is not responsible for site security and assumes no 
liability for materials delivered/stored or work in progress at the site 
against theft or damage prior to completion of the project.  WEATHER IS 



CRITICAL TO QUALITY COURT SURFACING AND CONTROLS THE 
INSTALLATION AND COMPLETION SCHEDULE.  
 
CourTex Construction Inc. bases its’ proposal on its’ ability to install a 
new surface over the existing surface with minimal preparation.  Should 
the existing surface be unsuitable for re-surfacing due to age, condition, 
or chemical composition, the removal of the surface will be performed at 
additional cost.  The adhesion of the new surfacing will not be 
warrantied against failure, cracks, chipping, or flaking due to the 
existing surface’s condition or composition as these are construction 
design and conditions that are unknown and therefore beyond the 
control of CCI. 
 
New concrete shall have no additives applied during the curing process. 
If CCinc. surfaces the court and there are adhesion problems due to 
additives present, then the surface cannot be warrantied.  
 
Excluded from this quote are Engineering/design requirements or fees of the 
project; ancillary asphalt or concrete repair, including normal wear due to 
construction; SWPPP Plan; fence installation, removal or replacement; 
landscape/sod repair or replacement; fees for bonds or permits; the 
addition/removal/re-location/or modification of existing or new utilities, 
irrigation, or drainage, identified or unidentified; or construction site security 
during construction period. Likewise, the new surface will not significantly 
change, improve, or deter the drainage of the existing court, which includes 
existing ponding issues present prior to the new surfacing. Any problems or 
issues with the new surface attributed by cracks or problems with the existing 
slab, or with the old surface, negate warranty coverage and liability.  Therefore 
any and all repairs for non-warrantied work will be performed on a quoted or 
cost/plus basis.   
 
CONTRACT TIME: Bidder agrees, if awarded the Contract, to commence work 
under this Contract within 10 days or as specified from the date of written 
“Notice to Proceed” and to fully complete all work required and specified by the 
Contract Documents as agreed upon in the contract between the Client and 
CCI within the time dictated or extended as stipulated in the Contract 
Documents.   
 
WITHDRAWAL OF BID

 

:  Bidder agrees that this Bid shall be good and may not 
be withdrawn for a period of thirty (30) calendar days after the date and time 
scheduled for receipt of Bids.  The proposal is based on a November 1, start 
date and should this be delayed to a later date, then CCI reserves the right to 
review its proposal and modify it as necessary. 

 
NOTIFICATION, EXECUTION, AND COMPLETION:  Upon receipt of the Notice of 
Acceptance of this bid, the Bidder will execute the formal Contract.  The Work 
shall commence within 10 days of the date of issuance of the Notice to 
Proceed and shall be completed within the Contract time as stated above, 
and UPON THE RECEIPT of 50% of contracted amount to address the 



mobilization costs and the procurement of materials, with the remainder 
due when invoiced. 
 
Sincerely, 

W.B. Ready 
W. B. Ready 
 
 
ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL: THE ABOVE PRICES, SPECIFICATIONS, TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS ARE SATISFACTORY AND ARE HEREBY ACCEPTED.  YOU ARE 
AUTHORIZED TO DO THE WORK AS PROPOSED.  PAYMENT WILL BE MADE AS 
OUTLINED ABOVE. THIS PROPOSAL WILL BECOME PART OF ANY FUTURE 
CONTRACT AND IS CONTROLING IN CASE A CONFLICT OCCURS.  LIKEWISE, IN LIEU 
OF SIGNATURE, THE AUTHORIZATION TO PROCEED AND COMMENCEMENT OF 
WORK SHALL ALSO BE DEEMED AS ACCEPTANCE OF THESE TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS. 
_____________________________                                        ___________________  
ACCEPTANCE SIGNATURE       DATE 
 
 

     

  



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

4 Proposed Parks Improvement – Equipment Lease 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on the proposed parks improvement request to lease equipment 
necessary to relocate donated trees. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) McCarthy Memorandum – 01-29-14 

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Rosenberg Parks and Recreation Director Darren McCarthy will make a presentation on the proposed 
parks improvement plan to add 50 additional trees to area parks.  The trees have been donated, but 
the Parks and Recreation Department does not have the equipment to remove and relocate the 
trees.  Parks and Recreation staff has identified a company which specializes in tree removal and 
relocation and will request action on the request.  The improvement project includes multiple City 
parks.  Please see attached supporting documentation for full details. 

  
 
 
 









    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

5 Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., Deed Restrictions 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on amended Declaration of Covenants Conditions and Restrictions 
for Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Amended Declaration of Covenants 

Conditions and Restrictions for Walsh Road 
Industrial Park, Ltd. – Redline 

2) Amended Declaration of Covenants 
Conditions and Restrictions for Walsh Road 
Industrial Park, Ltd. – Clean  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Rosenberg Development Corporation (RDC) Board approved the Amended Declaration of 
Covenants Conditions and Restrictions (Covenants) for Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., in 
September 2013 after an initial discussion in May 2013 at the RDC meeting.  The developer’s 
attorneys prepared the Covenants document, and submitted it to RDC for review and approval.  
The developer has identified three areas that need to be clarified before he submits the 
Covenants to potential prospects.    
 
Article II, Section 2.15 reads, “Building Construction. The construction of any and all improvements 
on a Reserve shall at all times be in strict compliance with the Plans approved by the ARC, this 
Declaration, and Applicable Law. Each building to be located on a Reserve shall be constructed 
with insulated metallic exterior panels over steel frame construction, or better, and with a 
minimum of 40% masonry material, excluding window area. Only new construction materials 
(except for used brick) may be used in constructing a structure or improvements situated on a 
Reserve unless otherwise approved in writing by the ARC. Roofs shall be metallic as from time to 
time established by the ARC in the Design Standards.”   
 
The proposed revision to clarify the meaning of Article II, Section 2.15 reads, “Building 
Construction. The construction of any and all improvements on a Reserve shall at all times be in 
strict compliance with the Plans approved by the ARC, this Declaration, and Applicable Law. 
Each building to be located on a Reserve shall be constructed with insulated metallic exterior 
panels over steel frame construction, or better, and with a minimum of 40% masonry material on 
the front of the building, excluding window area. Only new construction materials (except for 
used brick) may be used in constructing a structure or improvements situated on a Reserve unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the ARC. Roofs shall be metallic as from time to time established 
by the ARC in the Design Standards.”   
 
Article II, Section2.8 reads, “Outside Storage.  No outside storage of any kind will be permitted on 
any Reserve, unless such storage is behind the front edge of building, fenced and screened from 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

view, and such storage does not interfere with Fire Department access.  The right of any 
Permittee of a Reserve to use any building or Reserve shall not be construed to permit the 
keeping or storing of articles, goods, materials, equipment, incinerators, storage tanks, dumpsters, 
refuse containers or like items in the open or exposed to public view.  No personal property, 
equipment or merchandise shall be kept, displayed, offered for sale or lease or stored within the 
Front Yard of any Reserve.”   
 
The proposed revision to clarify the meaning of Article II, Section2.8 reads, “Outside Storage.  No 
outside storage of any kind will be permitted on any Reserve, unless such storage is behind the 
front edge of building, fenced and screened from view on all sides, and such storage does not 
interfere with Fire Department access.  The right of any Permittee of a Reserve to use any building 
or Reserve shall not be construed to permit the keeping or storing of articles, goods, materials, 
equipment, incinerators, storage tanks, dumpsters, refuse containers or like items in the open or 
exposed to public view.  No personal property, equipment or merchandise shall be kept, 
displayed, offered for sale or lease or stored within the Front Yard of any Reserve.” 
 
The developer also proposes adding the following provision, Article II, 2.2, “Building Size: Any 
single Reserve purchased will require a minimum building size of 7,500 sf enclosed. Any owner 
that purchases more than a minimum one (1.0) acre site, the requirement will be a ratio of at 
least 6,500 sf of building size per one (1.0) acre, or portion of land over one (1.0) acre thereof. 
Example: If two (2.0) acres are purchased, the minimum building size will be 13,000 sf.”   
   
 
 
 



AMENDED  
DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, 

RESTRICTIONS, AND EASEMENTS 
 

 This Amended Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements 
(“Declaration”) is made effective as of September February  13, 25, 20143, by WALSH ROAD 
INDUSTRIAL PARK, LTD. (“Declarant”), a Texas limited partnership. 
 
RECITALS: 
 
A. Declarant is the owner of that certain 24.2119  acre tract of land situated Fort Bend County,  

Texas, more particularly described on the attached Exhibit “A”. 
 
B. Declarant desires to create and carry out a general and uniform plan for the improvement, 

development, maintenance, use, and continuation of a business park, known as Walsh Road 
Industrial Park (the “Park”) on the Property, for the mutual benefit of the Owners thereof, on the 
terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 

AGREEMENTS: 
 

NOW, THERFORE, Declarant, on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, hereby 
Imposes on the Property the following covenants, conditions, restrictions, and easements: 
 

     ARTICLE I. 
 

1.1 “

   DEFINITIONS 
 

Annual Maintenance Charge

 

” shall mean the assessment made and levied against each Owner 
and such Owner’s Reserve or Reserves by the Association in accordance with the provisions of this 
Declaration. 

1.2  “Applicable Law

 

” shall mean the laws, rules, ordinances, regulations, and orders of the State of 
Texas or other Governmental Authority. 

1.3 “ARC

 

” shall mean the Architectural Review Committee consisting of 3 members, initially 
appointed by the Declarant.  The Declarant may at any time assign its rights to appoint the ARC to a 
successor by a written instrument filed for record in the Official Records of Real Property Fort Bend 
County, Texas.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon formation of the Association, the term “ARC” 
shall mean and refer to the Board. 

1.4 “Association

 

” shall mean a Texas non-profit corporation hereafter organized by the Declarant as 
an owners’ association for purposes of enforcing and administration these Restrictions, Maintaining and 
improving any Common Area or Shared Use Facilities or such other purposes as Declarant may 
determine, and the successors and assigns of such corporation.  Upon organizing the Association, 
Declarant shall file for record in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, 
Texas, an amendment to this Declaration naming the Association. 

1.5 “Board” or “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Association, whether 
such Board be appointed by Declarant or elected in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration or 
Bylaws. 



2 
 

Formatted: Centered

 
1.6 “Industrial Park Sign

 

” shall mean the project identity signs constructed at the entrances to the 
Park, in the areas shown on the Site Plan, with the name Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd. 

1.7 “By-laws
 

” shall mean the By-laws of the Association. 

1.8 “Common Area

 
1.9 “

” shall mean the Industrial Park Sign areas per section 1.6, and the detention 
pond constituting a part of the Water Detention and Drainage Facilities as shown on the Site Plan.  

Common Driveway” shall mean the driveway and related driveway improvements, including  
paving, curbing, entrances, and exits for motor vehicles and pedestrian access, ingress, and egress on and 
through adjoining Reserves.  
 
1.10 “Control Period” shall mean the period commencing on the date this Declaration is recorded in 
the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas and ending on the earlier to 
occur of (i) the date Declarant no longer owns any Reserve, or (ii) the date Declarant records a document 
in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas, which references this 
Declaration and states that Declarant has assigned its rights under this Declaration to the Association; or 
(iii) the date Declarant records a documents in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend 
County, Texas, which references this Declaration and states that the Declarant declares this Control 
Period under this Declaration to be terminated, Declarant having the right to make such declaration and 
record such document at any time. 
 
1.11 “Declarant” shall mean Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., and its successors or assigns, if such 
successors or assigns are designed in writing as a successor or assignee of the rights set forth herein. 
 
1.12 “Declaration” shall mean this instrument and any amendment hereto. 
 
1.13 “Governmental Authority” shall mean the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, or any other 
Governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Property. 
 
1.14 “Hazardous Substance” shall mean any hazardous or toxic substance or contaminated material 
including but not limited to asbestos, oil and petroleum products and those substances within the scope 
of all federal, state and local environmental laws and ordinances, including without limitation the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 
and Liability Act and the Superfund Amendment and Reauthorization Act of 1986. 
 
1.15 “Maintenance Fund” shall mean any accumulation of (i) the Annual Maintenance Charge and (ii) 
interest, penalties, special assessments, and other sums and revenues collected by the Association 
pursuant to this Declaration. 
 
1.16 “Majority of the Members” shall mean the majority of those votes entitled to be cast by the 
Members who are eligible to vote and are present or voting by legitimate proxy at a duly called meeting 
at which a quorum (as defined in the By-laws) of Members who are eligible to vote are represented. 
 
1.17 “Masonry Materials” shall mean exterior finishes of brick, split face block, natural stone, stucco 
or EFIS. 
 
1.18 “Member” or “Members” shall mean a member or members of the Association. 
 



3 
 

Formatted: Centered

1.19 “Mortgage” shall mean a security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, or lien instrument granted by 
an Owner, duly recorded in the Office of the County Clerk of Fort Bend County, Texas, and creating a 
lien or security interest encumbering a Reserve and all Improvements thereon.  
 
1.20 “Mortgagee” shall mean the beneficial owner(s) of a Mortgage. 
 
1.21 “Owner” or “Owners” shall mean any person or persons, firm, corporation, or other entity that 
holds, of record, fee title to a Reserve, but excluding a Mortgagee or the buyer of a Reserve under an 
executor contract of sale. 
 
1.22 “Reserve” or “Reserves” shall mean each separate lot, tract, or reserve of land out of the 
Property. 
 
1.23 “Permittees” shall mean the tenant(s) or occupant(s) of a Reserve, and the respective employees, 
agents, contractors, customers, invitees and licensees of (i) the Owner of such Reserve, And/or (ii) such 
tenant(s) or occupant(s). 
 
1.24 “Plans” shall mean the final construction plans and specifications (including a site plan 
Sshowing the location of all structures and improvements and the size and location of driveways, walks, 
parking and storage facilities, fences and screening) for any building or improvement of any kind to be 
erected, placed, constructed, maintained or altered on any portion of any Reserve, together with detailed, 
final plans, specifications and descriptions of the landscaping to be installed thereon, all in form and 
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Board, and prepared in conformity with the applicable 
provisions of this Declaration. 
 
1.25 “Property” shall mean the 24.2119 acres described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 
 
1.26 “Restrictions” shall mean the covenant, conditions, easements, reservations and stipulations that 
shall be applicable and govern the improvement, use, occupancy, and conveyance of all the Reserves as 
set forth in this Declaration or any amendment thereto. 
 
1.27 “Road” shall mean Walsh Road, the public street located adjacent to the Property. 
 
1.28 “Screening” shall mean the use of a 6 foot minimum wooden (natural finish), or chain link fence 
(brown color) with full fencing or privacy splits on entire fence, to hide storage areas from street or 
neighbor view. Other materials may be considered by request to the ARC. 
 
1.28 “Rules and Regulations” shall mean reasonable rules adopted and/or amended from time to time 
by the Board concerning the management and administration of the Property for the use, benefit and 
enjoyment of the Owners, which shall apply the same to all Reserves and shall not affect the Owner’s 
use of its Reserve. 
 
1.29 “Shared Use Facilities” shall mean the Business Park Sign, Utility Facilities, and Water 
Detention and Drainage Facilities. 
 
1.30 “Site Plan

1.31 “

” shall mean that site plan of the Property attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. Except as 
may be otherwise provided in this Declaration, the Site Plan is for identification purposes only. 
 

Water Detention and Drainage Facilities” shall mean those lines, pipes, conduits and other 
apparatus for the collection, discharge, drainage, use detention and retention of storm water runoff and 



4 
 

Formatted: Centered

the detention pond constructed or to be constructed along the north boundary line of the Property as 
shown on the Site Plan together with all improvements thereon used in connection with Detention Pond 
Easement of even date herewith executed by Declarant and recorded or to be recorded in the real 
property records of Fort Bend County, Texas, and as may be constructed on the Property, whether 
presently existing or hereafter constructed, for the discharge, drainage, use detention and retention of 
storm water runoff on the Property in compliance with the requirements of the Governmental Authority, 
in the manner and in the location indicated on the Site Plan. 
 
1.32 “Yard” shall mean those portions of the Reserve that are outside of exterior walls of the building 
or other structures from time to time located on the Reserves. Each Reserve shall have, unless a variance 
is granted by the ARC, (a) one (1) “Front Yard”, being a minimum twenty five feet (25’) from the front 
of the property line, and (b) two (2) “Side Yards”, the Side Yard on each side of any building shall be at 
least ten feet (10’) from the Reserve boundary line to the side of the building, (c ) “Back Yard”, being all 
of the Reserve behind the back edge of the main building. 
 

  ARTICLE II. 
 

           RESTRICTIONS 
 

2.1 General Restriction.

2.2 

  The Property shall be used for lawful purposes in conformity with 
Applicable Law. 
 

Building Size:  Any single Reserve purchased will require a minimum building size of 7,500 sf 
enclosed.  Any owner that purchases more than a minimum one (1.0) acres site, the requirement will be a 
ratio of at least 6,500 sf of building size per one (1.0) acre, or portion of land over one (1.0) acre thereof.  
Example: If two (2.0) acres are purchased, the minimum building size will be 13,000 sf.     
 
2.3 Permitted Uses.  The permitted uses of the Property includes, without limitation, warehousing, 
office, office service center, showroom/warehouse, distribution center, light manufacturing and other 
similar uses from time to time approved by the ARC, provided such do not constitute a Prohibited Use 
(as described in Section 2.4 below).  The term “light manufacturing” shall mean and refer to any 
operation or use which is performed or carried out entirely within a building or buildings so designed 
and constructed that the enclosed operations therein do not cause or produce a nuisance or annoyance to 
the occupants of an adjoining Reserve, such as vibration, sound, radiation, air pollution, or water 
pollution. 
 
2.4 Prohibited Uses.
by reason of odor, fumes, dust, smoke, noise, or pollution, or which is dangerous or hazardous by reason 
of excessive danger of fire or explosion, or for any purpose which may become a nuisance to any other 
Reserve, or which will be in violation of Applicable Law, or that would unreasonably interfere with the 
use and occupancy of the Property by other Owners or Permittees.  In addition to the foregoing, it is 
expressly agreed that no part of the Property shall  be used, directly or indirectly,  for the following 
purposes:  cocktail lounge; bar, disco;  bowling alley;  pool hall or billiard parlor; skating or roller rink;  
amusement arcade;  adult book store;  adult theater;  adult amusement or entertainment facility;  cabaret;  
men’s club;  selling or displaying  pornographic materials;  any facility requiring licensing or zoning as a 
sexually oriented business;  second hand store;  odd lots;  close out or liquidation store;   flea market;  
junk yard;  sleeping quarters or lodging;  residential housing (single family or multi-family); the housing 
or raising of animals; car wash; assembly hall;  off-track betting establishment;  bingo parlor; any use 
involving the repair of automobiles, auto body shop, or related use as the primary business;  smelting;  
rendering;  refining;  or any other activity which causes or involves excessive emissions of oderodor, 

  No Reserve shall be used for any purpose which is noxious or offensive 



5 
 

Formatted: Centered

dust, fumes, smoke, or noise.  No Owner or Permittee shall engage in an activity within the Property, 
which has the effect of increasing premiums for any insurance carried by the Association or any other 
Owner or Permittee. 
 
2.5 Temporary Structures and Trailers.  No structure of a temporary character, including trailers, 
tents, shacks, barns, or other out-buildings shall be permitted on the Property at any time;  provided, 
however,  that a construction trailer or a temporary structure permitted under Applicable Laws may be 
used in connection with the construction of improvements on a Reserve. 
 
2.6 Monument Sign.  Only one monument sign shall be permitted on each Reserve and such sign 
shall be perpendicular to Public Street at such location on the stone or masonry column over the front 
entrance of the building on such Reserve as determined by the ARC and shall be of a design and same 
masonry material used on the front of the building. Only a monument sign which designates the name of 
the business which occupies the building on a Reserve shall be permitted. 
 
2.7  Building Sign.  Company identity sign is permitted above the entry or on the front wall of the 
building.  The sign must be on a wood or metal face plate and not higher than the building wall approved 
by the ARC, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  The following 
are prohibited:  (a) signs painted on a building wall or any other exterior surface of a building,  (b) 
flashing, moving, blinking or audible signs,  (c) paper or cardboard signs, temporary or movable signs, 
flag-streamers or banner signs, unless approved for temporary use by the ARC, or (d) signs located on 
top of or extending above a building.  In the event a building has multiple owners or tenants, all owners 
or tenants may be shown on the one permitted sign, subject to the approval of the ARC and the ARC 
shall have the right, and hereby reserves an easement, to enter upon any and all portions of a Reserve to 
move any signs that are in violation of this Section upon reasonable notice to the owner or lessee of such 
Reserve, all at the expense of such owner or lessee.  The ARC may promulgate sign guidelines which 
may be modified by the ARC from time to time in its discretion.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Industrial Park Sign which may be constructed at the entrance to the Property shall be located and of 
such design and materials and specifications as may from time to time be determined by the ARC. 
 
2.8 Outside Storage.  No outside storage of any kind will be permitted on any Reserve, unless such 
storage in behind the front edge of building, fenced and screened from view on all sides , and such 
storage does not interfere with Fire Department access.  The right of any Permittee of a Reserve to use 
any building or Reserve shall not be construed to permit the keeping or storing of articles, goods, 
materials, equipment, incinerators, storage tanks, dumpsters, refuse containers or like items in the open 
or exposed to public view.  No personal property, equipment or merchandise shall be kept, displayed, 
offered for sale or lease or stored within the Front Yard of any Reserve. 
 
2.9 Mineral Exploration.  No drilling, digging, quarrying, or minding operation of any sort shall be 
permitted on the Property. 
 
2.10 Hazardous Materials.

2.11 

  Bulk storage of flammable fluids must be maintained aboveground, in 
flash proof metal tanks, or protected by earthen fire walls.  No effluent containing harmful bacteria,  
poisonous acids,  oils,  or other harmful substances shall be permitted to drain into the storm drainage 
system or sanitary sewer for the Property or released beyond the property lines of a Reserve. 
 

Maintenance.   Each Owner of a Reserve and its Permittees shall at all times keep their 
respective premises,  buildings,  improvements,  and appurtenances in a well-maintained,  safe, clean,  
attractive,  and sanitary condition and shall comply with Applicable Law.  Trash, garbage, or other waste 
materials shall be kept only in sanitary containers constructed of metal, plastic, or masonry materials, 



6 
 

Formatted: Centered

with sanitary lids or covers.  All such containers and other equipment for the storage or disposal of such 
waste material shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition and shall be attractively screened from 
view,  behind a screened, Side Yard gate or fence from the adjoining  Reserve(s),  and the Road.  All 
rubbish,   trash, or garbage shall be regularly removed from the Property and shall not be allowed to 
accumulate thereon.   Any accumulation of trash shall be disposed of immediately by the Owner or 
Permitted causing same. If, in the opinion of the ARC, any such Owner or Permittee is failing in this 
duty and responsibility, then the ARC may give such Owner or Permittee, or both, notice of such fact, 
and such Owner or Permittee must, within 10 days of such notice, undertake the care and maintenance 
required to restore such Owner’s or Permittee’s reserve to a safe, clean, and attractive condition.  Should 
any such Owner or Permittee fail to fulfill this duty and responsibility after such notice, then the ARC 
shall have the right and power to perform, or have performed, such care and maintenance, including, 
without limitation, the mowing of any vacant Reserve, and the Owner and Permittee (and or both of 
them) of the Reserve on which such work is performed by the ARC shall be liable for the cost of any 
such work and shall promptly reimburse the ARC for the cost thereof.  Such indebtedness shall bear 
interest from the date that demand is made by the ARC until paid at the rate of 18% per annum and shall 
be secured in the same manner as the Annual Maintenance Charge, but in no event shall the interest rate 
exceed the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 
 
2.12 Parking and Access.  Parking for each Reserve and its Permittees shall be permitted only on the 
Reserve and only in designated area from time to time improved for parking, paved with concrete or 
other materials approved by the ARC; and no Permittee or vehicles serving Permittee shall have any 
right to park on the Road or block vehicular access to such Road.  No large trucks or other vehicles 
larger than a pick-up truck will be permitted to park in the areas designated and improved for automobile 
parking on each Reserve.  No use shall be made of any Reserve or any building constructed thereon 
which requires or is reasonably expected to require or attract parking in excess of the capacity of the 
parking facilities maintained on the Reserve or the requirements of Governmental Authority.  No repair 
or maintenance work on automobiles, trucks, trailers and other vehicles shall be performed on the 
Reserve, except in building constructed for such purpose.  Each parking area and truck apron located in 
the Front Yard of a Reserve shall remain unobstructed to vehicular access. 
 
2.13 Firearms and Explosives.  The discharge of firearms of any kind or nature in the Property is 
strictly prohibited and no hunting of wild game or birds of any species by any method is allowed therein.  
Explosive devices shall not be utilized on any Reserve except with prior written permission from the 
ARC. 
 
2.14 Subdivision.   No subdivision of a Reserve shall be permitted without the prior written approval 
of the ARC, which approval may be either withheld or conditioned upon compliance with such 
additional requirements and covenants as the ARC may reasonably impose. 
 
2.15  Building Construction

2.16 

.  The construction of any and all improvements on a Reserve shall at all 
times be in strict compliance with the Plans approved by the ARC, this Declaration, and Applicable Law. 
Each building to be located on a Reserve shall be constructed with insulated metallic exterior panels over 
steel frame construction, or better, and with a minimum of 40% masonry material on the front of the 
building, excluding window area. Only new construction materials (except for used brick) may be used 
in constructing a structure or improvements situated on a Reserve unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the ARC. Roofs shall be metallic as from time to time established by the ARC in the Design 
Standards. 
 

Landscaping.   All open unpaved space on any Reserve shall be planted and landscaped in a 
manner meeting the minimum standard described in this section below.  Landscaping in accordance with 



7 
 

Formatted: Centered

approved Plans, must be completed within 30 days following the initial occupancy of any building or 
improvement constructed on a Reserve Maintenance of all landscape areas (including replacement of any 
landscaping as needed) shall be the responsibility of the Owner.  If the Owner fails to restore the 
landscaping or trees as originally approved, the ARC shall have the right to do so out of the Maintenance 
Fund and assess the charges back to the Owner.   
 
Building Landscaping – The building side next to the street, and the building front entry area’sareas, if 
different, must have sufficient landscaping next to the building and at the entry featuring shrubs, hedges, 
flowers, and ground cover in any combination, to provide a tasteful appearance of green space. 
 
Street trees – Must be planted in or adjacent to public rights-of-way; one tree for every 30 feet of road 
frontage.  Street trees must be planted at least 20 feet apart without extreme variation in the spacing 
excluding site conditions and driveways.  An existing street tree in the abutting street right-of-way may 
count toward the requirement of one required tree (as listed on the street tree list in Exhibit C). 
 
Parking lot trees – Each parking space must be within 120 feet of a parking lot or street tree.  One tree 
for every 10 spaces is required.  At least one-half of the parking lot trees will be large parking lot trees 
(as listed on the parking lot tree list as listed in Exhibit C). 
 
Shrubs – At least 75% must be planted along the perimeter of parking lots with the remainder planted 
along or within the perimeter (as listed on the shrub list in Exhibit C); 10 shrubs for each required street 
tree. 
 
Landscape buffers – Screening fence, with a minimum height of six feet, located along the property line 
between two adjacent properties; must be constructed with cedar fence using steel poles in the ground, or 
chain link fence with 100% screening slats, or better.  Alternative buffer is planted evergreen trees and/or 
shrubs along the property lines, a minimum shrub size of 5 gallon, and a minimum tree size of 10 gallon.    
 
2.17  Auxiliary Structures.  No auxiliary structures separate and apart from the building, shall be 
located on any Reserve without the written consent of the ARC, which may be withheld, conditioned or 
delayed at its sole discretion. 
 
2.18  Storage of Building Material.  Without the prior written consent of the ARC, no building 
material of any kind or character shall be placed or stored upon any Reserve more than 30 days before 
the construction of a structure or improvement is commenced. All materials permitted to be placed on a 
Reserve shall be placed within the property lines of the Reserve. At the completion of such building or 
improvements, any unused materials shall be removed immediately from the Reserve. 
 
2.19  Exempt Property.   None of the use restrictions contained in Article II shall apply to the Shared 
Use Facilities in section 1.29. 
 
2.20  Use of "Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd.”.   The name "Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd." shall 
not be used in connection with any business or trade or operations on or any portion of the Property 
without the prior written consent of ARC, which consent ARC may withhold, condition or delay in its 
sole discretion. All rights, titles and interest in and to the name "Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd.

2.21  

" are 
expressly reserved and retained by Declarant until end of the Control Period whereupon such name shall 
belong to and be the property of the Association. 
 

Building Setbacks.  No building shall be constructed closer to the front property line than 25 
feet; no closer to either side line than 10 feet, and no closer to the rear property line 10 feet.  No building 



8 
 

Formatted: Centered

or other structure, except as herein provided, shall be constructed in any Side Yard and no expansion or 
addition to any building or other structure, except as herein provided, shall be permitted in any Back 
Yard. Truck wells, truck aprons, parking areas, driveways, roadways, walkways, light standards, 
curbing,  paving, entrances, exits, and other similar exterior site improvements may be located in the 
Front Yard.  Requirements that may from time to time exist to permit access by fire and other emergency 
services, including a Fire Department approved access lock. 

 
ARTICLE III. 

 
    APPROVAL OF PLANS 

 
3.1  Approval.   No building, structure, or improvement of any kind (including, without limitation, 
landscaping, exterior lighting, and fences) shall be erected, placed, constructed, maintained, modified, 
altered, or improved on any Reserve until the Plans have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the ARC and thereafter approved by the appropriate Governmental Authority (if required). 
 
3.2  Criteria

(i)  Applicable Law. 

.   In determining whether such Plans shall be approved, the ARC may take into 
consideration all factors deemed appropriate by the ARC, including, without limitation, the following: 
 

(a)  Compliance with this Declaration; 
 

(b)  Kind and quality of the building materials or improvements and their suitability; 
 

(c)  Kind and quality of the proposed landscaping; 
 

(d) Harmony, compatibility, and the conformity of the design of such building or 
improvement with existing and proposed buildings and improvements on the Property and with 
the design or overall character and aesthetics of the Property; 
 
(e)  Location of such building, improvements, and landscaping within the Reserve on which 
it will be constructed or placed; 

 
(f)  Square footage; 
 
(g)  Compliance with the Design Standards (hereinafter defined), if any; 

 
(h)  Compliance with the Rules and Regulations; and 

 

 
3.3  Approval of Plans.   The ARC shall approve or disapprove the Plans in accordance with the 
following procedures: 
 

(a)  Owner shall deliver to the ARC, 2 complete sets of the Plans, together with samples of 
materials and colors and such other documentation or information as may be deemed pertinent 
and required by the ARC. The ARC may require submission of additional plans, specifications, 
or other information prior to approving or disapproving the proposed Plans. Until receipt by the 
ARC of all required materials in connection with the proposed Plans, the ARC may postpone 
review of any materials submitted for approval. The submitting Owner shall pay all reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred by the ARC to review the proposed Plans. 



9 
 

Formatted: Centered

 
(b)  If the Plans are approved by the ARC, a letter of approval, including a description of 
qualifications or required modifications, if any, shall be prepared for the countersignature of the 
Owner. Such approval shall be dated and shall not be effective for construction commenced 
more than 6 months after such approval. If construction is not commenced within 6 months after 
such approval, the Owner shall not begin construction of any building or improvement of any 
kind until the corresponding Plans have been resubmitted and reapproved by the ARC in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section. 
 
(c)  If the Plans are disapproved by the ARC, one set of such Plans shall be returned marked 
"Disapproved", and shall be accompanied by a statement by the ARC setting forth the reasons 
for disapproval. 

 
(d)  The ARC may from time to time (but shall not be obligated to) promulgate architectural 
and landscaping standards for the design and construction of improvements within the Property 
and for the design and installation of landscaping on the Reserves (the "Design Standards"). A 
copy of the Design Standards in effect at the time will be furnished to any Owner upon written 
request therefor. Such Design Standards shall supplement this Declaration and may make other 
and further provisions as to the approval and disapproval of Plans, prohibited materials, and 
other matters relating to the appearance, design and quality of improvements or landscaping. 
Such Design Standards, as they may be promulgated from time to time by the ARC, shall be 
incorporated in this Declaration by this reference as if set forth at length herein. 

 
3.4  Building Decision.   All decisions of the ARC shall be final, conclusive and binding and there 
shall be no review of any action of the ARC. 
 
3.5  Effect of Approval.   No approval of Plans and no publication of Design Standards shall ever be 
construed as representing or implying that such Plans, specifications, or standards will, if followed, result 
in a properly constructed structure complying with all Applicable Law. Approval of applicable 
Governmental AuthortiesAuthorities is required prior to any construction.  Such approvals and standards 
shall in no event be construed as a representation, warranty, or guaranty by the ARC that any structure 
will be built in a good or workmanlike manner. Neither Declarant, the Association, the members of the 
ARC, or any of their representatives, shall be liable in damages to anyone submitting Plans to the ARC 
for approval, or to any Owner or Permittee of any part of the Property affected by this Declaration, by 
reason of or in connection with the approval or disapproval or failure to approve any Plans submitted. 
Every person who submits Plans to the ARC for approval agrees, by submission of such Plans, and every 
Owner or Permittee of any portion of the Property involved therein agrees, by acquiring title thereto or 
any interest therein, that such Owner or Permittee will not bring any action or suit against the Declarant, 
the Association, any of the members of the ARC, or any of their representatives, to recover any such 
damages and each, by acceptance of such conveyance, hereby waives all such claims and causes of 
action. 
 
3.6  Inspection.  The ARC or its duly authorized representative shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to inspect any improvements to a Reserve prior to or after completion. 
 
3.7  Non- Waiver

3.8  

.  No action or failure to act by the ARC shall constitute a waiver or estoppel with 
respect to future action by the ARC. 
 

Variance.   The ARC may authorize variances from compliance with the requirements of this 
Declaration due to circumstances warranting such variance in the opinion of the ARC such as 



10 
 

Formatted: Centered

topography, natural obstructions, hardship, aesthetic or environmental considerations and the shape and 
configuration of the particular Reserve for which the variance is sought. Such variances must be 
evidenced in writing and shall become effective when signed by the representatives of the ARC. The 
granting 'of a variance shall not operate to waive any of the provisions of this Declaration for any 
purpose except as to the particular Reserve and particular provision described therein, nor shall the 
granting of a variance affect in any way the Owner's obligation to comply with Applicable Law. 
 
3.9  Deemed Approval.   In the event of any request for approval, variance, or exception to these 
Restrictions, or approval of any proposed action by an Owner where a construction of this Declaration is 
required is made to the ARC, the ARC shall, within 30 days after the request is made and receipt of all of 
the Plans, materials, documentation, and information described in Section 3.3, give the person making 
the request, at such person's address as shown in the request, written notification either of the approval 
by the ARC, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, or of its rejection of the request, with 
specification of the reasons for such rejection. If the ARC falls to give to the person requesting such 
approval notification of rejection within such 30 day period, the ARC shall be conclusively deemed to 
have given its approval. Any approval or rejection given by the ARC, and any written approval, 
rejection, or other communication by the ARC may be relied upon, as the act of the ARC, by the person 
receiving such approval, rejection, or other communication. 
 
3.10  Commencement.   Construction of improvements must be commenced upon a Reserve by the 
Owner thereof within eighteen (18) months after the date such Reserve is first conveyed by Declarant to 
an Owner. 
 
3.11 Completion of Work.   After commencement of construction of any structure or improvement on 
the Reserve, the work thereon shall be prosecuted diligently, to the end that the structure or 
improvements shall not remain in a partly finished condition any longer than reasonably necessary for 
completion thereof. Unless otherwise authorized in writing by the ARC prior to commencement of 
construction, the construction of any structure or improvement on a Reserve shall be completed within 
(one) 1 year from the date of commencement of construction, excepting delays due to strikes, war, acts 
of God or other causes beyond the control of the Owner. 
 

ARTICLE IV. 
 

ALTERATIONS, MAINTENANCE, AND REPAIRS 
 

4.1  Alterations.  Subject to the terms and provisions of this Declaration and the Rules and 
Regulations, each Owner shall have the right to make alterations, modifications, and repairs, including 
structural alterations, to such Owner's Reserve and improvements, provided that such action is performed 
in a good and workmanlike manner, causes minimum inconvenience to the other Owners, and does not 
constitute a nuisance. Alterations, modifications or repairs which would change the exterior color, 
materials, or shape of the improvements must be approved by the ARC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
if any of the above described actions is performed without the prior approval of the ARC of the Plans 
therefor in accordance with Article III of this Declaration, the ARC may require (but shall be under no 
obligation to require) the Owner to remove or eliminate any paint color, decoration, or other object 
situated on such Owner's improvements or Reserve that is visible from any Road, Common Driveway, or 
from any other Reserve, if, in the ARC's sole judgment, such object detracts from the visual 
attractiveness of the Property or is inconsistent with the design or overall character and aesthetics of the 
Property. 
 



11 
 

Formatted: Centered

4.2  Maintenance.   Except for landscaping and Shared Use Facilities to be maintained by the 
Association, each Owner shall maintain such Owner's Reserve, together with the improvements, 
driveways, fences, landscaping, light standards and fixtures, sanitary, storm water, water and drainage 
lines and facilities which service only such Owner's Reserve and improvements, including the point of 
the connection of such lines and facilities to the Shared Use Facilities, in good working order and repair 
and in an attractive condition at all times. If any Owner fails to comply with the requirements of this 
Section, the Association may, but shall not be obligated to, without liability to such Owner or any 
occupant in trespass or otherwise, enter upon such Reserve, maintain or repair any of same, in which 
case such Owner shall upon demand pay the Association's cost of same. Such indebtedness shall bear 
interest from the date that demand is made by the Association until paid at the rate of 18% per annum 
and shall be secured in the same manner as the Annual Maintenance Charge, but in no event shall the 
interest rate exceed the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 
 
 

ARTICLE V. 

SHARED USE FACILITIES 

5.1       Dedication.  The Common Area and Shared Use Facilities are hereby designated and 
dedicated for the benefit of all Owners and Permittees of the Property. Declarant shall convey the 
Common Area and Shared Use Facilities to the Association. The cost of the initial construction 
of the Shared Use Facilities shall be borne solely by Declarant. 

 
5.2       Operation of Common Area and Shared Use Facilities.  The Association shall own, improve, 
manage, maintain, repair, replace, insure, and operate the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities 
as herein provided and as provided for in the By-laws and Rules and Regulations. The  
Association  shall  improve  the  Common  Area  and  Shared  Use  Facilities  as  needed  in 
connection  with the development  of the Property, and such improvement  shall be accomplished 
as required by the specifications  and regulations of the Governmental  Authority. The Association 
shall (a) maintain the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities to a standard required by the 
Governmental Authority, and in an attractive, safe and clean condition at all times, (b) shall keep 
the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities insured as deemed appropriate by the Board, and (c) 
shall pay all taxes assessed against the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities. 

 
5.3       Partition Waiver. The Owners hereby waive the right to partition any part of the Common 
Area and Shared Use Facilities to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law. 

 
ARTICLE  VI. 

 
EASEMENTS 

 
6.1       Easement Dedication.  Subject to any express conditions, limitations, or reservations 
contained herein, the Property, and all Owners and Permittees of the Reserves, shall be 
benefited and burdened by the following non-exclusive, perpetual, and reciprocal easements: 

 
(a)  Access, Ingress, and Egress.  An  easement  for  reasonable  access,  ingress,  and 
egress  over  all  paved  driveways,   roadways,  and  walkways  as  presently  or  hereafter 
constructed  and constituting  a part of the Common  Driveway,  so  as to provide for the 
passage of motor vehicles and pedestrians  between all Reserves to the Common 
Driveway, and to and from the Road furnishing access to such Reserves. 



12 
 

Formatted: Centered

 
(b)       Shared Use Facilities. An easement upon, under, over, above, and across the Yards 
on each Reserve, including the right of reasonable ingress and egress required, for the 
installation, maintenance, repair and replacement  of the Shared  Use Facilities, including: 
water  mains; storm  water  collection,  retention,  detention  and  distribution lines; storm 
drains;  sewers;   sanitary  sewer  lines, firewater lines, water sprinkler system lines; telephone 
or electrical conduits or systems; cable; gas mains; conduits; pipes; and other apparatus; and 
other utility facilities necessary for the orderly development  and operation of  the  Shared  
Use  Facilities,  from  time  to  time  located  on  the  Property;  provided however, (i) all 
such facilities shall be installed and maintained below the ground level or surface of the 
Property (except for such parts thereof that cannot and are not intended  to be placed 
below the surface, such as transformers  and control  panels); and (ii) the exact location of 
any utilities shall be subject  to the reasonable approval of the Owner(s) of the burdened 
Reserve(s). 

 
(c)       Sign Easement.  Declarant shall have the right (but no obligation) at its sole cost 
and expense, to construct a Business Park Sign at the entrance to the Park in the area 
shown on the Site Plan. The Business Park Sign shall identify the Park and display such 
other information as Declarant may from time to time determine.  In  the  event  the 
Declarant  does  not construct  a Business  Park  Sign  on or  before  the expiration  of  the 
Control Period, the Association shall have the right (but no obligation), at its sole cost and 
expense, to construct  a Business Park Sign. The Association shall maintain the Business 
Park Sign in good condition and repair. There is hereby created in favor of the Declarant, 
and upon expiration of the Control Period, in favor of the Association, for the benefit of 
the Property, an easement upon the area shown on the Site Plan for installation, replacing, 
repairing and maintaining the Business Park Sign. 

 
(d)       Future Public Utility Easements. In lieu of the Declarant  reserving easements on, 
over, under, and across the Property that may be unnecessary or unused, each Owner 
covenants  and  agrees,  upon  written  request  from  another  Owner  and  a  public  utility 
provider, to dedicate  and convey a 10 foot  public utility easement  on, over, under, and 
across such  Owner's  Reserve for the benefit of the requesting  Owner's  Reserve; 
provided, however, such  public  utility  easement(s)  shall  be  located,  as  near  as  
possible,  to  the boundary lines of  the  burdened  Reserve(s).  The form of the utility 
easement(s) shall be similar in form and substance to other utility easements required by 
the utility provider and subject to the other terms and provisions of this Declaration. 

 
6.2       Indemnification.   Each   Owner   having   rights   with   respect   to  an   easement   granted 
hereunder  ("Benefited  Owner")  shall indemnify and hold the Owner whose Reserve is subject 
to the easement harmless from and against all claims, liabilities, and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys'  fees) relating to accidents,  injuries,  loss, or damage of or to any person 
or property arising from the negligent,  intentional, or willful acts or omissions of such 
Benefited Owner, its contractors, employees, agents, or others acting on behalf of such Benefited 
Owner. 

 
6.3       Use of  

(a)        

Easements. 
 

General. The easements  herein above granted shall  be used and enjoyed  by each 
Owner  and  its  Permittees  in  such  manner  so  as  not  to  unreasonably  interfere  with, 



13 
 

Formatted: Centered

obstruct or delay the conduct and operations of the business of any other Owner or its 
Permittees  at  any  time  conducted  on  its  Reserve,  including,  without  limitation,  
public access to and from said business, and the receipt or delivery of merchandise in 
connection therewith. 

 
(b)       Interference and Relocation. Once the Shared Use Facilities are installed pursuant 
to the easements   granted   above, no permanent   building, structures, trees or other 
improvements inconsistent with the use and enjoyment of such easements shall be placed 
over or permitted to encroach upon such installations. 

 
(c)       Construction. Once commenced, any construction undertaken in reliance upon an 
easement granted herein shall be diligently prosecuted to completion, so as to minimize any 
interference with the business of any other Owner and its Permittees. Except in cases of 
emergency,  the right of any Owner to enter  upon a Reserve of another Owner for the 
exercise of any right pursuant  to the interferes set  forth, or to prosecute work on such 
Owner's   own  Reserve  if  the  same  interferes  with  the  casements,   in  favor  of  another 
Owner's reserve ,  shall  be  undertaken  only  in  such  a  manner  so  as  to  minimize  any 
interference with the business of the other Owner and its Permittees. In such case, no 
affirmative monetary obligation shall be imposed upon the other Owner, and the Owner 
undertaking such work shall with due diligence repair at its sole cost and expense any and 
all damage caused by such work and restore the affected portion of the Reserve upon which 
such work is performed to a condition which is equal to or better than the condition which 
existed prior to the commencement of such work.  In addition, the Owner undertaking such 
work shall pay all costs and expenses associated therewith and shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the other Owner(s) and its Permittees from all damages, losses, liens or claims 
attributable to the performance of such work. 

 
(d)        Non-Exclusive.  The easements herein granted are not exclusive.  

 
 

ARTICLE VII. 

                                                

7.1        

MANAGEMENT OF THE PROPETY 

Management of Property. The affairs of the Property shall be managed by the Declarant 
until the formation of the Association.  All referenced herein to the Association shall mean the 
Declarant until the Association is formed. The  Association  shall  have  the  right,  power  and 
obligation  to  provide  for  the  management,  maintenance,   repair,  replacement,  administration, 
insuring and operation of the Property as herein provided and as provided for in the By-laws and 
in the Rules and Regulations.  The business affairs of the Association shall be managed by its 
Board of Directors. Until the expiration of the Control Period, the Declarant shall have absolute, 
complete and exclusive control of the Association and the Board of Directors, regardless of how 
many other Owners may acquire Reserves during such period of time. The Declarant, in its 
sole discretion, may appoint a Board of Directors during the Control Period. The Board of 
Directors appointed by Declarant is herein referred to as the "Appointed Board".  The appointed 
Board shall administer the Association's and the Property's affairs until the first annual meeting 
of the Members of the Association is held and a Board of Directors is elected by the Members. 
The Board of Directors elected at the first annual meeting of Members of the Association is 
herein called the “First Elected Board”.  The Declarant shall have the power, exercisable at any time and 
from time to time, to remove any Director of the Appointed Board and appoint a successor, as well as to 



14 
 

Formatted: Centered

appoint a success for any position for any position on the Appointed Board which becomes vacant. The 
Appointed Board may engage the Declarant or any other party, whether or not affiliated with Declarant, to 
perform the day to day functions of the Association and to provide for the management, maintenance, 
repair, replacement, administration, insuring, and operation of the Property. 
 
7.2       Membership in the Association.  Each  Owner,  including  Declarant  during the period of 
time  in  which  Declarant  owns  any  Reserve,  shall  be a  Member  in  the  Association  and  
such membership shall terminate automatically  when such ownership  ceases; provided, however, 
that in the event Declarant shall transfer ownership of all Reserves prior to the expiration of the 
Control Period,  Declarant  shall  nevertheless   be  considered a member in the Association the 
expiration of such period of time, and shall have all voting and other rights granted to Declarant 
under this Article and otherwise  in this Declaration  until the expiration  of such period of time. 
Upon the transfer of ownership of a Reserve, howsoever achieved, the new Owner thereof shall, 
concurrently with such transfer, become a Member in the Association. 

 
7.3  Voting Rights. Until the expiration  of the Control Period, Declarant shall have all voting 
power, and  no other  Member shall  have any  voting  power  whatsoever  during such  period  of 
time; thereafter, the total voting power shall be the sum of votes that correspond to the number of 
Reserves, with all votes in the Association  to be on the basis of one vote being allocated  to 
each Reserve owned  by such  Owner. In the event that ownership interests in a Reserve are 
owned by more than one Owner, such Owners shall exercise their right to vote in such manner as 
they may among themselves determine, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast for 
Reserve. Such Owners shall appoint one of them as the Member who shall  be entitled  to exercise  
the vote for that Reserve at any meeting of the Association  and until such Owners  so designate  
who shall  be the Member entitled  to vote, no single  Owner  of such  Reserve shall be entitled  
to vote. Such designation shall be made in written notice to the Board. The Board shall be 
entitled to rely on any such designation until written notice revoking such designation is received 
by the Board. In the event that a Reserve is owned  by more  than one Member  of  the 
Association  and no single Member is designated  to vote on behalf of the Members having  an 
ownership  interest  in such Reserve, then none of such  Members shall  be allowed  to vote. All 
Members of the Association may attend meetings of the Association and all voting Members may 
exercise their vote at such meetings either in person or by proxy. 

 
7.4       Meeting of Members. The first annual meeting of the Members of the Association  shall 
be held within  60 days  after  the expiration  of  the Control  Period,  when called  by either  the 
Appointed  Board or Declarant,  upon no less than 10 and no more than 50 days'  prior written 
notice to the Members. The First Elected Board shall be elected at the first annual meeting of the 
Members of the Association. Thereafter, annual and special meetings of the Members of the 
Association shall be held at such place and time and on such dates as shall be specified in the 
By-laws. The Declarant  may convene  a special  meeting of  the Members  of the Association  at 
any  time  and  from  time  to  time  prior  to  the  first  annual  meeting  of  the  Members  of  the 
Association for such purposes as the Declarant may deem appropriate. 
7.5       Dispute Resolutions.  In addition to its other powers conferred by law or hereunder, the 
Board shall be empowered to create procedures for resolving disputes between or among Owners, 
the Board and/or the Association, including appointment of committees to consider and 
recommend resolution of any such disputes. 
 
7.6      Delegation of Authority.  ARC or the Board may retain, hire, employ or contract for the 
construction, maintenance, repair, landscaping, insuring, administration and operation of the Property 
as provided for herein and as provided for in the By-laws. 



15 
 

Formatted: Centered

 
7.7       Non-Liability of Board.  Any act ion, inaction or omission by the Board made or taken in 
good faith shall not subject the Board or any individual member of the Board to any liability to 
the Association, its Members, or any other party. 

 
7.8       Board Elections.  In accordance with the By-laws, the Board shall elect, at lease annually, a 
President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers and 
assistant officers as it may designate.  The President shall be the chief executive officer of the 
Association. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Association. The President shall 
have all the general powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of president of an 
association. The Secretary shall keep all the minutes of all meetings of the Board and the minutes 
of all meetings of the Association, and shall be in charge of such books and papers as the Board 
may direct. The Secretary shall keep and update a complete list of Members, showing opposite 
each Member's name the number of the Reserve owned by such Member. The Treasurer shall have 
responsibility  for  Association  funds  and  shall  be  responsible  for  keeping  full  and accurate 
accounts of all receipt and disbursements  in books belonging to the Association. The Treasurer 
shall also be responsible for the deposit of all monies and other valuable effects in the name, and 
to the credit of, the Association in such depositories as may from time to time be designated by 
the Board. 

 
7.9       Action without Meeting.   Notwithstanding any provision in this Declaration to the contrary, 
all actions of the Members, ARC, Board, or any committee of the Board provided for herein may 
be taken by unanimous written consent without a meeting, or any meeting thereof may be held 
by means of a telephone conference or the like, to the full ex tent pem1itted by law. 

 
 

ARTICLE VIII. 
 

ANNUAL MAINTENANCE CHARGE AND MAINTENANCE  FUND 
 

8.1      Annual Maintenance Charge

8.2     

.  Each  Parce1 shall  be subject  to an Annual  Maintenance 
Charge  in  an  amount  to  be  set   by  the  Declarant   or  Board.  The  amount  of  the  Annual 
Maintenance Charge for each Reserve may be increased or decreased from time to time, as 
needed to  pay  for  the  expenses  of  the  Association.  However,  after  the  initial  Annual  
Maintenance Charge has been established, if any such change would increase the Annual 
Maintenance Charge by more than 20% of the amount of Annual Maintenance  Charge  prior to 
such change (for any reason other than increases in taxes or insurance, the introduction  of new 
or additional services, or a requirement of a Governmental  Authority), the change  must  be 
approved  by a Majority of the Members. The Annual Maintenance Charge and any special 
assessments provided for in this Declaration shall be based on the number of square feet of land 
contained in each Reserve.  

 
Maintenance Fund. The Annual Maintenance Charges collected shall be paid into the 

Maintenance Fund, for the benefit of the Property.  The Board  shall  expend  the Maintenance 
Fund  for  the  maintenance,   repair,  replacement,   insuring,  administration,  management   and 
operation of the Common Areas and Shared Use Facilities; for the payment of taxes; for the 
performance of the duties of the Board and the Association as set forth herein; and, for the 
enforcement  of this Declaration  by action at law or in equity, or otherwise. The Board and its 



16 
 

Formatted: Centered

individual members shall not be liable to any person as a result of action taken by the Board with 
respect to the Maintenance Fund, except for willful misconduct or fraud . 

 
8.3       Special Assessments. If the Board at any time (and from time to time) determines that the 
Annual  Maintenance  Charges  assessed  for any  period are insufficient  to provide  for its stated 
purpose, then the Board shall have the authority to levy such special assessments as it shall deem 
necessary  to provide  for  the same.  No special assessment shall be effective until the same is 
approved in writing by a Majority of Members.  Any such special assessment shall be payable, 
and the payment thereof may be enforced, in the manner herein specified for the payment of the 
Annual Maintenance Charges. 

 
8.4       Payment. The Annual Maintenance Charge assessed against each Owner shall be due and 
payable, in advance, annually on the date detem1ined from time to time by the Board, subject to 
the appropriate adjustment based upon actual expenses incurred. Any such amount not paid and 
received  by the 15th  after  the due  date  thereof  shall  be deemed  delinquent,  and,  without 
notice, shall bear interest at a rate of 18% per annum until paid, but in no event shall the interest 
rate exceed the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. The Board, at its option, may impose 
and collect late charges on delinquent payments. 

 
8.5  Lien to Secure Payment.  To  secure  the  payment  of  the  Annual  Maintenance  Charge, 
special  assessments  levied  hereunder,  and  any  other  sums  due  hereunder  (including,  without 
limitation, interest, late fees or delinquency  charges),  a vendor's lien and superior title shall  be 
and is hereby reserved, and a contractual  lien is hereby created, in favor of the Association,  in 
and to each Reserve and improvements  which liens shall be enforceable as hereinafter set forth 
by the Association or the Board on behalf of the Association. The liens described in this Article 
and the superior  title herein  reserved  shall  be deemed  subordinate  to  any Mortgage  to secure  
the repayment of a loan made to an Owner for the purpose of acquiring a Reserve and/or 
constructing improvements  thereon,  and  any  renewal,  extension,  rearrangements, or  
refinancing  thereof; provided, however, no foreclosure of any Mortgage shall free any Reserve 
from the liens securing the  Annual  Maintenance   Charges,  special  assessments, or  any  other  
sums  due  hereunder becoming due  and payable after such foreclosure.  The collection  of such  
Annual Maintenance Charges,  special  assessments,  and  other  sums  due  hereunder  may,  in  
addition  to  any  other applicable method at law or inequity, be enforced  by suit for a money 
judgment and in the event of such suit, the expense incurred in collecting such delinquent 
amounts, including interest, costs and attorney's fees shall be chargeable  to and be a personal 
obligation  of the defaulting Owner. In no event shall the foreclosure of any Mortgage extinguish 
or discharge the personal obligation of  the  foreclosed  Owner  to  pay  Annual  Maintenance   
Charges,  special  assessments  levied hereunder  or any other  sums due hereunder.  The voting 
right of any Owner in default in the payment of the  Annual  Maintenance  Charge, or  other 
charge  owing  hereunder  for  which  an Owner is liable, shall be automatically revoked for the 
period during which such default exists. 

 
8.6      Notice of Lien.  Notice  of the lien  referred  to  in  this  Articles  may  be given by  the 
recordation  in the Office  of  the County  Clerk  of Fort Bend County, Texas  of an  affidavit,  
duly executed, sworn to and acknowledged  by an officer of the Association, setting forth the 
amount owed, the name of  the Owner or  Owners of  the affected  Reserve  according  to the 
books  and records of the Association, and the legal description of such Reserve. 

 



17 
 

Formatted: Centered

8.7  Enforcement of Lien.  Each Owner,  by acceptance  of a  deed  to such  Owner's Reserve, 
hereby expressly recognizes the existence of such lien as being prior to such Owner's ownership of 
such Reserve and hereby vests in the Board the right and power to bring all actions against such 
Owner  personally  for  the  collection  of  such  unpaid  Annual  Maintenance  Charge, special 
assessments and other sums due hereunder  as a debt, and to  enforce  the aforesaid lien by all 
methods available for  the  enforcement   of  such   liens,  both   by judicial and  non-judicial 
foreclosure.  Additionally,  by  acceptance  of  the  deed  to  such  Owner's Reserve,  each  Owner 
expressly GRANTS, BARGAINS, SELLS AND CONVEYS to the President  of the Association 
from time to time serving, as trustee (and to any substitute  or successor  trustee as hereinafter 
provided), such Owner's Reserve and all improvements thereon, and all rights appurtenant thereto, 
in  trust,  for  the  purpose   of  securing   the  aforesaid   Annual  Maintenance   Charge, special 
assessments and other sums due hereunder remaining unpaid by such Owner from time to time. 
The trustee herein designated may be changed at any time by execution of an instrument in writing 
signed by the President of the Association and filed in the Office of the County Clerk of Fort Bend 
County, Texas.  In the event  of  the election  by the Board  to foreclose  the lien  herein provided, 
for nonpayment of sums secured to be paid by such lien, then it shall be the duty of the trustee, or 
his successor,  as hereinabove  provided, at the request of the Board (which request shall be 
presumed) to enforce this trust and to sell such Reserve and all improvements thereon , and all rights 
appurtenant  thereto, at the door of the County Court house of Fort Bend County, Texas, on the first 
Tuesday  in an y month  between the hours of  10:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. to the highest bidder for 
cash  after  the trustee and  the Board, respectively,  shall have  given  notices of  the proposed 
sale in the manner hereinafter set forth, or otherwise in the manner then provided by the Texas 
Foreclosure  Statute (hereinafter  defined).  Following sale,  the trustee shall make due conveyance  
of the Reserve  and all  improvements  thereon  to the  purchaser  or  purchasers,  with general 
warranty of title to such purchaser or purchasers binding upon the Owner of such Reserve and all  
improvements thereon  and  their  heirs, executors,  administrators  and successors. The trustee 
shall give notice of such  proposed  sale  by posting a written  notice of time, place, and terms of 
the sale for at least 21 consecutive  days preced ing the date of sale at the Courthouse door of 
Fort Bend County, Texas,  by filing such  notice with the County  Clerk of Fort Bend County, 
Texas, at least 21 consecutive days preceding the date of sale, and, in addition, the Board shall 
serve written notice at least 21 days preceding the date of sale by certified mail on each of such 
Owner according  to the records  of  the Association  of such  sale or shall otherwise  cause  the 
notice thereof  to comply  with the provisions of Section 51.002 of the Texas  Property Code it 
may be amended or recodified from time to time ("Texas Foreclosure Statute"). Service of such 
notice  shall  be  completed  upon  deposit  of  the  notice  in  the  United  States   mail,  properly 
addressed to such Owner at the most recent address as Sshown by the records of the Association. 
The affidavit of any person having knowledge of the facts to the effect that such service was 
completed shall be prima facie evidence of the fact of such service. 

 
8.8       Post Foreclosure.  At any  foreclosure,  judicial  or  non-judicial,  the Association  shall  be 
entitled to bid up to the amount of the sum secured  by its lien, together with costs and attorney's 
fees, and to apply as a cash credit against its bid all sums due to the Association covered  by the 
lien  foreclosed.  From  and  after  any  such  foreclosure,  the occupants  of  such  Reserve  shall  
be required to pay a reasonable rent for the use of such Reserve and such occupancy shall 
constitute a tenancy-at-sufferance,  and   the  purchaser  at  such  foreclosure  sale  shall   be  
entitled   to  the appointment of a receiver to collect such rents and further, shall be entitled to sue 
for recovery of possession of such Reserve by forcible detainer without further notice. 

 



18 
 

Formatted: Centered

ARTICLE IX. 

INSURANCE 

9.1       Hazard Insurance.  Each Owner  shall keep, at its own expense, all improvements  on its 
Reserve insured against Joss or damage  by fire, windstorm, hail, explosion, damage from aircraft 
and vehicles, and smoke damage, and such other risks as are from time to time included  in the 
broad  form  "extended   coverage"   endorsements   generally   written   in   the  Houston,   Texas 
metropolitan area. 

 
9.2       Liability Insurance.  Each  Owner  shall  maintain,  at  its  own  expense,  general  public 
liability insurance against claims for personal injury or death and property damage occasioned  by 
accident occurring upon, in or about that Owner's  Reserve, such insurance to provide protection 
in each case of not less than: (i) $2,000,000 in respect  of injury or death  to any one person; 
(ii) 
$3,000,000  in  respect  of  injury  or  death  to  any  number  of  persons  arising  out  of  any  one 
occurrence, and (iii) $500,000  per occurrence in respect of any instances of property damage. 

 
ARTICLE X. 

 
TERM 

 
This Declaration shall  run with and  bind the Property, and shall  inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable  by the Association, Declarant, the Owner of any Reserve subject  to this Declaration 
and their respective  heirs, legal  representatives,  successors,  and assigns for a term of 40 years 
from  the  date  this  Declaration   is  recorded  in Fort Bend  County,  Texas,  after  which  time  
this Declaration shall be automatically  extended for successive  periods of 10 years;  provided, 
however,  that  in  the event  an  instrument  terminating  this  Declaration  is  signed  by  Owners 
owning  at  least 75% of  all  of  the  Reserves  and  recorded  in  Real  Property  Records  of  Fort 
Bend County,  Texas  at  least  180  days  before  the  expiration  of  the  initial  40  year  period  or  
any subsequent 10 year period, then this Declaration shall terminate at the end of such 40 year 
period or such 10  year period, as the case may be. 

 
 

ARTICLE XI. 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

11.1    Enforcement.   Each   Owner   shall   comply   with   the provisions of this   Declaration. 
Declarant, the Association,  or any Owner shall  have the right to enforce  by any proceedings  at 
Jaw or  in equity  all  restrictions,  conditions,  covenants,  easements,  liens  and  charges  now  or 
hereafter  imposed  by  the provisions  of  this  Declaration  and  recover  sums  due  for  damages, 
injunctive relief or both, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of court. 

 
11 .2    Severability.  Invalidation of any one or more of these covenants or restrictions by judgment 
or court order shall in no way affect any other provision, and all such other provisions shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

 



19 
 

Formatted: Centered

1 1.3    Amendment.  This Declaration  may be amended  at any  time until  the expiration  of the 
Control  Period,  by an  instrument  signed  (i)  by  Declarant  and  (ii)  a  majority  of  all  Owners 
(owning a majority  of the total square  footage of land in all of the Reserves, including, for 
this purpose, the Declarant). After the expiration of the Control Period, the covenants and 
restrictions or any other portion of this Declaration may be amended at any time by an instrument 
signed by ‘at least 75% of all Owners (owning 75% of the total square footage of land in all of 
the Reserves). Any amendment must be properly recorded in Fort Bend County, Texas. 

 
11.4   Additional Restrictions and Land. The Declarant may make additional restrictions by 
appropriate  provisions  in  any  deed  or  deeds  hereafter  conveying  any  land  in  the  Property, 
without otherwise  modifying  the general plan outlined  above, and such other restrictions  shall 
inure to the benefit of the Owners in the same manner as though they had been expressed herein. 

 
11 .5    Non-Waiver.  No delay in enforcing the provisions of this Declaration as to any breach or 
violation thereof shall impair, damage or waive the right of any party entitled to enforce the same 
or obtain relief against or recover for the continuation or repetition of such breach or violation or 
any similar breach or violation thereof at any later time or times. 

 
1 1.6    Non-Liability of Declarant.  Declarant shall not be liable to any Owner or Permittee of a 
Reserve or any portion thereof or to any other party for any loss, claim or demand in 
connection with the breach of any provisions of this Declaration by any party other than Declarant. 

 
11.7    Notice

(Signature and acknowledgment are on the next page) 

.  Any  notice  to  Declarant,  the  Association,  Board,  or  ARC  shall  be  made in 
writing, and shall be sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, to the following address: 

 
Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd. 
2333 Town Center Drive, Suite 300 
Sugar Land, Texas 77478 
Attn: Larry Indermuehle 

 



 

 
IN   WITNESS  WHEREOF,   the  undersigned   has duly executed   this  Declaration 

of   Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements effe.cteffective as of the date first 
above written. 

 
DECLARANT: 
 
 
Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd 
 

By: Walsh Road GP, LLC itsit's General Partner 
 

 
      
Larry Indermuehle 
Managing General 
Partner 

 
 

List of Exhibits 
 

A- Property legal description 
B- Site Plan 
C- Approved Shrub and Tree Lists 

 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 

§  
COUNTY OF FORT BEND  § 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this ________________day of 
______, 2013, by Larry Indermuehle, Managing Partner of Walsh Road GP, LLC, a 
Texas Limited Liability Corporation, sole General Partner of Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., 
a Texas limited partnership, on behalf of said entities in the capacities stated. 
 
 
               ______________________________________ 
       Notary Public, STATE OF TEXAS 

 



AMENDED  
DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, 

RESTRICTIONS, AND EASEMENTS 
 

 This Amended Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, and Easements 
(“Declaration”) is made effective as of February  13, 2014, by WALSH ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK, 
LTD. (“Declarant”), a Texas limited partnership. 
 
RECITALS: 
 
A. Declarant is the owner of that certain 24.2119  acre tract of land situated Fort Bend County,  

Texas, more particularly described on the attached Exhibit “A”. 
 
B. Declarant desires to create and carry out a general and uniform plan for the improvement, 

development, maintenance, use, and continuation of a business park, known as Walsh Road 
Industrial Park (the “Park”) on the Property, for the mutual benefit of the Owners thereof, on the 
terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 

AGREEMENTS: 
 

NOW, THERFORE, Declarant, on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, hereby 
Imposes on the Property the following covenants, conditions, restrictions, and easements: 
 

     ARTICLE I. 
 

 
   DEFINITIONS 

1.1 “Annual Maintenance Charge

 

” shall mean the assessment made and levied against each Owner 
and such Owner’s Reserve or Reserves by the Association in accordance with the provisions of this 
Declaration. 

1.2  “Applicable Law

 

” shall mean the laws, rules, ordinances, regulations, and orders of the State of 
Texas or other Governmental Authority. 

1.3 “ARC

 

” shall mean the Architectural Review Committee consisting of 3 members, initially 
appointed by the Declarant.  The Declarant may at any time assign its rights to appoint the ARC to a 
successor by a written instrument filed for record in the Official Records of Real Property Fort Bend 
County, Texas.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon formation of the Association, the term “ARC” 
shall mean and refer to the Board. 

1.4 “Association

 

” shall mean a Texas non-profit corporation hereafter organized by the Declarant as 
an owners’ association for purposes of enforcing and administration these Restrictions, Maintaining and 
improving any Common Area or Shared Use Facilities or such other purposes as Declarant may 
determine, and the successors and assigns of such corporation.  Upon organizing the Association, 
Declarant shall file for record in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, 
Texas, an amendment to this Declaration naming the Association. 

1.5 “Board” or “Board of Directors” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Association, whether 
such Board be appointed by Declarant or elected in accordance with the provisions of this Declaration or 
Bylaws. 



2 
 

 
1.6 “Industrial Park Sign

 

” shall mean the project identity signs constructed at the entrances to the 
Park, in the areas shown on the Site Plan, with the name Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd. 

1.7 “By-laws
 

” shall mean the By-laws of the Association. 

1.8 “Common Area

 

” shall mean the Industrial Park Sign areas per section 1.6, and the detention 
pond constituting a part of the Water Detention and Drainage Facilities as shown on the Site Plan.  

1.9 “Common Driveway

 

” shall mean the driveway and related driveway improvements, including  
paving, curbing, entrances, and exits for motor vehicles and pedestrian access, ingress, and egress on and 
through adjoining Reserves.  

1.10 “Control Period

 

” shall mean the period commencing on the date this Declaration is recorded in 
the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas and ending on the earlier to 
occur of (i) the date Declarant no longer owns any Reserve, or (ii) the date Declarant records a document 
in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend County, Texas, which references this 
Declaration and states that Declarant has assigned its rights under this Declaration to the Association; or 
(iii) the date Declarant records a documents in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Fort Bend 
County, Texas, which references this Declaration and states that the Declarant declares this Control 
Period under this Declaration to be terminated, Declarant having the right to make such declaration and 
record such document at any time. 

1.11 “Declarant

 

” shall mean Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., and its successors or assigns, if such 
successors or assigns are designed in writing as a successor or assignee of the rights set forth herein. 

1.12 “Declaration
 

” shall mean this instrument and any amendment hereto. 

1.13 “Governmental Authority

 

” shall mean the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, or any other 
Governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Property. 

1.14 “Hazardous Substance

 

” shall mean any hazardous or toxic substance or contaminated material 
including but not limited to asbestos, oil and petroleum products and those substances within the scope 
of all federal, state and local environmental laws and ordinances, including without limitation the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation 
and Liability Act and the Superfund Amendment and Reauthorization Act of 1986. 

1.15 “Maintenance Fund

 

” shall mean any accumulation of (i) the Annual Maintenance Charge and (ii) 
interest, penalties, special assessments, and other sums and revenues collected by the Association 
pursuant to this Declaration. 

1.16 “Majority of the Members

 

” shall mean the majority of those votes entitled to be cast by the 
Members who are eligible to vote and are present or voting by legitimate proxy at a duly called meeting 
at which a quorum (as defined in the By-laws) of Members who are eligible to vote are represented. 

1.17 “Masonry Materials” shall mean exterior finishes of brick, split face block, natural stone, stucco 
or EFIS. 
 
1.18 “Member” or “Members
 

” shall mean a member or members of the Association. 



3 
 

1.19 “Mortgage

 

” shall mean a security interest, mortgage, deed of trust, or lien instrument granted by 
an Owner, duly recorded in the Office of the County Clerk of Fort Bend County, Texas, and creating a 
lien or security interest encumbering a Reserve and all Improvements thereon.  

1.20 “Mortgagee
 

” shall mean the beneficial owner(s) of a Mortgage. 

1.21 “Owner” or “Owners

 

” shall mean any person or persons, firm, corporation, or other entity that 
holds, of record, fee title to a Reserve, but excluding a Mortgagee or the buyer of a Reserve under an 
executor contract of sale. 

1.22 “Reserve” or “Reserves

 

” shall mean each separate lot, tract, or reserve of land out of the 
Property. 

1.23 “Permittees

 

” shall mean the tenant(s) or occupant(s) of a Reserve, and the respective employees, 
agents, contractors, customers, invitees and licensees of (i) the Owner of such Reserve, And/or (ii) such 
tenant(s) or occupant(s). 

1.24 “Plans

 

” shall mean the final construction plans and specifications (including a site plan showing 
the location of all structures and improvements and the size and location of driveways, walks, parking 
and storage facilities, fences and screening) for any building or improvement of any kind to be erected, 
placed, constructed, maintained or altered on any portion of any Reserve, together with detailed, final 
plans, specifications and descriptions of the landscaping to be installed thereon, all in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the Board, and prepared in conformity with the applicable provisions of this 
Declaration. 

1.25 “Property
 

” shall mean the 24.2119 acres described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 

1.26 “Restrictions

 

” shall mean the covenant, conditions, easements, reservations and stipulations that 
shall be applicable and govern the improvement, use, occupancy, and conveyance of all the Reserves as 
set forth in this Declaration or any amendment thereto. 

1.27 “Road
 

” shall mean Walsh Road, the public street located adjacent to the Property. 

1.28 “Screening” shall mean the use of a 6 foot minimum wooden (natural finish), or chain link fence 
(brown color) with full fencing or privacy splits on entire fence, to hide storage areas from street or 
neighbor view. Other materials may be considered by request to the ARC. 
 
1.28 “Rules and Regulations

 

” shall mean reasonable rules adopted and/or amended from time to time 
by the Board concerning the management and administration of the Property for the use, benefit and 
enjoyment of the Owners, which shall apply the same to all Reserves and shall not affect the Owner’s 
use of its Reserve. 

1.29 “Shared Use Facilities

 

” shall mean the Business Park Sign, Utility Facilities, and Water 
Detention and Drainage Facilities. 

1.30 “Site Plan

 

” shall mean that site plan of the Property attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. Except as 
may be otherwise provided in this Declaration, the Site Plan is for identification purposes only. 

1.31 “Water Detention and Drainage Facilities” shall mean those lines, pipes, conduits and other 
apparatus for the collection, discharge, drainage, use detention and retention of storm water runoff and 



4 
 

the detention pond constructed or to be constructed along the north boundary line of the Property as 
shown on the Site Plan together with all improvements thereon used in connection with Detention Pond 
Easement of even date herewith executed by Declarant and recorded or to be recorded in the real 
property records of Fort Bend County, Texas, and as may be constructed on the Property, whether 
presently existing or hereafter constructed, for the discharge, drainage, use detention and retention of 
storm water runoff on the Property in compliance with the requirements of the Governmental Authority, 
in the manner and in the location indicated on the Site Plan. 
 
1.32 “Yard” shall mean those portions of the Reserve that are outside of exterior walls of the building 
or other structures from time to time located on the Reserves. Each Reserve shall have, unless a variance 
is granted by the ARC, (a) one (1) “Front Yard”, being a minimum twenty five feet (25’) from the front 
of the property line, and (b) two (2) “Side Yards”, the Side Yard on each side of any building shall be at 
least ten feet (10’) from the Reserve boundary line to the side of the building, (c ) “Back Yard”

 

, being all 
of the Reserve behind the back edge of the main building. 

  ARTICLE II. 
 

           
 

RESTRICTIONS 

2.1 General Restriction.

 

  The Property shall be used for lawful purposes in conformity with 
Applicable Law. 

2.2 Building Size:  

 

Any single Reserve purchased will require a minimum building size of 7,500 sf 
enclosed.  Any owner that purchases more than a minimum one (1.0) acres site, the requirement will be a 
ratio of at least 6,500 sf of building size per one (1.0) acre, or portion of land over one (1.0) acre thereof.  
Example: If two (2.0) acres are purchased, the minimum building size will be 13,000 sf.     

2.3 Permitted Uses.

 

  The permitted uses of the Property includes, without limitation, warehousing, 
office, office service center, showroom/warehouse, distribution center, light manufacturing and other 
similar uses from time to time approved by the ARC, provided such do not constitute a Prohibited Use 
(as described in Section 2.4 below).  The term “light manufacturing” shall mean and refer to any 
operation or use which is performed or carried out entirely within a building or buildings so designed 
and constructed that the enclosed operations therein do not cause or produce a nuisance or annoyance to 
the occupants of an adjoining Reserve, such as vibration, sound, radiation, air pollution, or water 
pollution. 

2.4 Prohibited Uses.
by reason of odor, fumes, dust, smoke, noise, or pollution, or which is dangerous or hazardous by reason 
of excessive danger of fire or explosion, or for any purpose which may become a nuisance to any other 
Reserve, or which will be in violation of Applicable Law, or that would unreasonably interfere with the 
use and occupancy of the Property by other Owners or Permittees.  In addition to the foregoing, it is 
expressly agreed that no part of the Property shall  be used, directly or indirectly,  for the following 
purposes:  cocktail lounge; bar, disco;  bowling alley;  pool hall or billiard parlor; skating or roller rink;  
amusement arcade;  adult book store;  adult theater;  adult amusement or entertainment facility;  cabaret;  
men’s club;  selling or displaying  pornographic materials;  any facility requiring licensing or zoning as a 
sexually oriented business;  second hand store;  odd lots;  close out or liquidation store;   flea market;  
junk yard;  sleeping quarters or lodging;  residential housing (single family or multi-family); the housing 
or raising of animals; car wash; assembly hall;  off-track betting establishment;  bingo parlor; any use 
involving the repair of automobiles, auto body shop, or related use as the primary business;  smelting;  
rendering;  refining;  or any other activity which causes or involves excessive emissions of odor, dust, 

  No Reserve shall be used for any purpose which is noxious or offensive 



5 
 

fumes, smoke, or noise.  No Owner or Permittee shall engage in an activity within the Property, which 
has the effect of increasing premiums for any insurance carried by the Association or any other Owner or 
Permittee. 
 
2.5 Temporary Structures and Trailers.

 

  No structure of a temporary character, including trailers, 
tents, shacks, barns, or other out-buildings shall be permitted on the Property at any time;  provided, 
however,  that a construction trailer or a temporary structure permitted under Applicable Laws may be 
used in connection with the construction of improvements on a Reserve. 

2.6 Monument Sign.

 

  Only one monument sign shall be permitted on each Reserve and such sign 
shall be perpendicular to Public Street at such location on the stone or masonry column over the front 
entrance of the building on such Reserve as determined by the ARC and shall be of a design and same 
masonry material used on the front of the building. Only a monument sign which designates the name of 
the business which occupies the building on a Reserve shall be permitted. 

2.7  Building Sign.

 

  Company identity sign is permitted above the entry or on the front wall of the 
building.  The sign must be on a wood or metal face plate and not higher than the building wall approved 
by the ARC, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  The following 
are prohibited:  (a) signs painted on a building wall or any other exterior surface of a building,  (b) 
flashing, moving, blinking or audible signs,  (c) paper or cardboard signs, temporary or movable signs, 
flag-streamers or banner signs, unless approved for temporary use by the ARC, or (d) signs located on 
top of or extending above a building.  In the event a building has multiple owners or tenants, all owners 
or tenants may be shown on the one permitted sign, subject to the approval of the ARC and the ARC 
shall have the right, and hereby reserves an easement, to enter upon any and all portions of a Reserve to 
move any signs that are in violation of this Section upon reasonable notice to the owner or lessee of such 
Reserve, all at the expense of such owner or lessee.  The ARC may promulgate sign guidelines which 
may be modified by the ARC from time to time in its discretion.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Industrial Park Sign which may be constructed at the entrance to the Property shall be located and of 
such design and materials and specifications as may from time to time be determined by the ARC. 

2.8 Outside Storage.

 

  No outside storage of any kind will be permitted on any Reserve, unless such 
storage n behind the front edge of building, fenced and screened from view on all sides, and such storage 
does not interfere with Fire Department access.  The right of any Permittee of a Reserve to use any 
building or Reserve shall not be construed to permit the keeping or storing of articles, goods, materials, 
equipment, incinerators, storage tanks, dumpsters, refuse containers or like items in the open or exposed 
to public view.  No personal property, equipment or merchandise shall be kept, displayed, offered for 
sale or lease or stored within the Front Yard of any Reserve. 

2.9 Mineral Exploration.

 

  No drilling, digging, quarrying, or minding operation of any sort shall be 
permitted on the Property. 

2.10 Hazardous Materials.

 

  Bulk storage of flammable fluids must be maintained aboveground, in 
flash proof metal tanks, or protected by earthen fire walls.  No effluent containing harmful bacteria,  
poisonous acids,  oils,  or other harmful substances shall be permitted to drain into the storm drainage 
system or sanitary sewer for the Property or released beyond the property lines of a Reserve. 

2.11 Maintenance.   Each Owner of a Reserve and its Permittees shall at all times keep their 
respective premises,  buildings,  improvements,  and appurtenances in a well-maintained,  safe, clean,  
attractive,  and sanitary condition and shall comply with Applicable Law.  Trash, garbage, or other waste 
materials shall be kept only in sanitary containers constructed of metal, plastic, or masonry materials, 



6 
 

with sanitary lids or covers.  All such containers and other equipment for the storage or disposal of such 
waste material shall be kept in a clean and sanitary condition and shall be attractively screened from 
view,  behind a screened, Side Yard gate or fence from the adjoining  Reserve(s),  and the Road.  All 
rubbish,   trash, or garbage shall be regularly removed from the Property and shall not be allowed to 
accumulate thereon.   Any accumulation of trash shall be disposed of immediately by the Owner or 
Permitted causing same. If, in the opinion of the ARC, any such Owner or Permittee is failing in this 
duty and responsibility, then the ARC may give such Owner or Permittee, or both, notice of such fact, 
and such Owner or Permittee must, within 10 days of such notice, undertake the care and maintenance 
required to restore such Owner’s or Permittee’s reserve to a safe, clean, and attractive condition.  Should 
any such Owner or Permittee fail to fulfill this duty and responsibility after such notice, then the ARC 
shall have the right and power to perform, or have performed, such care and maintenance, including, 
without limitation, the mowing of any vacant Reserve, and the Owner and Permittee (and or both of 
them) of the Reserve on which such work is performed by the ARC shall be liable for the cost of any 
such work and shall promptly reimburse the ARC for the cost thereof.  Such indebtedness shall bear 
interest from the date that demand is made by the ARC until paid at the rate of 18% per annum and shall 
be secured in the same manner as the Annual Maintenance Charge, but in no event shall the interest rate 
exceed the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 
 
2.12 Parking and Access.

 

  Parking for each Reserve and its Permittees shall be permitted only on the 
Reserve and only in designated area from time to time improved for parking, paved with concrete or 
other materials approved by the ARC; and no Permittee or vehicles serving Permittee shall have any 
right to park on the Road or block vehicular access to such Road.  No large trucks or other vehicles 
larger than a pick-up truck will be permitted to park in the areas designated and improved for automobile 
parking on each Reserve.  No use shall be made of any Reserve or any building constructed thereon 
which requires or is reasonably expected to require or attract parking in excess of the capacity of the 
parking facilities maintained on the Reserve or the requirements of Governmental Authority.  No repair 
or maintenance work on automobiles, trucks, trailers and other vehicles shall be performed on the 
Reserve, except in building constructed for such purpose.  Each parking area and truck apron located in 
the Front Yard of a Reserve shall remain unobstructed to vehicular access. 

2.13 Firearms and Explosives.

 

  The discharge of firearms of any kind or nature in the Property is 
strictly prohibited and no hunting of wild game or birds of any species by any method is allowed therein.  
Explosive devices shall not be utilized on any Reserve except with prior written permission from the 
ARC. 

2.14 Subdivision

 

.   No subdivision of a Reserve shall be permitted without the prior written approval 
of the ARC, which approval may be either withheld or conditioned upon compliance with such 
additional requirements and covenants as the ARC may reasonably impose. 

2.15  Building Construction

 

.  The construction of any and all improvements on a Reserve shall at all 
times be in strict compliance with the Plans approved by the ARC, this Declaration, and Applicable Law. 
Each building to be located on a Reserve shall be constructed with insulated metallic exterior panels over 
steel frame construction, or better, and with a minimum of 40% masonry material on the front of the 
building, excluding window area. Only new construction materials (except for used brick) may be used 
in constructing a structure or improvements situated on a Reserve unless otherwise approved in writing 
by the ARC. Roofs shall be metallic as from time to time established by the ARC in the Design 
Standards. 

2.16 Landscaping.   All open unpaved space on any Reserve shall be planted and landscaped in a 
manner meeting the minimum standard described in this section below.  Landscaping in accordance with 



7 
 

approved Plans, must be completed within 30 days following the initial occupancy of any building or 
improvement constructed on a Reserve Maintenance of all landscape areas (including replacement of any 
landscaping as needed) shall be the responsibility of the Owner.  If the Owner fails to restore the 
landscaping or trees as originally approved, the ARC shall have the right to do so out of the Maintenance 
Fund and assess the charges back to the Owner.   
 
Building Landscaping – The building side next to the street, and the building front entry areas, if 
different, must have sufficient landscaping next to the building and at the entry featuring shrubs, hedges, 
flowers, and ground cover in any combination, to provide a tasteful appearance of green space. 
 
Street trees – Must be planted in or adjacent to public rights-of-way; one tree for every 30 feet of road 
frontage.  Street trees must be planted at least 20 feet apart without extreme variation in the spacing 
excluding site conditions and driveways.  An existing street tree in the abutting street right-of-way may 
count toward the requirement of one required tree (as listed on the street tree list in Exhibit C). 
 
Parking lot trees – Each parking space must be within 120 feet of a parking lot or street tree.  One tree 
for every 10 spaces is required.  At least one-half of the parking lot trees will be large parking lot trees 
(as listed on the parking lot tree list as listed in Exhibit C). 
 
Shrubs – At least 75% must be planted along the perimeter of parking lots with the remainder planted 
along or within the perimeter (as listed on the shrub list in Exhibit C); 10 shrubs for each required street 
tree. 
 
Landscape buffers – Screening fence, with a minimum height of six feet, located along the property line 
between two adjacent properties; must be constructed with cedar fence using steel poles in the ground, or 
chain link fence with 100% screening slats, or better.  Alternative buffer is planted evergreen trees and/or 
shrubs along the property lines, a minimum shrub size of 5 gallon, and a minimum tree size of 10 gallon.    
 
2.17  Auxiliary Structures. 

 

 No auxiliary structures separate and apart from the building, shall be 
located on any Reserve without the written consent of the ARC, which may be withheld, conditioned or 
delayed at its sole discretion. 

2.18  Storage of Building Material.

 

  Without the prior written consent of the ARC, no building 
material of any kind or character shall be placed or stored upon any Reserve more than 30 days before 
the construction of a structure or improvement is commenced. All materials permitted to be placed on a 
Reserve shall be placed within the property lines of the Reserve. At the completion of such building or 
improvements, any unused materials shall be removed immediately from the Reserve. 

2.19  Exempt Property

 

.   None of the use restrictions contained in Article II shall apply to the Shared 
Use Facilities in section 1.29. 

2.20  Use of "Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd.”.   The name "Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd." shall 
not be used in connection with any business or trade or operations on or any portion of the Property 
without the prior written consent of ARC, which consent ARC may withhold, condition or delay in its 
sole discretion. All rights, titles and interest in and to the name "Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd.

 

" are 
expressly reserved and retained by Declarant until end of the Control Period whereupon such name shall 
belong to and be the property of the Association. 

2.21  Building Setbacks.  No building shall be constructed closer to the front property line than 25 
feet; no closer to either side line than 10 feet, and no closer to the rear property line 10 feet.  No building 



8 
 

or other structure, except as herein provided, shall be constructed in any Side Yard and no expansion or 
addition to any building or other structure, except as herein provided, shall be permitted in any Back 
Yard. Truck wells, truck aprons, parking areas, driveways, roadways, walkways, light standards, 
curbing,  paving, entrances, exits, and other similar exterior site improvements may be located in the 
Front Yard.  Requirements that may from time to time exist to permit access by fire and other emergency 
services, including a Fire Department approved access lock. 

 
ARTICLE III. 

 
    

 
APPROVAL OF PLANS 

3.1  Approval

 

.   No building, structure, or improvement of any kind (including, without limitation, 
landscaping, exterior lighting, and fences) shall be erected, placed, constructed, maintained, modified, 
altered, or improved on any Reserve until the Plans have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the ARC and thereafter approved by the appropriate Governmental Authority (if required). 

3.2  Criteria

 

.   In determining whether such Plans shall be approved, the ARC may take into 
consideration all factors deemed appropriate by the ARC, including, without limitation, the following: 

(a)  Compliance with this Declaration; 
 

(b)  Kind and quality of the building materials or improvements and their suitability; 
 

(c)  Kind and quality of the proposed landscaping; 
 

(d) Harmony, compatibility, and the conformity of the design of such building or 
improvement with existing and proposed buildings and improvements on the Property and with 
the design or overall character and aesthetics of the Property; 
 
(e)  Location of such building, improvements, and landscaping within the Reserve on which 
it will be constructed or placed; 

 
(f)  Square footage; 
 
(g)  Compliance with the Design Standards (hereinafter defined), if any; 

 
(h)  Compliance with the Rules and Regulations; and 

 
(i)  Applicable Law. 

 
3.3  Approval of Plans

 

.   The ARC shall approve or disapprove the Plans in accordance with the 
following procedures: 

(a)  Owner shall deliver to the ARC, 2 complete sets of the Plans, together with samples of 
materials and colors and such other documentation or information as may be deemed pertinent 
and required by the ARC. The ARC may require submission of additional plans, specifications, 
or other information prior to approving or disapproving the proposed Plans. Until receipt by the 
ARC of all required materials in connection with the proposed Plans, the ARC may postpone 
review of any materials submitted for approval. The submitting Owner shall pay all reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred by the ARC to review the proposed Plans. 



9 
 

 
(b)  If the Plans are approved by the ARC, a letter of approval, including a description of 
qualifications or required modifications, if any, shall be prepared for the countersignature of the 
Owner. Such approval shall be dated and shall not be effective for construction commenced 
more than 6 months after such approval. If construction is not commenced within 6 months after 
such approval, the Owner shall not begin construction of any building or improvement of any 
kind until the corresponding Plans have been resubmitted and reapproved by the ARC in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section. 
 
(c)  If the Plans are disapproved by the ARC, one set of such Plans shall be returned marked 
"Disapproved", and shall be accompanied by a statement by the ARC setting forth the reasons 
for disapproval. 

 
(d)  The ARC may from time to time (but shall not be obligated to) promulgate architectural 
and landscaping standards for the design and construction of improvements within the Property 
and for the design and installation of landscaping on the Reserves (the "Design Standards"). A 
copy of the Design Standards in effect at the time will be furnished to any Owner upon written 
request therefor. Such Design Standards shall supplement this Declaration and may make other 
and further provisions as to the approval and disapproval of Plans, prohibited materials, and 
other matters relating to the appearance, design and quality of improvements or landscaping. 
Such Design Standards, as they may be promulgated from time to time by the ARC, shall be 
incorporated in this Declaration by this reference as if set forth at length herein. 

 
3.4  Building Decision

 

.   All decisions of the ARC shall be final, conclusive and binding and there 
shall be no review of any action of the ARC. 

3.5  Effect of Approval.

 

   No approval of Plans and no publication of Design Standards shall ever be 
construed as representing or implying that such Plans, specifications, or standards will, if followed, result 
in a properly constructed structure complying with all Applicable Law. Approval of applicable 
Governmental Authorities is required prior to any construction.  Such approvals and standards shall in no 
event be construed as a representation, warranty, or guaranty by the ARC that any structure will be built 
in a good or workmanlike manner. Neither Declarant, the Association, the members of the ARC, or any 
of their representatives, shall be liable in damages to anyone submitting Plans to the ARC for approval, 
or to any Owner or Permittee of any part of the Property affected by this Declaration, by reason of or in 
connection with the approval or disapproval or failure to approve any Plans submitted. Every person who 
submits Plans to the ARC for approval agrees, by submission of such Plans, and every Owner or 
Permittee of any portion of the Property involved therein agrees, by acquiring title thereto or any interest 
therein, that such Owner or Permittee will not bring any action or suit against the Declarant, the 
Association, any of the members of the ARC, or any of their representatives, to recover any such 
damages and each, by acceptance of such conveyance, hereby waives all such claims and causes of 
action. 

3.6  Inspection

 

.  The ARC or its duly authorized representative shall have the right, but not the 
obligation, to inspect any improvements to a Reserve prior to or after completion. 

3.7  Non- Waiver

 

.  No action or failure to act by the ARC shall constitute a waiver or estoppel with 
respect to future action by the ARC. 

3.8  Variance.   The ARC may authorize variances from compliance with the requirements of this 
Declaration due to circumstances warranting such variance in the opinion of the ARC such as 



10 
 

topography, natural obstructions, hardship, aesthetic or environmental considerations and the shape and 
configuration of the particular Reserve for which the variance is sought. Such variances must be 
evidenced in writing and shall become effective when signed by the representatives of the ARC. The 
granting 'of a variance shall not operate to waive any of the provisions of this Declaration for any 
purpose except as to the particular Reserve and particular provision described therein, nor shall the 
granting of a variance affect in any way the Owner's obligation to comply with Applicable Law. 
 
3.9  Deemed Approval

 

.   In the event of any request for approval, variance, or exception to these 
Restrictions, or approval of any proposed action by an Owner where a construction of this Declaration is 
required is made to the ARC, the ARC shall, within 30 days after the request is made and receipt of all of 
the Plans, materials, documentation, and information described in Section 3.3, give the person making 
the request, at such person's address as shown in the request, written notification either of the approval 
by the ARC, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, or of its rejection of the request, with 
specification of the reasons for such rejection. If the ARC falls to give to the person requesting such 
approval notification of rejection within such 30 day period, the ARC shall be conclusively deemed to 
have given its approval. Any approval or rejection given by the ARC, and any written approval, 
rejection, or other communication by the ARC may be relied upon, as the act of the ARC, by the person 
receiving such approval, rejection, or other communication. 

3.10  Commencement

 

.   Construction of improvements must be commenced upon a Reserve by the 
Owner thereof within eighteen (18) months after the date such Reserve is first conveyed by Declarant to 
an Owner. 

3.11 Completion of Work.

 

   After commencement of construction of any structure or improvement on 
the Reserve, the work thereon shall be prosecuted diligently, to the end that the structure or 
improvements shall not remain in a partly finished condition any longer than reasonably necessary for 
completion thereof. Unless otherwise authorized in writing by the ARC prior to commencement of 
construction, the construction of any structure or improvement on a Reserve shall be completed within 
(one) 1 year from the date of commencement of construction, excepting delays due to strikes, war, acts 
of God or other causes beyond the control of the Owner. 

 
ARTICLE IV. 

 
ALTERATIONS, MAINTENANCE, AND REPAIRS 

4.1  Alterations.

 

  Subject to the terms and provisions of this Declaration and the Rules and 
Regulations, each Owner shall have the right to make alterations, modifications, and repairs, including 
structural alterations, to such Owner's Reserve and improvements, provided that such action is performed 
in a good and workmanlike manner, causes minimum inconvenience to the other Owners, and does not 
constitute a nuisance. Alterations, modifications or repairs which would change the exterior color, 
materials, or shape of the improvements must be approved by the ARC. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
if any of the above described actions is performed without the prior approval of the ARC of the Plans 
therefor in accordance with Article III of this Declaration, the ARC may require (but shall be under no 
obligation to require) the Owner to remove or eliminate any paint color, decoration, or other object 
situated on such Owner's improvements or Reserve that is visible from any Road, Common Driveway, or 
from any other Reserve, if, in the ARC's sole judgment, such object detracts from the visual 
attractiveness of the Property or is inconsistent with the design or overall character and aesthetics of the 
Property. 



11 
 

4.2  Maintenance.

 

   Except for landscaping and Shared Use Facilities to be maintained by the 
Association, each Owner shall maintain such Owner's Reserve, together with the improvements, 
driveways, fences, landscaping, light standards and fixtures, sanitary, storm water, water and drainage 
lines and facilities which service only such Owner's Reserve and improvements, including the point of 
the connection of such lines and facilities to the Shared Use Facilities, in good working order and repair 
and in an attractive condition at all times. If any Owner fails to comply with the requirements of this 
Section, the Association may, but shall not be obligated to, without liability to such Owner or any 
occupant in trespass or otherwise, enter upon such Reserve, maintain or repair any of same, in which 
case such Owner shall upon demand pay the Association's cost of same. Such indebtedness shall bear 
interest from the date that demand is made by the Association until paid at the rate of 18% per annum 
and shall be secured in the same manner as the Annual Maintenance Charge, but in no event shall the 
interest rate exceed the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. 

 

ARTICLE V. 

5.1       

SHARED USE FACILITIES 

Dedication

 

.  The Common Area and Shared Use Facilities are hereby designated and 
dedicated for the benefit of all Owners and Permittees of the Property. Declarant shall convey the 
Common Area and Shared Use Facilities to the Association. The cost of the initial construction 
of the Shared Use Facilities shall be borne solely by Declarant. 

5.2       Operation of Common Area and Shared Use Facilities

 

.  The Association shall own, improve, 
manage, maintain, repair, replace, insure, and operate the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities 
as herein provided and as provided for in the By-laws and Rules and Regulations. The  
Association  shall  improve  the  Common  Area  and  Shared  Use  Facilities  as  needed  in 
connection  with the development  of the Property, and such improvement  shall be accomplished 
as required by the specifications  and regulations of the Governmental  Authority. The Association 
shall (a) maintain the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities to a standard required by the 
Governmental Authority, and in an attractive, safe and clean condition at all times, (b) shall keep 
the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities insured as deemed appropriate by the Board, and (c) 
shall pay all taxes assessed against the Common Area and Shared Use Facilities. 

5.3       Partition Waiver

 

. The Owners hereby waive the right to partition any part of the Common 
Area and Shared Use Facilities to the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law. 

ARTICLE  VI. 
 

 
EASEMENTS 

6.1       Easement Dedication

 

.  Subject to any express conditions, limitations, or reservations 
contained herein, the Property, and all Owners and Permittees of the Reserves, shall be 
benefited and burdened by the following non-exclusive, perpetual, and reciprocal easements: 

(a)  Access, Ingress, and Egress.  An  easement  for  reasonable  access,  ingress,  and 
egress  over  all  paved  driveways,   roadways,  and  walkways  as  presently  or  hereafter 
constructed  and constituting  a part of the Common  Driveway,  so  as to provide for the 
passage of motor vehicles and pedestrians  between all Reserves to the Common 
Driveway, and to and from the Road furnishing access to such Reserves. 



12 
 

 
(b)       Shared Use Facilities

 

. An easement upon, under, over, above, and across the Yards 
on each Reserve, including the right of reasonable ingress and egress required, for the 
installation, maintenance, repair and replacement  of the Shared  Use Facilities, including: 
water  mains; storm  water  collection,  retention,  detention  and  distribution lines; storm 
drains;  sewers;   sanitary  sewer  lines, firewater lines, water sprinkler system lines; telephone 
or electrical conduits or systems; cable; gas mains; conduits; pipes; and other apparatus; and 
other utility facilities necessary for the orderly development  and operation of  the  Shared  
Use  Facilities,  from  time  to  time  located  on  the  Property;  provided however, (i) all 
such facilities shall be installed and maintained below the ground level or surface of the 
Property (except for such parts thereof that cannot and are not intended  to be placed 
below the surface, such as transformers  and control  panels); and (ii) the exact location of 
any utilities shall be subject  to the reasonable approval of the Owner(s) of the burdened 
Reserve(s). 

(c)       Sign Easement

 

.  Declarant shall have the right (but no obligation) at its sole cost 
and expense, to construct a Business Park Sign at the entrance to the Park in the area 
shown on the Site Plan. The Business Park Sign shall identify the Park and display such 
other information as Declarant may from time to time determine.  In  the  event  the 
Declarant  does  not construct  a Business  Park  Sign  on or  before  the expiration  of  the 
Control Period, the Association shall have the right (but no obligation), at its sole cost and 
expense, to construct  a Business Park Sign. The Association shall maintain the Business 
Park Sign in good condition and repair. There is hereby created in favor of the Declarant, 
and upon expiration of the Control Period, in favor of the Association, for the benefit of 
the Property, an easement upon the area shown on the Site Plan for installation, replacing, 
repairing and maintaining the Business Park Sign. 

(d)       Future Public Utility Easements

 

. In lieu of the Declarant  reserving easements on, 
over, under, and across the Property that may be unnecessary or unused, each Owner 
covenants  and  agrees,  upon  written  request  from  another  Owner  and  a  public  utility 
provider, to dedicate  and convey a 10 foot  public utility easement  on, over, under, and 
across such  Owner's  Reserve for the benefit of the requesting  Owner's  Reserve; 
provided, however, such  public  utility  easement(s)  shall  be  located,  as  near  as  
possible,  to  the boundary lines of  the  burdened  Reserve(s).  The form of the utility 
easement(s) shall be similar in form and substance to other utility easements required by 
the utility provider and subject to the other terms and provisions of this Declaration. 

6.2       Indemnification.   Each   Owner   having   rights   with   respect   to  an   easement   granted 
hereunder  ("Benefited  Owner")

 

  shall indemnify and hold the Owner whose Reserve is subject 
to the easement harmless from and against all claims, liabilities, and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys'  fees) relating to accidents,  injuries,  loss, or damage of or to any person 
or property arising from the negligent,  intentional, or willful acts or omissions of such 
Benefited Owner, its contractors, employees, agents, or others acting on behalf of such Benefited 
Owner. 

6.3       Use of  
 

Easements. 

(a)        General. The easements  herein above granted shall  be used and enjoyed  by each 
Owner  and  its  Permittees  in  such  manner  so  as  not  to  unreasonably  interfere  with, 



13 
 

obstruct or delay the conduct and operations of the business of any other Owner or its 
Permittees  at  any  time  conducted  on  its  Reserve,  including,  without  limitation,  
public access to and from said business, and the receipt or delivery of merchandise in 
connection therewith. 

 
(b)       Interference and Relocation

 

. Once the Shared Use Facilities are installed pursuant 
to the easements   granted   above, no permanent   building, structures, trees or other 
improvements inconsistent with the use and enjoyment of such easements shall be placed 
over or permitted to encroach upon such installations. 

(c)       Construction

 

. Once commenced, any construction undertaken in reliance upon an 
easement granted herein shall be diligently prosecuted to completion, so as to minimize any 
interference with the business of any other Owner and its Permittees. Except in cases of 
emergency,  the right of any Owner to enter  upon a Reserve of another Owner for the 
exercise of any right pursuant  to the interferes set  forth, or to prosecute work on such 
Owner's   own  Reserve  if  the  same  interferes  with  the  casements,   in  favor  of  another 
Owner's reserve ,  shall  be  undertaken  only  in  such  a  manner  so  as  to  minimize  any 
interference with the business of the other Owner and its Permittees. In such case, no 
affirmative monetary obligation shall be imposed upon the other Owner, and the Owner 
undertaking such work shall with due diligence repair at its sole cost and expense any and 
all damage caused by such work and restore the affected portion of the Reserve upon which 
such work is performed to a condition which is equal to or better than the condition which 
existed prior to the commencement of such work.  In addition, the Owner undertaking such 
work shall pay all costs and expenses associated therewith and shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the other Owner(s) and its Permittees from all damages, losses, liens or claims 
attributable to the performance of such work. 

(d)        Non-Exclusive.  The easements herein granted are not exclusive.  
 
 

ARTICLE VII. 

                                                

7.1        

MANAGEMENT OF THE PROPETY 

Management of Property. The affairs of the Property shall be managed by the Declarant 
until the formation of the Association.  All referenced herein to the Association shall mean the 
Declarant until the Association is formed. The  Association  shall  have  the  right,  power  and 
obligation  to  provide  for  the  management,  maintenance,   repair,  replacement,  administration, 
insuring and operation of the Property as herein provided and as provided for in the By-laws and 
in the Rules and Regulations.  The business affairs of the Association shall be managed by its 
Board of Directors. Until the expiration of the Control Period, the Declarant shall have absolute, 
complete and exclusive control of the Association and the Board of Directors, regardless of how 
many other Owners may acquire Reserves during such period of time. The Declarant, in its 
sole discretion, may appoint a Board of Directors during the Control Period. The Board of 
Directors appointed by Declarant is herein referred to as the "Appointed Board".  The appointed 
Board shall administer the Association's and the Property's affairs until the first annual meeting 
of the Members of the Association is held and a Board of Directors is elected by the Members. 
The Board of Directors elected at the first annual meeting of Members of the Association is 
herein called the “First Elected Board”.  The Declarant shall have the power, exercisable at any time and 
from time to time, to remove any Director of the Appointed Board and appoint a successor, as well as to 



14 
 

appoint a success for any position for any position on the Appointed Board which becomes vacant. The 
Appointed Board may engage the Declarant or any other party, whether or not affiliated with Declarant, to 
perform the day to day functions of the Association and to provide for the management, maintenance, 
repair, replacement, administration, insuring, and operation of the Property. 
 
7.2       Membership in the Association.

 

  Each  Owner,  including  Declarant  during the period of 
time  in  which  Declarant  owns  any  Reserve,  shall  be a  Member  in  the  Association  and  
such membership shall terminate automatically  when such ownership  ceases; provided, however, 
that in the event Declarant shall transfer ownership of all Reserves prior to the expiration of the 
Control Period,  Declarant  shall  nevertheless   be  considered a member in the Association the 
expiration of such period of time, and shall have all voting and other rights granted to Declarant 
under this Article and otherwise  in this Declaration  until the expiration  of such period of time. 
Upon the transfer of ownership of a Reserve, howsoever achieved, the new Owner thereof shall, 
concurrently with such transfer, become a Member in the Association. 

7.3  Voting Rights

 

. Until the expiration  of the Control Period, Declarant shall have all voting 
power, and  no other  Member shall  have any  voting  power  whatsoever  during such  period  of 
time; thereafter, the total voting power shall be the sum of votes that correspond to the number of 
Reserves, with all votes in the Association  to be on the basis of one vote being allocated  to 
each Reserve owned  by such  Owner. In the event that ownership interests in a Reserve are 
owned by more than one Owner, such Owners shall exercise their right to vote in such manner as 
they may among themselves determine, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast for 
Reserve. Such Owners shall appoint one of them as the Member who shall  be entitled  to exercise  
the vote for that Reserve at any meeting of the Association  and until such Owners  so designate  
who shall  be the Member entitled  to vote, no single  Owner  of such  Reserve shall be entitled  
to vote. Such designation shall be made in written notice to the Board. The Board shall be 
entitled to rely on any such designation until written notice revoking such designation is received 
by the Board. In the event that a Reserve is owned  by more  than one Member  of  the 
Association  and no single Member is designated  to vote on behalf of the Members having  an 
ownership  interest  in such Reserve, then none of such  Members shall  be allowed  to vote. All 
Members of the Association may attend meetings of the Association and all voting Members may 
exercise their vote at such meetings either in person or by proxy. 

7.4       Meeting of Members.

7.5       

 The first annual meeting of the Members of the Association  shall 
be held within  60 days  after  the expiration  of  the Control  Period,  when called  by either  the 
Appointed  Board or Declarant,  upon no less than 10 and no more than 50 days'  prior written 
notice to the Members. The First Elected Board shall be elected at the first annual meeting of the 
Members of the Association. Thereafter, annual and special meetings of the Members of the 
Association shall be held at such place and time and on such dates as shall be specified in the 
By-laws. The Declarant  may convene  a special  meeting of  the Members  of the Association  at 
any  time  and  from  time  to  time  prior  to  the  first  annual  meeting  of  the  Members  of  the 
Association for such purposes as the Declarant may deem appropriate. 

Dispute Resolutions
Board shall be empowered to create procedures for resolving disputes between or among Owners, 
the Board and/or the Association, including appointment of committees to consider and 
recommend resolution of any such disputes. 

.  In addition to its other powers conferred by law or hereunder, the 

 
7.6      Delegation of Authority.  ARC or the Board may retain, hire, employ or contract for the 
construction, maintenance, repair, landscaping, insuring, administration and operation of the Property 
as provided for herein and as provided for in the By-laws. 



15 
 

 
7.7       Non-Liability of

 

 Board.  Any act ion, inaction or omission by the Board made or taken in 
good faith shall not subject the Board or any individual member of the Board to any liability to 
the Association, its Members, or any other party. 

7.8       Board Elections.

 

  In accordance with the By-laws, the Board shall elect, at lease annually, a 
President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other officers and 
assistant officers as it may designate.  The President shall be the chief executive officer of the 
Association. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Association. The President shall 
have all the general powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of president of an 
association. The Secretary shall keep all the minutes of all meetings of the Board and the minutes 
of all meetings of the Association, and shall be in charge of such books and papers as the Board 
may direct. The Secretary shall keep and update a complete list of Members, showing opposite 
each Member's name the number of the Reserve owned by such Member. The Treasurer shall have 
responsibility  for  Association  funds  and  shall  be  responsible  for  keeping  full  and accurate 
accounts of all receipt and disbursements  in books belonging to the Association. The Treasurer 
shall also be responsible for the deposit of all monies and other valuable effects in the name, and 
to the credit of, the Association in such depositories as may from time to time be designated by 
the Board. 

7.9       Action without Meeting

 

.   Notwithstanding any provision in this Declaration to the contrary, 
all actions of the Members, ARC, Board, or any committee of the Board provided for herein may 
be taken by unanimous written consent without a meeting, or any meeting thereof may be held 
by means of a telephone conference or the like, to the full ex tent pem1itted by law. 

 
ARTICLE VIII. 

 

 
ANNUAL MAINTENANCE CHARGE AND MAINTENANCE  FUND 

8.1      Annual Maintenance Charge

 

.  Each  Parce1 shall  be subject  to an Annual  Maintenance 
Charge  in  an  amount  to  be  set   by  the  Declarant   or  Board.  The  amount  of  the  Annual 
Maintenance Charge for each Reserve may be increased or decreased from time to time, as 
needed to  pay  for  the  expenses  of  the  Association.  However,  after  the  initial  Annual  
Maintenance Charge has been established, if any such change would increase the Annual 
Maintenance Charge by more than 20% of the amount of Annual Maintenance  Charge  prior to 
such change (for any reason other than increases in taxes or insurance, the introduction  of new 
or additional services, or a requirement of a Governmental  Authority), the change  must  be 
approved  by a Majority of the Members. The Annual Maintenance Charge and any special 
assessments provided for in this Declaration shall be based on the number of square feet of land 
contained in each Reserve.  

8.2     Maintenance Fund. The Annual Maintenance Charges collected shall be paid into the 
Maintenance Fund, for the benefit of the Property.  The Board  shall  expend  the Maintenance 
Fund  for  the  maintenance,   repair,  replacement,   insuring,  administration,  management   and 
operation of the Common Areas and Shared Use Facilities; for the payment of taxes; for the 
performance of the duties of the Board and the Association as set forth herein; and, for the 
enforcement  of this Declaration  by action at law or in equity, or otherwise. The Board and its 



16 
 

individual members shall not be liable to any person as a result of action taken by the Board with 
respect to the Maintenance Fund, except for willful misconduct or fraud . 

 
8.3       Special Assessments

 

. If the Board at any time (and from time to time) determines that the 
Annual  Maintenance  Charges  assessed  for any  period are insufficient  to provide  for its stated 
purpose, then the Board shall have the authority to levy such special assessments as it shall deem 
necessary  to provide  for  the same.  No special assessment shall be effective until the same is 
approved in writing by a Majority of Members.  Any such special assessment shall be payable, 
and the payment thereof may be enforced, in the manner herein specified for the payment of the 
Annual Maintenance Charges. 

8.4       Payment

 

. The Annual Maintenance Charge assessed against each Owner shall be due and 
payable, in advance, annually on the date detem1ined from time to time by the Board, subject to 
the appropriate adjustment based upon actual expenses incurred. Any such amount not paid and 
received  by the 15th  after  the due  date  thereof  shall  be deemed  delinquent,  and,  without 
notice, shall bear interest at a rate of 18% per annum until paid, but in no event shall the interest 
rate exceed the maximum rate allowed by Applicable Law. The Board, at its option, may impose 
and collect late charges on delinquent payments. 

8.5  Lien to Secure Payment.

 

  To  secure  the  payment  of  the  Annual  Maintenance  Charge, 
special  assessments  levied  hereunder,  and  any  other  sums  due  hereunder  (including,  without 
limitation, interest, late fees or delinquency  charges),  a vendor's lien and superior title shall  be 
and is hereby reserved, and a contractual  lien is hereby created, in favor of the Association,  in 
and to each Reserve and improvements  which liens shall be enforceable as hereinafter set forth 
by the Association or the Board on behalf of the Association. The liens described in this Article 
and the superior  title herein  reserved  shall  be deemed  subordinate  to  any Mortgage  to secure  
the repayment of a loan made to an Owner for the purpose of acquiring a Reserve and/or 
constructing improvements  thereon,  and  any  renewal,  extension,  rearrangements, or  
refinancing  thereof; provided, however, no foreclosure of any Mortgage shall free any Reserve 
from the liens securing the  Annual  Maintenance   Charges,  special  assessments, or  any  other  
sums  due  hereunder becoming due  and payable after such foreclosure.  The collection  of such  
Annual Maintenance Charges,  special  assessments,  and  other  sums  due  hereunder  may,  in  
addition  to  any  other applicable method at law or inequity, be enforced  by suit for a money 
judgment and in the event of such suit, the expense incurred in collecting such delinquent 
amounts, including interest, costs and attorney's fees shall be chargeable  to and be a personal 
obligation  of the defaulting Owner. In no event shall the foreclosure of any Mortgage extinguish 
or discharge the personal obligation of  the  foreclosed  Owner  to  pay  Annual  Maintenance   
Charges,  special  assessments  levied hereunder  or any other  sums due hereunder.  The voting 
right of any Owner in default in the payment of the  Annual  Maintenance  Charge, or  other 
charge  owing  hereunder  for  which  an Owner is liable, shall be automatically revoked for the 
period during which such default exists. 

8.6      Notice of Lien.

 

  Notice  of the lien  referred  to  in  this  Articles  may  be given by  the 
recordation  in the Office  of  the County  Clerk  of Fort Bend County, Texas  of an  affidavit,  
duly executed, sworn to and acknowledged  by an officer of the Association, setting forth the 
amount owed, the name of  the Owner or  Owners of  the affected  Reserve  according  to the 
books  and records of the Association, and the legal description of such Reserve. 



17 
 

8.7  Enforcement of Lien.  Each Owner,  by acceptance  of a  deed  to such  Owner's Reserve, 
hereby expressly recognizes the existence of such lien as being prior to such Owner's ownership of 
such Reserve and hereby vests in the Board the right and power to bring all actions against such 
Owner  personally  for  the  collection  of  such  unpaid  Annual  Maintenance  Charge, special 
assessments and other sums due hereunder  as a debt, and to  enforce  the aforesaid lien by all 
methods available for  the  enforcement   of  such   liens,  both   by judicial and  non-judicial 
foreclosure.  Additionally,  by  acceptance  of  the  deed  to  such  Owner's Reserve,  each  Owner 
expressly GRANTS, BARGAINS, SELLS AND CONVEYS to the President  of the Association 
from time to time serving, as trustee (and to any substitute  or successor  trustee as hereinafter 
provided), such Owner's Reserve and all improvements thereon, and all rights appurtenant thereto, 
in  trust,  for  the  purpose   of  securing   the  aforesaid   Annual  Maintenance   Charge, special 
assessments and other sums due hereunder remaining unpaid by such Owner from time to time. 
The trustee herein designated may be changed at any time by execution of an instrument in writing 
signed by the President of the Association and filed in the Office of the County Clerk of Fort Bend 
County, Texas.  In the event  of  the election  by the Board  to foreclose  the lien  herein provided, 
for nonpayment of sums secured to be paid by such lien, then it shall be the duty of the trustee, or 
his successor,  as hereinabove  provided, at the request of the Board (which request shall be 
presumed) to enforce this trust and to sell such Reserve and all improvements thereon , and all rights 
appurtenant  thereto, at the door of the County Court house of Fort Bend County, Texas, on the first 
Tuesday  in an y month  between the hours of  10:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. to the highest bidder for 
cash  after  the trustee and  the Board, respectively,  shall have  given  notices of  the proposed 
sale in the manner hereinafter set forth, or otherwise in the manner then provided by the Texas 
Foreclosure  Statute (hereinafter  defined).  Following sale,  the trustee shall make due conveyance  
of the Reserve  and all  improvements  thereon  to the  purchaser  or  purchasers,  with general 
warranty of title to such purchaser or purchasers binding upon the Owner of such Reserve and all  
improvements thereon  and  their  heirs, executors,  administrators  and successors. The trustee 
shall give notice of such  proposed  sale  by posting a written  notice of time, place, and terms of 
the sale for at least 21 consecutive  days preced ing the date of sale at the Courthouse door of 
Fort Bend County, Texas,  by filing such  notice with the County  Clerk of Fort Bend County, 
Texas, at least 21 consecutive days preceding the date of sale, and, in addition, the Board shall 
serve written notice at least 21 days preceding the date of sale by certified mail on each of such 
Owner according  to the records  of  the Association  of such  sale or shall otherwise  cause  the 
notice thereof  to comply  with the provisions of Section 51.002 of the Texas  Property Code it 
may be amended or recodified from time to time ("Texas Foreclosure Statute"

 

). Service of such 
notice  shall  be  completed  upon  deposit  of  the  notice  in  the  United  States   mail,  properly 
addressed to such Owner at the most recent address as shown by the records of the Association. The 
affidavit of any person having knowledge of the facts to the effect that such service was completed 
shall be prima facie evidence of the fact of such service. 

8.8       Post Foreclosure.

 

  At any  foreclosure,  judicial  or  non-judicial,  the Association  shall  be 
entitled to bid up to the amount of the sum secured  by its lien, together with costs and attorney's 
fees, and to apply as a cash credit against its bid all sums due to the Association covered  by the 
lien  foreclosed.  From  and  after  any  such  foreclosure,  the occupants  of  such  Reserve  shall  
be required to pay a reasonable rent for the use of such Reserve and such occupancy shall 
constitute a tenancy-at-sufferance,  and   the  purchaser  at  such  foreclosure  sale  shall   be  
entitled   to  the appointment of a receiver to collect such rents and further, shall be entitled to sue 
for recovery of possession of such Reserve by forcible detainer without further notice. 



18 
 

ARTICLE IX. 

9.1       

INSURANCE 

Hazard Insurance.

 

  Each Owner  shall keep, at its own expense, all improvements  on its 
Reserve insured against Joss or damage  by fire, windstorm, hail, explosion, damage from aircraft 
and vehicles, and smoke damage, and such other risks as are from time to time included  in the 
broad  form  "extended   coverage"   endorsements   generally   written   in   the  Houston,   Texas 
metropolitan area. 

9.2       Liability Insurance

$3,000,000  in  respect  of  injury  or  death  to  any  number  of  persons  arising  out  of  any  one 
occurrence, and (iii) $500,000  per occurrence in respect of any instances of property damage. 

.  Each  Owner  shall  maintain,  at  its  own  expense,  general  public 
liability insurance against claims for personal injury or death and property damage occasioned  by 
accident occurring upon, in or about that Owner's  Reserve, such insurance to provide protection 
in each case of not less than: (i) $2,000,000 in respect  of injury or death  to any one person; 
(ii) 

 
ARTICLE X. 

 

 
TERM 

This Declaration shall  run with and  bind the Property, and shall  inure to the benefit of and be 
enforceable  by the Association, Declarant, the Owner of any Reserve subject  to this Declaration 
and their respective  heirs, legal  representatives,  successors,  and assigns for a term of 40 years 
from  the  date  this  Declaration   is  recorded  in Fort Bend  County,  Texas,  after  which  time  
this Declaration shall be automatically  extended for successive  periods of 10 years;  provided, 
however,  that  in  the event  an  instrument  terminating  this  Declaration  is  signed  by  Owners 
owning  at  least 75% of  all  of  the  Reserves  and  recorded  in  Real  Property  Records  of  Fort 
Bend County,  Texas  at  least  180  days  before  the  expiration  of  the  initial  40  year  period  or  
any subsequent 10 year period, then this Declaration shall terminate at the end of such 40 year 
period or such 10  year period, as the case may be. 

 
 

ARTICLE XI. 
 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

11.1    Enforcement.

 

   Each   Owner   shall   comply   with   the provisions of this   Declaration. 
Declarant, the Association,  or any Owner shall  have the right to enforce  by any proceedings  at 
Jaw or  in equity  all  restrictions,  conditions,  covenants,  easements,  liens  and  charges  now  or 
hereafter  imposed  by  the provisions  of  this  Declaration  and  recover  sums  due  for  damages, 
injunctive relief or both, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs of court. 

11 .2    Severability.

 

  Invalidation of any one or more of these covenants or restrictions by judgment 
or court order shall in no way affect any other provision, and all such other provisions shall 
remain in full force and effect. 



19 
 

1 1.3    Amendment.

 

  This Declaration  may be amended  at any  time until  the expiration  of the 
Control  Period,  by an  instrument  signed  (i)  by  Declarant  and  (ii)  a  majority  of  all  Owners 
(owning a majority  of the total square  footage of land in all of the Reserves, including, for 
this purpose, the Declarant). After the expiration of the Control Period, the covenants and 
restrictions or any other portion of this Declaration may be amended at any time by an instrument 
signed by ‘at least 75% of all Owners (owning 75% of the total square footage of land in all of 
the Reserves). Any amendment must be properly recorded in Fort Bend County, Texas. 

11.4   Additional Restrictions and Land

 

. The Declarant may make additional restrictions by 
appropriate  provisions  in  any  deed  or  deeds  hereafter  conveying  any  land  in  the  Property, 
without otherwise  modifying  the general plan outlined  above, and such other restrictions  shall 
inure to the benefit of the Owners in the same manner as though they had been expressed herein. 

11 .5    Non-Waiver

 

.  No delay in enforcing the provisions of this Declaration as to any breach or 
violation thereof shall impair, damage or waive the right of any party entitled to enforce the same 
or obtain relief against or recover for the continuation or repetition of such breach or violation or 
any similar breach or violation thereof at any later time or times. 

1 1.6    Non-Liability of Declarant.

 

  Declarant shall not be liable to any Owner or Permittee of a 
Reserve or any portion thereof or to any other party for any loss, claim or demand in 
connection with the breach of any provisions of this Declaration by any party other than Declarant. 

11.7    Notice

 

.  Any  notice  to  Declarant,  the  Association,  Board,  or  ARC  shall  be  made in 
writing, and shall be sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, to the following address: 

Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd. 
2333 Town Center Drive, Suite 300 
Sugar Land, Texas 77478 
Attn: Larry Indermuehle 

 
(Signature and acknowledgment are on the next page) 



 

 
IN   WITNESS WHEREOF,   the undersigned   has duly executed   this Declaration of   

Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements effective as of the date first above 
written. 

 
DECLARANT: 
 
 
Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd 
 

By: Walsh Road GP, LLC its General Partner 
 

 
      
Larry Indermuehle 
Managing General 
Partner 

 
 

List of Exhibits 
 

A- Property legal description 
B- Site Plan 
C- Approved Shrub and Tree Lists 

 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 

§  
COUNTY OF FORT BEND  § 

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this ________________day of 
______, 2013, by Larry Indermuehle, Managing Partner of Walsh Road GP, LLC, a 
Texas Limited Liability Corporation, sole General Partner of Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., 
a Texas limited partnership, on behalf of said entities in the capacities stated. 
 
 
               ______________________________________ 
       Notary Public, STATE OF TEXAS 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 6 
 

Consider motion to adjourn for Executive 
Session. 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 

ITEM 7 
 

Hold Executive Session for deliberations 
regarding the potential purchase, exchange, 
lease, or value of real property pursuant to 
Texas Government Code Section 551.072; 
and, for deliberations regarding economic 
development negotiations as authorized by 
Texas Government Code Section 551.087. 

 
 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 8 
 
Adjourn Executive Session, reconvene into 
Regular Session, and take action as 
necessary as a result of Executive Session. 

 
 



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

9 Interim Economic Development Director’s Report 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on a report from the Interim Economic Development Director regarding 
the previous month’s economic development activities and contacts.  

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Director’s Report – January 2014 
2) Imperial Performing Arts (IPA) Report – 

January 2014 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This item has been included to provide the Economic Development Director the opportunity to 
update the Board on the previous month’s activities, contacts, and projects. 

  
 
 
 



 

Rosenberg Development Corporation 
Economic Development Director’s Update 

January 2014 
 

New and Expanded Business Update 
Mattress One- 23835 B Brazos Town Center Crossing 
The Burger Barn- 1101 Damon Street 
Bohemian Hill Tavern- 2339 1st Street 
G-Watt’s BBQ- 2516 1st Street 
 
New Prospect Update 
Prospect 140101 – Industrial Prospect 
Prospect 140102 – Retail Prospect 
Prospect 140201 – Industrial Prospect 
Prospect 140204 – Industrial Prospect 
 
New Home Update 
 
City Housing Starts in 2014:     15   
City Housing Starts in January:   15  
ETJ Housing Starts in 2014:   22 
ETJ Housing Starts in January:   22   
City Lots Platted through 2014:   62 
ETJ Lots Platted through 2014:   108 
 
Economic Indicators: 
 
Unemployment for December 2013:   5% 
Non-Adjusted Employment for December 2013:   14,901 
January Sales Tax Receipts (November 2013 sales):   $1,239,832.19  
Percentage Change From Previous Year:    + 29.58%  
Annual Sales Tax Receipts for 2014 (November 2013 sales):  $1,239,832.19  
Percentage Change From Previous Year:   + 29.58% 
 
 
 



 

Business Retention Visits 
 
KM Realty- Nelson Spitz  
Orion Development- Rob Parades 
 
Department Activity 
 

 Attended West Fort Bend Management District Monthly Meeting 
 Attended 90A Redevelopment Committee Meeting-Livable Centers Study 
 Attended Central Ft. Bend Chamber (CFBCA) Awards Luncheon 
 Met with organizers of Downtown Rosenberg’s Farmers Market  
 Redeveloped ad campaign/branding for 2014- Cultural District 
 Revised ordinance for consumption of alcohol in downtown during 

special events- proposal to be submitted to City Council at February 
workshop 

 Met with potential purchaser of Avenue E property- business expansion 
 Met with and revised contract for Business Appreciation Reception with 

CFBCA  
 Attended regional Economic Development Directors Luncheon 
 Attended meeting with Dr. Thomas Randle (LCISD), Shanta Kuhl 

(CFBCA) and others to discuss HB 5 and how to educate businesses on 
the bill and the opportunities that exist 

 Met with Paul Bonnette, PGAL, architect firm for Old City Hall 
 Met with Eric Johnson, IDS Engineering Group, for Rosenberg Business 

Park   
 Attended CFBCA Downtown Division meeting 
 Drafted revised Business Assistance Grant Program to expand to all of 

Rosenberg. Proposal to be sent to City Council in February for review. 
 Toured a facility in Liberty that is interested in relocating to Rosenberg. 

 
Strategic Plan Update: 
 
The Board asked that each Director’s report provide an update on one aspect of 
the Strategic Plan.  The current Strategic Plan is under development, and will 
be presented at a future RDC meeting.  
 



 

Projects Update: 
 
Old City Hall – Demolition complete.  Staff has reached out to a group that is 

potentially interested in occupying the building.  Meeting scheduled. 
 
Downtown Parking – Property at 4th Street and Ave. G is under contract and 

scheduled to close in February. Staff has a meeting scheduled to consult 
with Ft. Bend Transportation Department regarding partnering if the 
parking lot can be used as a bus stop as well. 

 
Aldi Distribution Center – Building construction plans were submitted in 

February and are under consideration.   
 
Alcohol In Certain Places Ordinance – Propose revisions to the alcohol in certain 

places ordinance for special events.  Proposal will be submitted to City 
Council February 25th.  

 
RDC Strategic Planning Update – Board retreat resulted in a series of five goals, 

which are being formalized in a report.  The report will be submitted to 
RDC and City Council for approval.  

 
Economic Development Department Strategic Plan – Plan was completed and 

submitted for review. Staff is preparing a presentation for City Council as 
part of the City’s Strategic Plan.  

 
Tourism Program – Staff is meeting with hotels to identify events and attractions 

that can be promoted to increase the number of people utilizing 
Rosenberg hotels and revamping tourism advertising program. 

 
Highway 36A Coalition – Staff has attended meetings of the Highway 36A 

Coalition, which is seeking to improve Highway 36 from Freeport to 
Waller County, including the extension of Spur 10 north to Interstate 10 
as a truck bypass.  Staff has transferred the project to the Planning 
Department as the direct liaison. 

 
Livable Centers Study – HGAC has identified Rosenberg as a participant for a  

Livable Centers Study, for which the RDC has committed to fund the 



 

local match.  An interlocal agreement, which will include specifying the 
scope, will be presented to the RDC this spring. Staff has met with 
representatives from West Fort Bend Management District and H-GAC to  

 begin the scoping process.  



Month Dates Description TE CH CP PE O Total Audience Hosted Other Total

3, 10, 17, 24 Rosenberg Symphonic Band   4 4 75 75

13 Season Launch (Red Carpet Event) 1 1 200 200

15 Houston Chamber Choir, "Musica Divina" * 1 1 153 29 5 187

21 Tour the Arts Day (HDRD, CFBCA) 1 1 3000 4 3004

1, 8, 15, 22, 29 Imperial Arts Academy - Children's Art Class 5 5 10 10

1, 8, 15, 22, 29 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Rehearsals 5 5 105 105

10 Houston Symphony Chamber Concert 1 1 73 11 84

12 Queen Theatre Audition Workshop 1 1 30 30

13, 20 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Dress Rehearsals 2 2 42 42

14, 21, 28 Queen Theatre Acting Classes 3 3 15 15

16, 23, 30 Queen Theatre Film Classes 3 3 24 24

24 GEMS Event (absolutely! Focus Media) 1 1 6 200 206

27 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Fall Concert 1 1 53 24 77

5, 12, 19, 26 Imperial Arts Academy - Children's Art Class 4 4 15 15

5, 12, 19, 26 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Rehearsals 4 4 88 88

4, 11, 18 Queen Theatre Acting Classes 3 3 18 18

6, 13, 20 Queen Theatre Film Classes 3 3 24 24

8 Artist Sarah Beth Baca - Gallery Opening 1 1 156 156

2, 9 Queen Theatre Acting Classes 2 2 24 24

4, 11 Queen Theatre Film Classes 2 2 12 12

9, 11 Queen Theatre Final Class Performances 2 2 65 21 86

3, 10, 15 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Rehearsals 3 3 63 63

3, 10 Imperial Arts Academy - Children's Art Class 2 2 14 14

6 Marvin Gaspard New CD Release Concert 1 1 124 5 129

7 Christmas in Rosenberg (Live Performances) 1 1 1200 1200

13 Texana/Imperial Academy Gallery Opening 1 1 175 23 198

15 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Winter Concert 1 1 74 25 99

21 Film - THE POLAR EXPRESS 3 3 244 26 270

17 LCISD Masterclass with HS Brass 1 1 30 8 38

17 Houston Symphony Chamber Concert - Brass 1 1 75 9 84

18 Private Event - Birthday Painting Class 1 1 12 12

21, 28 Rosenberg Symphonic Band Rehearsals 2 2 57 57

Totals (to date) 41 1 3 2 20 67 5,808 561 277 6,646

TE Ticketed Event (Shows, Classes) Persons in audience for show or class

CH Community Event - Hosted by IPA Imperial artists, staff, technical support, and volunteers in attendance

CP Community Event - IPA as Participant Other persons impacted (via Private Events and Community Events)

PE Private Event Total persons impacted by event

O Other - rehearsals, workshops, private events that are internal, other

* Holy Rosary Catholic Church, Rosenberg

Imperial Performing Arts
Activity Report

rev. 01/31/2014

All events held at the Center for the Arts and/or in Downtown Rosenberg, unless otherwise noted (see below). 

Events in other locations have been included when Imperial Arts was host and/or sponsor.

Total

Oct

Event Details

Our Sixth Season (September 2013 - August 2014)

Sept

Traffic CountEvent Type

Event Types Traffic Count

Audience

Hosted

Other

Nov

Dec

Jan



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

10 Resolution No. RDC-86 – Funding for Infrastructure Improvements to the 
Rosenberg Development Park Between RDC and the City 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration of and action on Resolution No. RDC-86, a Resolution of the Board of Directors of the 
Rosenberg Development Corporation, approving the funding arrangement between the City of 
Rosenberg and the Rosenberg Development Corporation for infrastructure improvements to the 
Rosenberg Development Park. 

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 

 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
1) Resolution No. RDC-86 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Rosenberg Business Park Development Agreement states the City and the Rosenberg 
Development Corporation (RDC) would each pay one-half of the cost of the infrastructure 
improvements to the Business Park.  At the November 14, 2013 RDC meeting, the Board requested staff 
present to City Council the proposition that the RDC would fund $3,478,300 for the infrastructure 
improvements to the Rosenberg Business Park.  The $3,478,300 includes both the City’s portion and the 
RDC’s portion.  The City, as repayment, would lower the RDC’s debt owed to the City in return for 
advance funding of the City’s portion of the Rosenberg Business Park. 

On January 29, 2014, the Rosenberg City Council Finance/Audit Committee agreed to RDC’s request 
to reduce the amount of RDC debt owed to the City by $1,700,000.  The Resolution presented for 
consideration and action by the RDC outlines this agreement.   

Staff recommends approval. 

  
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. RDC-86 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION, APPROVING THE 
FUNDING ARRANGEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROSENBERG 
AND THE ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION FOR THE 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS TO THE ROSENBERG 
DEVELOPMENT PARK. 

 
*  *  *  *  * 

 
WHEREAS, The Rosenberg Development Corporation (“RDC”) Strategic Plan, 

adopted in 2008, established as a priority the development of a business park in the 

City of Rosenberg (“City”); and, 

WHEREAS, RDC staff worked with a developer who purchased a 184-acre tract 

in order to develop a business park; and, 

 WHEREAS, on February 05, 2013, the Rosenberg City Council approved 

Resolution No. R-1613, a Resolution authorizing the City Manager to negotiate and 

execute, for an on behalf of the City, a Development Agreement (“Agreement”), by and 

among the City, RDC, and Rosenberg Business Park, Ltd., for the development of the 

Rosenberg Business Park; and, 

 WHEREAS, on February 14, 2013, the RDC Board authorized the Executive 

Director to negotiate and execute, for and on behalf of the RDC, a Development 

Agreement, by and between the Rosenberg Development Corporation, the City of 

Rosenberg, and Rosenberg Business Park, Ltd., for the development of the Rosenberg 

Business Park; 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

ROSENBERG DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION: 

Section 1.  Pursuant to said Agreement, the City will construct the 

infrastructure improvements (“improvements”) which include the water distribution 



system, sanitary sewer, storm sewer drainage, paving improvements, installation of 

natural gas lines, and electrical services in two phases. Phase I is estimated at 

$3,478,300 and Phase II is estimated at $1,700,000.   

Section 2. The City and RDC will each fund fifty percent (50%) of said 

improvements.   

Section 3. On November 14, 2013, the RDC Board agreed to request that City 

Council lower the debt RDC owes the City in return for advance funding of the City’s 

portion of the Rosenberg Business Park. 

 Section 4. On January 29, 2014, the Rosenberg City Council Finance/Audit 

Committee agreed to RDC’s request to reduce the amount of RDC debt owed to the 

City by $1,700,000.   

Section 5. The reduction of debt each year will equal the amount of anticipated 

property taxes that will be generated from the new improvements. 

Section 6. That the RDC agrees to the reduction in RDC debt each year by 

the amount of anticipated property tax payments paid to the City for improvements 

made to the Rosenberg Business Park in the amount of $1,700,000 and agrees to 

approve the new RDC debt schedule with the stated reductions as summarized in 

“Exhibit A” and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND RESOLVED on this _____ day of _____________ 

2014.     

ATTEST:      Rosenberg Development Corporation 
 
 
 
              
Linda Cernosek, City Secretary    Bill Knesek, President 
 



    
  COMMUNICATION FORM 
 
                   February 13, 2014 
 
ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

11 Future Agenda Items 

ITEM/MOTION 

Consideration and action on requests for future agenda items.   

APPROVAL SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 

     
SUBMITTED BY : 
 
 
 
 
 
Rachelle Kanak 
Interim Economic Development Director 
 

 
N/A 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This item provides the RDC Board the opportunity to request future agenda items. 

  
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 12  
 

Announcements. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 13 
 

Adjournment. 


	Agenda 02-13-14.pdf
	A - Minute Review and Consideration
	RDC Regular Meeting Minutes - 01-09-14
	RDC Special Meeting Minutes - 01-18-14

	B - RDC Financial Reports
	Financial Report for Period Ending 01-31-14

	C - Communications Director's Report
	Activities Report - January 2014

	D - Funding Agreement - Texas Master Naturalists
	Funding Agreement - Redline
	Funding Agreement - Clean

	E - Reception Agreement - Central Fort Bend Chamber
	Service Contract

	F - Resolution No. RDC-87 - Seatex Drainage Project
	Resolution No. RDC-87

	1 - Fuller Realty - Rosenberg Business Park Presention
	Declaration of Convenants
	Rosenberg Business Park Development Agreement - 03-01-13

	2 - Imperial Performing Arts, Inc., Presentation
	RDC and Imperial Performing Arts Performance Agreement

	3 - Proposed Parks Improvements - Basketball and Tennis Courts
	McCarthy Memorandum - 01-30-14
	Ready Correspondence - 03-27-13

	4 - Proposed Parks Improvement - Equipment Lease
	McCarthy Memorandum - 01-29-14

	5 - Walsh Road Industrial Park, Ltd., - Deed Restrictions
	Amended Declaration of Covenants - Redline
	Amended Declaration of Covenants - Clean

	6 - Motion to Adjourn for Executive Session
	7 - Hold Executive Session
	8 - Adjourn Executive Session
	9 - Interim Economic Development Director's Report
	Director's Report - January 2014
	Imperial Performing Arts Activity Report - January 2014

	10 - Resolution No. RDC-86 - Infrastructure Improvements to Rosenberg Development Park
	Resolution No. RDC-86

	11 - Future Agenda Items
	12 - Announcements
	13 - Adjournment



